Nutrient distribution in sandy soils along a forest productivity gradient in the Athabasca Oil Sands Region, Alberta, Canada

by

William Allen Barnes

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Soil Science

Department of Renewable Resources University of Alberta

© William Allen Barnes, 2016

Abstract

Brunisolic soils developed on coarse textured (sandy loam to sand) deposits comprise a significant portion of the land currently being disturbed by surface mining in the Athabasca Oil Sands Region of Alberta, Canada. The goals of this study were to determine (i) how the physical properties of these sandy soils influence the accumulation of different forms of nutrients in the soil profile, (ii) the processes at work that govern the amounts and availability of soil nutrients, (iii) how nutrient cycling processes differ between aspen and jack pine dominated stands, which are the two most common canopy species associated with these soils in the AOSR, and (iv) how differences in their associated productivity levels relate to soil physical properties and nutrient levels. To accomplish this, I measured total nutrient stocks contained in the forest floor, available soil nutrients as measured using Plant Root Simulator (PRS) probes, which are ion exchange membranes buried in the soil for a 35 to 38 day field incubation, and select B horizon nutrients. I used correlation analysis and non-metric multidimensional scaling to quantify relationships between these nutrients and soil texture and vegetation productivity. When all sites were considered together, differences in forest floor total and available nutrients were found to largely be influenced by the texture of the upper soil profile, most likely through its influence on canopy type and vegetation productivity levels and therefore the quantity and quality of litter nutrient inputs to the forest floor. However, soil textural controls on nutrient forms are likely different between jack pine and aspen stands. In soils under jack pine, relatively small increases in silt and clay content (≤ 8 %) were associated with a greater site index, greater total nutrient stocks in the forest floor, as well as a higher forest floor quality (lower C:N and C:Ca ratios), potentially linked to more optimal moisture conditions in finer textured jack pine stands. Interestingly, most PRS nutrients showed little relationship with soil texture under jack pine, while available NH₄, P

ii

and K actually increased with coarser textures, potentially due to low tree nutrient uptake associated with coarser sites. Forest floor nutrient stocks under aspen related most strongly to B horizon texture, with finer B horizon texture (silt + clay) being associated with larger forest floor nutrient stocks (C, N, P, S, Ca, Mg, K), although availability of Ca and Mg was lower with finer B horizon textures (clay; silt + clay). However, only soils with fine lower soil profile textures were associated with higher forest floor quality (lower C:N and C:Ca ratios). These results indicate that B horizon texture may control the quantity of forest floor nutrients while lower profile texture may control the quality of litter nutrient inputs under aspen. Therefore, while upper profile silt + clay may correlate best with differences in nutrient amounts and availability in sandy soils of the AOSR overall, and correlate strongly with soil nutrients under jack pine, more complex interactions between the relative textures of the B horizon and lower soil profile regulate soil nutrient stocks and forms under aspen. "Do not sleep under a roof. Carry no money or food. Go alone to places frightening to the common brand of men. Become a criminal of purpose. Be put in jail, and extricate yourself by your own wisdom."

Miyamoto Musashi

To Caroline

Acknowledgements

Dr. Sylvie Quideau, thank you for your constant encouragement and patience and for keeping me grounded in soils. I will never forget your advice to listen to what the soils tell you.

Dr. Mathew Swallow, thank you for all your support and for the endless and interesting topics of discussion.

To those who have collaborated on this project along the way: Marty Yarmuch, Dr. Simon Landhäusser, Dr. Miles Dyck, Brett Purdy and Dr. Guillermo Hernandez Ramirez; thank you for your feedback and advice.

To all the Biogeochemistry lab group members, it's been a pleasure to work with you all.

To the University of Alberta technical staff: Allan Harms, Pak Chow, Frances Leishman and especially Jela Burkus; thank you for your assistance and support.

To my field and lab assistants without whom this work would never have been possible: Kelti Eaton, Mathew Webster and Chengtao Yan.

I would like to acknowledge and thank those who have provided financial support for this project: The University of Alberta, Syncrude Canada Ltd., Alberta Innovates Energy and Environment Solutions and Alberta Innovates Bio Solutions.

Finally, I also wish to thank Dr. Oliver Chadwick and Samuel Prentice, for your mentorship and influence at the start of my soils career. Your introductory soils course inspired me to pursue a career in soils.

Table of contents

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	vi
Table of contents	vii
List of symbols and abbreviations	ix
List of tables	X
List of figures	xii
List of plates	xiii
Chapter 1. Introduction	1
1.1. Forest nutrient cycling	1
1.2. Direct effects of parent material on forest nutrient cycles	2
1.3. Indirect effects of parent material on forest nutrient cycles	4
1.4. Alberta's oil sands region	8
1.5. Research objectives	10
Chapter 2. Nutrient distribution in sandy soils along a forest productivity gradient in the Atha Sands Region, Alberta, Canada	basca Oil 12
2.1. Introduction	12
2.2. Materials and methods	15
2.2.1. Study area	15
2.2.2. Study sites and sample collection	16
2.2.3. Laboratory analyses	20
2.2.4. Statistical analyses	23
2.3. Results	25
2.3.1. General site properties	25
2.3.2. Forest floor total nutrient stocks	
2.3.3. Forest floor nutrient ratios	27
2.3.4. PRS probe available nutrients	29
2.3.5. B horizon nutrients	
2.4. Discussion	
2.4.1. Forest floor nutrient stocks	
2.4.2. Forest floor nutrient ratios	
2.4.3. PRS probe available nutrients	
2.4.4. B horizon nutrients	
2.5. Conclusions	

Chapter 2 tables and figures	
Chapter 2 plates	61
Chapter 3. Synthesis	69
3.1. Summary	69
3.2. Study limitations	
3.2.1. Quantifying the effect of textural layering on nutrient dynamics	70
3.3. Future research	72
3.3.1. Textural layering and nutrient cycling	72
3.3.2. Extractable soil P	
3.4. Recommendations for the reclamation of sandy soils in the AOSR	73
Literature cited	76
Appendix 1. Supplementary tables	
Appendix 2. Site and soil description sheets	
Appendix 3. Supplementary soil data	
Appendix 4. Carbon and nitrogen isotopic data	
Appendix 5 Shrub biomass by species	

List of symbols and abbreviations

ρ	Spearman's correlation coefficient
AOSR	Athabasca Oil Sands Region
CaCl ₂	Calcium chloride
C:nutrient	Carbon divided by nutrient ratio
CSSC	Canadian System of Soil Classification
C _{total}	Total carbon
EC	Electrical conductivity
H_2O_2	Hydrogen peroxide
KM	Modified Kelowna
MRPP	Multi-response permutation procedure
NMDS	Nonmetric multidimensional scaling
N _{total}	Total nitrogen
ODF	Oven dry fraction
PGM	Parent geologic material
pH_{CaCl2}	pH measured in a 1 to 2 soil to CaCl ₂ solution (0.01M)
pH_{water}	pH measured in a 1 to 1, soil to water solution
PRS	Plant Root Simulator ion exchange membrane

List of tables

Table 2.2. Relevant linear regressions illustrating co-linearity of soil chemical properties with other soil chemical properties and soil physical properties with other soil physical properties... 43

Table 2.4. All measured vegetation properties of each site grouped by dominant canopy type. . 45

Table 2.5. Spearman's correlation table of all assessed environmental parameters. ρ is the Spearman's correlation coefficient and correlations with a p value of ≤ 0.1 are highlighted in light grey
Table 2.6. Average forest floor total nutrient stocks and bulk densities for each site grouped by dominant canopy species. 48
Table 2.7. Spearman's correlation coefficient (ρ) between forest floor total nutrient stocks and environmental parameters. Correlations with a p value of ≤ 0.1 are highlighted in light grey 49
Table 2.8. Spearman's correlation coefficient (ρ) between forest floor total nutrient stocks and environmental parameters. Correlations with a p value of ≤ 0.1 are highlighted in light grey 50
Table 2.9. Average nutrient ratios (g carbon / g nutrient) in the forest floors at all study sites grouped by dominant canopy
Table 2.10. Spearman's correlation coefficient (ρ) between forest floor carbon to nutrient ratios and environmental parameters. Correlations with a p value of ≤ 0.1 are highlighted in light grey.
Table 2.11. Average PRS probe nutrients (µg 10cm ⁻² burial length ⁻¹) for each site grouped by dominant canopy species

Table 2.12. Spearman's correlation coefficient (ρ) between PRS probe available nutrients and environmental parameters. Correlations with a p value of ≤ 0.1 are highlighted in light grey. ... 56

Table 2.13. Spearman's correlation coefficient (ρ) between PRS probe available nutrients and
environmental parameters. Correlations with a p value of ≤ 0.1 are highlighted in light grey 57

Table 2.14. Average concentrations (mg kg ⁻¹) of different forms of C, N and P in the B horizon	1
for each site grouped by dominant canopy.	58

Table 2.15. Spearman's correlation coefficient (ρ) between B horizon nutrients and environmental parameters. Correlations with a p value of ≤ 0.1 are highlighted in light grey. ... 59

Table 2.16. Spearman's correlation coefficient (ρ) between B horizon extractable P and select	
PRS probe available nutrients	60

List of figures

Figure 2.2. Diagram of the sample plot layout within which soil and vegetation properties were measured (a). The soil pit was located at the center of the sample plot and PRS probes were placed at four locations 4 m to the N, E, S, and W of the soil pit. Understory biomass was sampled in 2 m by 2 m plots corresponding with the N and S PRS probe locations. The PRS probe placement configuration at each subplot location is shown in (b). Two cation and two anion PRS probes were placed at each PRS probe center point location for a total of 8 cation and 8 anion probes per site.

List of plates

Plate 2.1. Site M57-1 soil profile – Eluviated Dystric Brunisol derived from glaciofluvial outwash sands under a jack pine dominated canopy
Plate 2.2. Site M57-2 soil profile – Eluviated Dystric Brunisol derived from glaciofluvial outwash sands under a jack pine dominated canopy
Plate 2.3. Site M118-1 soil profile – Eluviated Dystric Brunisol derived from eolian sands under a jack pine dominated canopy
Plate 2.4. Site M118-2 soil profile – Eluviated Dystric Brunisol derived from eolian sands under a jack pine dominated canopy
Plate 2.5. Site M152-1 soil profile – Eluviated Dystric Brunisol derived from glaciofluvial ice contact deposits under a jack pine dominated canopy. Black colored lenses are naturally occurring oil sand deposits
Plate 2.6. Site M152-2 soil profile – Eluviated Dystric Brunisol derived from glaciofluvial ice contact deposits under a jack pine dominated canopy. Black colored lenses are naturally occurring oil sand deposits
Plate 2.7. Site M177 soil profile – Eluviated Dystric Brunisol derived from glaciofluvial outwash sands overlying glaciolacustrine deposits under an aspen dominated canopy
Plate 2.8. Eluviated Dystric Brunisol derived from eolian sands under a jack pine dominated canopy. Note that the location of this profile is in close proximity to sites M180 and M181, although it is not the actual profile used in the characterization of those sites

Chapter 1. Introduction 1.1. Forest nutrient cycling

Nutrient cycling is fundamental to all forest ecosystems because it governs the availability of nutrients to vegetation. Nutrient availability in forest ecosystems may largely control vegetation productivity (Vitousek et al., 1995), and our understanding of these nutrient cycles is vital to ensuring the continued productivity of forest ecosystems and the ecosystem services that are associated with them (Doran, 2002; Nambiar, 1996). While vegetation characteristics may in large part influence nutrient cycles in forest ecosystems, abiotic factors may exert greater control on these nutrient cycles in undisturbed systems overall through their relationship with vegetation distribution and forest productivity levels and their influence on the rates of nutrient additions to and losses from the system.

The primary abiotic factor controlling nutrient cycling in forest ecosystems is climate, largely due to the strong influence of temperature and moisture on forest productivity levels, decomposition and mineralization rates (Swift et al., 1979). Climate also greatly influences soil chemical weathering rates which in turn alter rates of nutrient release and leaching from soils (Ollier, 1975). Therefore, nutrient cycling processes in forests will depend on the major climatic region they inhabit. For example, slow organic matter decomposition rates associated with cold temperatures in boreal forest ecosystems lead to the storage of large quantities of nutrients in the forest floor organic layer, making the chemical composition of organic matter in boreal forest soils highly important to the release of nutrients and nutrient availability to vegetation in these systems (Bonan & Shugart, 1989; Flanagan & Van Cleve, 1983). Conversely, the warm and humid conditions associated with tropical regions lead to rapid rates of decomposition and nutrient turnover in tropical systems in general which leads to the storage of the majority of nutrient capital in biomass of living plants and animals, which helps to counteract the rapid leaching of nutrients from tropical systems (Swift et al., 1979). Organic matter chemical composition may therefore be less important to the release of nutrients from organic matter in tropical forests than total ecosystem nutrient capital overall.

While climate may be the primary overarching factor influencing forest nutrient cycling, within a given climatic region the chemical and physical characteristics of the soil, which are in large part

inherited from the soil parent material, may largely control nutrient cycles in the forests that develop on them. The influence of parent material on forest nutrient cycling may result both directly through the chemical and physical composition of the parent material, and indirectly through its influence on vegetation properties and organic matter dynamics. For example, increased immobilization of nutrients has been shown to occur in less fertile tropical soils as a result of greater competition for nutrients (Vitousek & Sanford, 1986), and so even in tropical forests where decomposition rates are high, soil fertility may exert a strong influence on the availability of nutrients from organic matter. Therefore parent material physical and chemical properties may lead to high variation in forest nutrient cycling patterns within major climatic regions.

1.2. Direct effects of parent material on forest nutrient cycles

Soil parent material can directly influence the availability of many nutrients to forest ecosystems. The chemistry of the parent material will largely control the capital of many nutrients in forests and is considered to be a significant source of inputs for many nutrients essential to biogeochemical cycling (Anderson, 1988). For example, the P present in constituent minerals of the soil parent material is for the most part the only source of P to natural ecosystems because atmospheric inputs of P are extremely low compared to other major elements necessary for plant nutrition, such as N (Schlesinger & Bernhardt, 2013). The soil parent material can also supply large quantities of K to soils due to the relatively abundant nature of K in rock-forming minerals at the earth's surface that soil parent materials are derived from, although the relatively large uptake of K by vegetation generally causes available soil K levels to be very small (Black, 1984). The parent material is an important source of base cations (Ca, Mg, K) that play important roles in vegetation growth and functioning, and their gradual release from the parent material minerals can provide an important continuous supply of these nutrients to vegetation in many systems that helps to counteract their susceptibility to leaching from the soil (Black, 1984).

The susceptibility of different soil parent material minerals to weathering is another important factor to ecosystem nutrient cycling. The minerals making up the soil parent material weather chemically at different rates, with some weathering relatively rapidly and some being highly resistant to weathering (Birkeland, 1999; Ollier, 1975). Because many of these minerals contain

nutrients of biological significance, the relative susceptibility of these minerals to weathering is important depending on the soil environment and age of the soils that these minerals are found in. For example, more easily weathered minerals will play a more important role in supplying nutrients in younger soils or soils limited in moisture where chemical weathering rates are low, whereas in older soils or more highly weathered soils, such as those in tropical regions, more resistant minerals will play a more important role in nutrient supply because easily weathered minerals are removed from the system relatively quickly (Anderson, 1988).

The physical makeup of soil parent material greatly influences nutrient availability to biological cycling through its strong connection with soil moisture dynamics. In areas of similar climate and relief, parent material texture largely controls the movement and residence time of water within the soil profile through its direct connection with soil reactive surface area (Anderson, 1988), and therefore controls many soil processes that are associated with water movement, such as the rates of chemical weathering and therefore nutrient release. The greater residence time of water associated with finer textured soils, in combination with greater reactive surface area of soil particles, leads to increased chemical weathering rates in these soils compared to those derived from coarser materials (Birkeland, 1999). Therefore finer textured soils are associated with greater rates of nutrient release due to increased chemical weathering of minerals. The reactive surface area of the soil profile also directly controls the amount of nutrients that can be stored in soils, with soils derived from coarse textured materials generally being very limited in the amounts of nutrients stored in the soil profile due to their relatively low cation exchange capacities (Brady & Weil, 2010). Leaching rates and depths are also controlled largely by soil texture, once again with coarse textured soils being much more susceptible to leaching compared to their finer textured counterparts (Anderson, 1988; Birkeland, 1999), making coarse textured soils more prone to nutrient loss from the soil profile.

The physical makeup of soil parent material can alter nutrient cycling in less obvious ways, one being through the layered nature of many parent materials derived from sedimentary deposits. Many studies have shown that layering of different textured materials in the soil profile can drastically affect the flow paths and residence time of water through the soil, especially in sandy materials (Kung, 1990a, 1990b; Zettl et al., 2011), and therefore influence forest productivity

levels (Hannah & Zahner, 1970; McFadden et al., 1994) and species distribution (Host & Pregitzer, 1992). However, relatively little has been studied on how these layers can influence site nutrient dynamics. These layers are known to restrict water flow in some cases, potentially changing the redox conditions of the soil (Anderson, 1988) and theoretically nutrient availability to vegetation and chemical weathering rates, although research on this topic is scarce. Because water dynamics are tied so closely with nutrient movement and availability in the soil profile, one would assume that physical soil profile layering could greatly influence nutrient dynamics in soils, especially in those with coarse textures which are otherwise very nutrient limited. White and Wood (1958) did find that K deficiency in red pine (*Pinus resinosa Ait*) trees located on a sandy soil in New York is reduced in sites with fine texture bands present within 6 ft of the soil surface. These bands were demonstrated to increase the amount of available K in the sandy soils of their study which are otherwise deficient in K. White and Woods' study supports the hypothesis that fine texture layers in otherwise sandy soils will influence nutrient dynamics, although a lack of other studies into this topic makes it difficult to conclude the importance of textural layering to nutrient dynamics in other systems.

1.3. Indirect effects of parent material on forest nutrient cycles

Parent material can influence nutrient cycling in many indirect ways, mainly through its influence on vegetation. Development of vegetation within a given climatic region is largely controlled by soil parent material characteristics (Jenny, 1994). In undisturbed ecosystems, vegetation is likely to develop on sites where moisture and nutrient conditions are most suited to its development (G. G. Whitney, 1991), so in a natural setting, the vegetation community inhabiting a soil may in large part be controlled by the physical and chemical characteristics inherited from the soil parent material. van Breemen et al. (1997) found that the distribution of various tree species in northwestern Connecticut is related to soil texture, although they attributed this to greater Ca and Mg associated with the coarser textured parent materials than to the direct influence of soil texture. The relationships between soil parent material and vegetation species distribution have been documented in many studies (Binkley et al., 1995; Host & Pregitzer, 1992) as well as the influence of parent material on forest productivity (Host et al., 1988; McFadden et al., 1994). This relationship between vegetation and soil parent material brings about its own changes to soil development through the influence of vegetation on soil

chemical weathering and nutrient cycling, although the effect of site properties and the effect of vegetation is often difficult to separate because they are typically highly interrelated (Stone & Gibson, 1975).

By influencing vegetation distribution, parent material can indirectly influence nutrient redistribution in the soil profile due to the differing rates of nutrient uptake from and input to the soil by different species. This redistribution of nutrients, particularly the base cations, directly alters the chemical weathering environment in the soil profile by altering soil pH, which has been shown to relate to the rates of removal of these base cations by vegetation (Kelly et al., 1998). A companion study to van Breemen et al. (1997), showed that different tree species, whose distribution was influenced by parent material characteristics, were associated with different pH levels in the forest floor and upper soil profile (0 - 7.5 cm), which was attributed to differences in additions of organic acids and uptake of Ca by the different tree species (Finzi et al., 1998a). Alban (1982) found similar relationships in soils under different tree species in Minnesota, with aspen (*Populus tremuloides Michx.*) and white spruce (*(Picea glauca Moench Voss)*) stands being associated with lower Ca in the shallow mineral soil (0 - 10 cm) than adjacent pine stands (*Pinus resinosa Ait.; Pinus banksiana Lamb*), which resulted in greater soil pH and cation exchange capacity in the pine stands when compared to aspen and spruce.

In addition to altering nutrient distribution in the soil profile, vegetation can directly influence nutrient release from soil minerals through its effect on chemical weathering that results from biologically associated acidity. Chemical weathering rates are affected by CO₂ levels in the soil system (Ollier, 1975), which can vary greatly with plant and microbial activity when climatic factors are kept constant (Amundson & Davidson, 1990). CO₂ concentration influences the pH of the soil environment, which is strongly related to the chemical weathering rates of many minerals (Drever, 1994; Kelly et al., 1998) in addition to the solubility of many ions in the soil solution (Ollier, 1975). Plants and the microbes associated with them also produce organic acids that are emitted into the soil system (Jongmans et al., 1997) which can further influence pH, as well as organic chelating agents that can increase the dissolution rates of some minerals (Drever, 1994).

Soil organic matter dynamics, which are closely tied with nutrient cycles in forest ecosystems can be influenced indirectly by soil parent material through its close relationship with vegetation. The surface organic layer of forest soils is highly important to nutrient cycling largely due to its ability to increase soil moisture storage and nutrient capital, thereby improving overall soil quality and functioning (Gosz et al., 1976; Schoenholtz et al., 2000). The composition of organic matter can influence microbial activity and therefore decomposition and mineralization rates of soil organic matter, which are important processes to the efficient recycling of nutrients in forest ecosystems (Prescott, 2002). The concentration of nutrients in soil organic matter in many studies (McClaugherty et al., 1985; Melillo et al., 1982; Thomas & Prescott, 2000). In systems that are stressed for nutrients, such as those that are highly susceptible to leaching, the organic cycling of nutrients is an important mechanism that helps preserve the amount of nutrients within the system (Fortescue, 1980; Nikiforoff, 1959), although in some cases the buildup of undecomposed organic layers may lead to a reduction in the availability of large amounts of nutrients in the system (Everett & Brown, 1982).

The quantity of nutrients in the forest floor layer and availability of those nutrients can be greatly influenced by vegetation. Tree species are characterized by different litter input rates as well as litter chemical composition and quality (Ovington, 1954; Prescott, 2002). The physical characteristics of the canopy associated with different vegetation species, as well as different forest productivity levels, can also influence nutrient cycling. For example, by controlling the amount of solar radiation reaching the soil surface, the canopy can alter the moisture and temperature conditions of the soils beneath them and therefore directly influence rates of decomposition and nutrient mineralization from soil organic matter, which are highly temperature and moisture sensitive (Prescott, 2002). Because the forest floor layer is a result of the balances between litter input rates, decomposition and nutrient output rates, which are greatly influenced by the quality of the organic matter (Attiwill & Adams, 1993; Flanagan & Van Cleve, 1983; Van Cleve, 1974), vegetation species composition can largely influence the amounts of nutrients that are stored at the soil surface as well as the ease with which nutrients in that organic matter can be recycled by the microbial and plant populations. For example, a second companion study to van Breemen et al. (1997) found that different tree species, whose distribution related to

parent material characteristics, differed in C:N ratios in the forest floor, with lower C:N ratios being associated with greater N mineralization from the forest floor (Finzi et al., 1998b). Many organic matter quality predictors have been found to relate to organic matter decomposition and mineralization rates, such as C:N ratio, lignin content, tannin content and N content. However, the organic matter qualities that are associated with greater nutrient mineralization in one ecosystem do not always apply to others. Many studies have shown relationships between N mineralization and the lignin to N ratio of leaf litter inputs (Harmon et al., 1990; Scott & Binkley, 1997; Stump & Binkley, 1993), whereas in other studies lignin to N ratio is a poor predictor of mineralization rates (Prescott and Vesterdal et al., 2000; Thomas & Prescott, 2000) and Staaf (1987) found that forest floor pH and base cation concentrations (Ca and Mg) explained differences in litter decomposition better than lignin or N concentrations in beech (*Fagus sylvatica*) forests of Sweden. Therefore the quality characteristics of the forest floor that lead to greater decomposition may be quite variable and site specific.

Soil characteristics inherited from the parent material have been shown to influence concentrations of nutrients and organic matter quality in the forest floor irrespective of stand type (Reich et al., 1997). Studies have illustrated positive feedback cycles leading to increased nutrient cycling and availability in the forest floors of sites with higher inherited soil fertility. For example, Prescott and Chappell et al. (2000) found that litter N content increased in Douglas-fir (Pseudotsuga menziesii (Mirb.) Franco) stands as soil N capital increased, resulting from increased mass and N concentration of litter inputs. They also found that forest floor decomposition and N cycling was also greater in the more N rich soils. Increased concentrations of other nutrients in the forest floor have also been shown to relate to soil fertility. Vesterdal and Raulund-Rasmussen (1998) found that carbon to nutrient ratios (C:P, C:Ca, C:K) in the forest floors along a soil fertility gradient in Denmark are negatively correlated to the concentrations of those nutrients in the mineral soil, which they attributed to greater concentrations of those nutrients in litter inputs on more fertile sites. Similarly, negative feedback cycles involving nutrient availability in the forest floors of nutrient poor sites may also occur, either through poor litter quality associated with infertile sites (Florence & Lamb, 1974; Raulund-Rasmussen & Vejre, 1995) or the increased concentrations of plant compounds that hinder decomposition in nutrient deficient sites (Davies et al., 1964; Lamb, 1975). Therefore litter quality may reflect soil

fertility conditions and serve to intensify differences in soil fertility, with less fertile soils being characterized by reduced organic nutrient cycling and more fertile soils leading to greater organic nutrient cycling.

1.4. Alberta's oil sands region

The Athabasca Oil Sands Region (AOSR) of NE Alberta, Canada is an area characterized by high levels of ecosystem disturbance due to the mining of bitumen rich deposits that are abundant throughout the region. A significant amount of this disturbance is in the form of surface mining, which as of 2013 has affected roughly 895 km² of land within the AOSR (Alberta Government, 2016). Surface mining leads to the complete disruption of the ecosystems that it affects resulting from the complete removal of soil and vegetation to access the bitumen rich deposits below. If soils destroyed during the surface mining process are to be recreated and their functional nature restored, which largely entails restoring equivalent forest communities and productivity levels native to this landscape, an understanding of the functional relationships between these soils and their associated forest communities is necessary. To ensure reclamation is successful, different vegetative communities must be able to be successfully targeted that are self-sustaining and resilient to environmental stresses. Because proper nutrient cycling is essential to the sustainability of forest ecosystems, and because nutrient cycles are unique to their respective systems, an understanding of how nutrient cycles vary with respect to the specific forest community and the original soil materials is necessary to ensure the successful restoration of target ecosystems throughout this region.

Because the AOSR is part of the boreal forest region of Alberta, the surface organic layer will play an important role in forest nutrient cycling in the different ecosystem types associated with this region. With the slow decomposition rates characteristic of the boreal forest, large amounts of nutrients may accumulate in the forest floor layer, which can comprise a significant amount of the site nutrient capital (Prescott and Maynard et al., 2000; Van Cleve et al., 1983). Over 80 percent of roots were found to reside in the surface organic layer and top 10 cm of mineral material in boreal soils of Quebec, Canada (Finér et al., 1997), further illustrating the potential importance of this layer to vegetation functioning in the boreal region. Decomposition of the forest floor layer is often limited due to the relatively cold temperatures associated with the

boreal forest (Van Cleve et al., 1981), therefore the chemical composition and quality of litter inputs to the forest floor is highly important to organic matter decomposition and nutrient release (Bonan & Shugart, 1989). For reasons stated previously, soil parent material characteristics often play an important role in influencing organic matter quality, decomposition and nutrient release, and an understanding of how these properties are related is essential to ensuring the successful reclamation of soils in this sensitive region. Some studies have found that parent material type significantly correlates with forest floor properties of fine textured boreal forest soils of Quebec, Canada, including base cation concentrations, pH and N cycling (Lamarche et al., 2004) and C and N mineralization (Côté et al., 2000). However, no studies have focused on the relationship between parent material and forest floor properties of coarse textured boreal forest soils independently of tree species to the best of my knowledge.

Soil parent materials throughout the AOSR, which generally consist of unconsolidated sediments, vary greatly in their textures and depositional particle sorting due to the complexity of the glacial environment that they formed in (Turchenek & Lindsay, 1982). The nature of the effects of soil texture and depositional layering on site vegetation characteristics and nutrient cycling is of interest because the initial stages of reclamation following surface mining involves the layering of stockpiled soil material of varying depths and textures. An understanding of how the depositional complexity of soil parent materials throughout this region relates to forest productivity and nutrient cycling may allow reclamation specialists to better target specific forest species and productivity levels by altering the way soil materials are placed during the initial stages of reclamation, in addition to which species are chosen for planting on materials of differing physical composition. With the assumptions of a consistent climate and similar time of deposition of parent materials throughout the region, variation in species distribution and productivity levels of vegetation and their associated differences in nutrient cycling throughout this region can be assumed to result from soil parent material differences, provided that topographic factors and disturbance effects are minimized.

Brunisolic soils developed on coarse textured parent material (sandy loam to sand) are a common upland forest soil of the AOSR. While these soils are relatively moisture and nutrient limited, they support unique forest communities ranging from the most limiting sites consisting of jack

pine (*Pinus banksiana*) overstory and lichen (*Cladina spp.*) understory communities to more productive aspen (*Populus tremuloides*) and white spruce (*Picea glauca*) communities with a more diverse array of understory species (Natural Regions Committee, 2006). However, the processes governing this range of forest community types and their accompanying site productivities are not fully understood. Zettl et al. (2011) found that variation in particle size distribution of coarse textured soils of the AOSR relates to differences in forest communities and productivity levels mentioned above, with more texturally heterogeneous profiles being associated with more productive vegetation communities. They illustrated that more texturally heterogeneous soils had significantly greater moisture storage at field capacity, and attributed the greater productivity levels associated with these soils to result from this greater moisture availability. However, the ways in which textural differences may influence nutrient cycling in sandy soils of this region has not been studied.

1.5. Research objectives

This study aims to examine the ways in which differences in soil parent material, largely soil textural properties, of coarse textured soils of the AOSR influence nutrient cycling. Nutrients at the soil surface are emphasized due to the previously stated importance of the surface organic layer to nutrient cycling in boreal forests. Total amounts of many nutrients important to plant growth were measured in the forest floor, and carbon to nutrient ratios of some of these nutrients were used to assess differences in organic matter quality. Plant available nutrients were also measured near the soil surface to assess the availability of many of these nutrients to vegetation during part of the summer growing season. Different forms of C, N and P were measured in the soil B horizons in an attempt to understand how mineral soil nutrient concentrations may relate to these forest nutrient cycles. Properties relating to productivity levels relate to the properties mentioned above. Therefore the main objectives of this thesis are to:

- determine how soil physical properties influence the accumulation of different forms of nutrients in the soil profile and the processes at work that govern the amounts and availability of soil nutrients in sandy soils of the AOSR.
- 2. determine how nutrient cycling processes differ between aspen and jack pine dominated sites, which are the two most common canopy species associated with sandy soils of the

AOSR, and how differences in their associated productivity levels relate to soil physical properties and nutrient levels.

These objectives will be explored in the second chapter of this thesis, which will be followed by a brief third chapter synthesizing the findings and discussing the limitations of the data, opportunities for further research and some brief recommendations for the reclamation of sandy soils in the AOSR. The effect of the different types of textural layering commonly associated with these soils on nutrient cycling will also be discussed briefly in the final chapter, as well as the difficulties associated with quantifying the effect of these layers.

Chapter 2. Nutrient distribution in sandy soils along a forest productivity gradient in the Athabasca Oil Sands Region, Alberta, Canada 2.1. Introduction

Surface mining in the Athabasca Oil Sands Region (AOSR) of northeastern Alberta, Canada leads to the disruption of entire ecosystems due to the complete removal of soil and vegetation during mine development. The successful reclamation of these disturbed ecosystems is hinged upon the restoration of self-sustaining ecosystem functioning to the landscape, which depends upon the identification of landscape scale environmental factors that influence a wide range of ecosystem functions that are being targeted in the reclamation process (Ehrenfeld, 2000). In the AOSR, the target ecosystem function of reclamation largely entails the re-establishment of upland forest species diversity and productivity levels that are comparable to the pre-mined landscape that are self-sustaining and resilient to disturbance (Alberta Environment, 2010), which in large part depends upon the restoration of similar forest nutrient cycles to these disturbed ecosystems compared to their natural counterparts.

As part of the boreal forest region of Alberta, forest nutrient cycles in the AOSR are unique compared to other forest ecosystems. Slow decomposition rates due to the relatively cold temperatures associated with the boreal region lead to the buildup of large quantities of organic matter at the soil surface, which may lead to the storage of significant site nutrient capital in the surface organic layer of boreal forest soils (Prescott and Maynard et al., 2000; Van Cleve et al., 1981, 1983). Due to these slow decomposition rates, and therefore slow rates of nutrient cycling from organic matter in boreal forests, organic matter quality is considered to be highly important to the cycling of nutrients in these systems (Bonan & Shugart, 1989). Differences in organic matter composition has been associated with differences in microbial activity and composition in the boreal forests of Alberta (Hannam, 2006) and may therefore greatly influence the rates of decomposition and nutrient release from the surface organic layer (McClaugherty et al., 1985; Pastor et al., 1984; Scott & Binkley, 1997; Stump & Binkley, 1993). Similarly, because organic matter is closely tied with many properties that are important to soil functioning (Gosz et al., 1976; Schoenholtz et al., 2000) and total amounts of nutrients in organic matter may influence the quantity of nutrients made available to vegetation (Thomas & Prescott, 2000), the restoration of processes that drive the accumulation and quality of soil organic matter in boreal forest soils

of the AOSR is important to ensuring the proper functioning of reclaimed boreal ecosystems following surface mining.

Because the majority of soil forming materials in the AOSR were deposited at similar times during the retreat of the continental ice sheet (Turchenek & Lindsay, 1982) and climate is relatively consistent throughout the AOSR, forest nutrient cycles in this region may in large part be controlled by the physical and chemical characteristics of the soil parent material. Soil parent material is closely tied to forest nutrient cycling because it may largely control the capital of many essential biogeochemical elements (Anderson, 1988), soil moisture dynamics and chemical weathering rates (Birkeland, 1999; Ollier, 1975), leaching of nutrients (Anderson, 1988; Birkeland, 1999) and vegetation species distribution and productivity levels which further influence soil chemical weathering rates (Drever, 1994; Kelly et al., 1998) and composition and quantity of organic matter inputs (Alban, 1982; Florence & Lamb, 1974; Prescott, Chappell, et al., 2000; Raulund-Rasmussen & Vejre, 1995). However, little is known about how soil parent material differences influence forest nutrient cycling in the AOSR, especially in soils derived from coarse textured deposits.

Brunisolic soils are a common upland soil in the AOSR that are typically derived from deposits that are too coarse (sandy loam to sand textures) to form well developed soil profiles. Due to their coarse textures, these soils are generally nutrient and moisture limited (Smith et al., 2011). Because sandy deposits of this region are predominantly composed of quartz (Spiers et al., 1989), which is highly resistant to weathering (Birkeland, 1999; Ollier, 1975), rates of nutrient input from chemical weathering will be very slow. One advantage of sandy textures is generally good water infiltration and drainage, which may reduce the erodibility of these soils (Brady & Weil, 2010), although for this reason sandy soils are highly susceptible to leaching (Anderson, 1988; Birkeland, 1999), which further contributes to their nutrient poor status. Therefore sandy soils of the AOSR are likely to be heavily reliant on organic cycling of nutrients to maintain forest productivity levels and prevent leaching losses of nutrients from the soil profile, while the quality of the organic layer may play an essential role in controlling the availability of nutrients in these soils.

Despite moisture and nutrient limitations, sandy soils of the AOSR support a relatively wide range of forest productivity levels and species types. These productivity levels typically range from the most nutrient limited, low productivity jack pine (*Pinus banksiana*) dominated stands with a predominantly lichen (*Cladina spp.*) understory to trembling aspen (*Populus tremuloides*) dominated stands with a blueberry (*Vaccinium myrtilloides*) dominated understory and may even range up to more productive trembling aspen and white spruce (*Picea glauca*) ecosystems with a low bush cranberry (*Viburnum edule*) dominated understory, which are typically associated with finer textured soils in this region (Beckingham & Archibald, 1996).

Variation in forest productivity levels associated with sandy soils in the AOSR has generally been attributed to differences in moisture status, which may in large part relate to variation in the textural characteristics of the soil parent material. Parent materials of sandy soils in the AOSR, the majority of which are derived from glaciofluvial outwash sediments, can vary greatly in their physical properties (Turchenek & Lindsay, 1982). This physical variation is expressed by differences in physical layering, sorting of particles and subtle textural differences of soil forming deposits. Therefore, despite average textures of these coarse deposits being relatively similar, drainage patterns and residence time of moisture in these sandy soils may be relatively variable (Kung, 1990a, 1990b; Zettl et al., 2011). Differences in the physical morphology and texture of sedimentary deposits has been shown to relate to forest productivity levels in the AOSR (Zettl et al., 2011) and other areas derived from different types of glacial sediments (Farrish et al., 1990; Hannah & Zahner, 1970; Host & Pregitzer, 1992; McFadden et al., 1994), which has been shown to influence the organic cycling of nutrients in other regions (Finzi et al., 1998a, 1998b; van Breemen et al., 1997). However, little is known about how nutrient cycling in coarse textured soils of the AOSR relates to variation in soil physical properties and forest productivity.

A better understanding of how the physical properties of soil parent materials influence nutrient cycling in sandy soils of the AOSR is important to ensuring that soil function may be restored following surface mining. In this study, we looked at how soil physical properties and total amounts and availability of nutrients vary along a gradient in forest productivity of jack pine and aspen dominated sites, which are the two most common canopy species associated with sandy

soils of the AOSR. My main objectives, therefore, are to determine (i) how soil physical properties influence the accumulation of different forms of nutrients in the soil profile, (ii) the processes at work that govern the amounts and availability of these nutrients in sandy soils of the AOSR, (iii) how nutrient cycling processes differ between aspen and jack pine dominated sites, and (iv) how differences in their associated productivity levels relate to soil physical properties and nutrient levels. An emphasis was placed on nutrients at the soil surface due to the previously stated importance of the surface organic layer to nutrient cycling in these soils. Select nutrients in the soil B horizons were also measured to assess the role of mineral soil nutrients in forest nutrient cycles of these sandy soils.

2.2. Materials and methods

2.2.1. Study area

The study area is located in the Athabasca Oil Sands Region (AOSR) of northeastern Alberta (Figure 2.1), which is part of the Central Mixedwood Natural Subregion of the Boreal Forest Region of Alberta (Natural Regions Committee, 2006). The Central Mixedwood Natural Subregion is characterized by short, warm summers and long, cold winters with a mean annual temperature (MAT) of 0.2 °C and a mean annual precipitation (MAP) of 478 mm, with 70 % of precipitation occurring as rain during the summer growing season (Natural Regions Committee, 2006).

The most common soil types developed on coarse textured parent materials in this region consist of Eutric and Dystric Brunisols following the Canadian System of Soil Classification (Soil Classification Working Group, 1998), while Gray Luvisols are the most common mineral soils on finer textured deposits (Natural Regions Committee, 2006). Parent materials of Brunisolic soils typically consist of glaciofluvial outwash or ice contact deposits formed during the retreat of the continental ice sheet roughly 10,000 years ago, some of which have been modified by eolian activity following deposition (Turchenek & Lindsay, 1982). Glaciofluvial outwash deposits generally consist of sands with very low silt and clay contents and in some cases occur as a veneer overlying a finer textured glaciolacustrine or morainal second parent material (Turchenek & Lindsay, 1982). Glaciofluvial ice contact deposits typically consist of sands with varying quantities of gravels, stones and boulder sized rock fragments and commonly contain

lenses of finer textured material and naturally occurring oil sand deposits (Turchenek & Lindsay, 1982). Eolian deposits occur in the form of sand sheets and dunes with very low coarse fragment contents and are generally found in the northeast portion of the AOSR (Turchenek & Lindsay, 1982).

Jack pine (*Pinus banksiana*) and trembling aspen (*Populus tremuloides*) are the predominant canopy species found on coarse textured deposits in the region, with jack pine typically occurring on drier coarse textured sites and jack pine, trembling aspen and white spruce (*Picea glauca*) generally occurring on wetter coarse textured sites (Natural Regions Committee, 2006). Understories of bearberry (*Arcostaphylos uva-ursi Kinnikinnick*) and lichen (*Cladina* spp.) typically occur on the driest jack pine sites while bearberry, green alder (*Alnus crispa*), common blueberry (*Vaccinium myrtilloides*), prickly rose (*Rosa acicularis*), hairy wild rye (*Elymus innovatus*) and wild lily-of-the-valley (*Maianthemum canadense*) are associated with wetter sites (Natural Regions Committee, 2006). Sites of greater moisture and nutrient content are associated with low bush cranberry (*Viburnum edule*), green alder, rose (*Rosa woodsia*), buffaloberry (*Shepherdia canadensis*), hairy wild rye, wild sarsaparilla (*Aralia nudicaulis*), bunchberry (*Cornus canadensis*) and dewberry (*Rubus pubescens*) and an aspen and white spruce canopy (Natural Regions Committee, 2006).

2.2.2. Study sites and sample collection

Sixteen sites with coarse textured parent materials (Table 2.1) were selected within a roughly 60 km by 20 km area to the north of Fort McMurray in northeastern Alberta, Canada (Figure 2.1). Sites were selected to capture representative stands of trembling aspen and jack pine and the range of forest productivity exhibited within each of these stand types. Initially, forest productivity level was estimated visually to aid in site selection and then quantified later. Whenever possible, level sites were chosen and differences in anthropogenic disturbance, ground water table influence, and texture of the primary soil parent material was minimized.

The soil great groups of this study consist of Eutric and Dystric Brunisols (Table 2.1) following the Canadian System of Soil Classification (Soil Classification Working Group, 1998), with nine

sites developed under jack pine dominant stands and seven sites developed under aspen dominant stands (Table 2.1). Fifteen of the seventeen sites contained some form of physical layering within the soil profile (Appendix 1). All soils developed from glaciofluvial ice contact deposits were found to contain naturally occurring oil sand inclusions of varying quantities within the soil profile. Specific sites that contained oil sand inclusions can be found in Appendix 1 and field descriptions of oil sand deposits can be found in Appendix 2. Three sites developed on glaciofluvial outwash sands and three of the four sites derived from eolian deposits contained fine texture bands (≤ 1 cm thickness) within the sandy matrix, while one glaciofluvial outwash site (M178) contained fine texture bands of greater thickness (1 – 4 cm). These bands typically occurred at varying intervals from roughly 50 to 175 cm or greater depth and contoured roughly parallel to the soil surface. Five of the glaciofluvial outwash sites occurred as veneers (20 – 130 cm thick) overlying a fine textured second parent material; either poorly sorted and rocky, loamy sand to loam glacial till or loamy sand to sandy clay loam glaciolacustrine material, which often contained lenses of coarser material (Table 2.1).

Sample plot establishment and soil sampling

Soil properties and metrics for aboveground forest productivity were measured within a 5.64 m radius (100 m²) circular sample plot at each site (Figure 2.2a) following the detailed plot layout of the Alberta Regeneration Standards for the Mineable Oil Sands (Alberta Environment and Sustainable Resource Development, 2013). Soil sampling occurred over the summers of 2013 and 2014. One soil pit was excavated at the center of each sample plot by shovel to a depth of roughly 1.5 m, and then augered to 2 m. However, pits at some sites were shallower if restricting layers were encountered. A full soil characterization was done morphologically as per (Watson, 2014) including description of morphological horizons, structure, color, rooting, effervescence, mottling, rock fragments, oil sand inclusions and textural layering where applicable. Site and soil field descriptions can be found in Appendix 2.

One composite soil sample of at least 3 L volume was taken from each morphologic horizon within the soil profile including the forest floor layer, stored in a plastic bag, and then air dried within 2 weeks of being sampled. However, in a few cases soil samples were less than 3 L volume if the horizon was too thin to obtain a sufficient sample size, although this was not a

problem for the major laboratory analyses. Mineral samples were passed through a 2 mm sieve and the fine earth fraction (<2 mm) was retained for laboratory analysis. Adjustments for coarse fragments (>2 mm) were taken into account in calculations when they exceeded 5 percent. In addition to the bulk forest floor sample taken at the soil pit location, two additional forest floor samples were collected from undisturbed locations within the sample plot boundary to be used for forest floor bulk density and field moisture content as well as chemical analyses. After removing all live vegetation, forest floor samples were obtained by excavating a 10 cm by 10 cm square to the mineral soil interface. The depth of each corner of the square was recorded and the samples were stored in sealed Ziploc bags and refrigerated until time of analysis. Incorporation of mineral material into the forest floor bulk density samples was minimized as much as possible. However, in the case of sites with very thin organic horizons, it was difficult to separate mineral soil from forest floor while still retaining a sufficient forest floor sample. In these cases, one extra sample was taken in an attempt to minimize error in the bulk density calculation caused by the additional weight of mineral material and samples with excessive mineral material were excluded from calculations. Forest floor samples were dried at 65 °C for 48 hours and passed through a 4 mm sieve and the <4 mm fraction was retained for laboratory analyses. Values from the organic samples were averaged for each site.

Plant root simulator (PRS) probes

Plant Root Simulator (PRS) probes (Western Ag Innovations, Inc., Saskatoon, Canada), which are buried ion exchange membranes used to estimate plant available nutrients, were placed at each site using the typical field burial protocol described by Western Ag (Western Ag, 2014). Two pairs of cation and anion probes were placed at four locations within the sample plot boundary 4 m to the north, south, east and west of the plot center, for a total of 8 cation probes and 8 anion probes per site. Refer to Figure 2.2 (a) and (b) for the PRS probe placement locations and configuration at each point. Probes were buried at a 45° angle so that the probe membrane was located at a depth of approximately 4 to 8 cm beneath the surface of the forest floor layer. Probes were collected 35 to 38 days after burial, placed in Ziploc bags and refrigerated until they could be cleaned and shipped to Western Ag for analysis of NO₃⁻, NH₄⁺, Ca, Mg, K, P, Fe, Mn, Cu, Zn, B, S, Pb, Al and Cd. PRS probe results are reported in units of µg/10cm²/burial length.

Cu, Zn, B, Pb and Cd were removed from subsequent statistical analyses because they were for the most part below detection limits.

Forest productivity measurements

All forest productivity metrics were measured during the first two weeks of August, 2014 and included both understory and overstory properties within the 5.64 m radius sample plot. Total shrub biomass was measured on two square, 4 m² subplots within the main plot boundary, located 4 m to the north and to the south of the plot center (Figure 2.2a), following the direct method for biomass harvesting of (Bonham, 2013). Shrubs were clipped at ground level, collected in garbage bags, returned to the lab, separated by species and weighed fresh. A subsample of each shrub species from each plot was then oven dried at 60 °C and the ratio of oven dry to fresh weight was used to calculate the oven dry equivalent value for each sample. Only vegetation that were present vertically within the subplot boundary were retained for weighing. Raw understory biomass data by species can be found in Appendix 5.

Overstory data was collected on trees that were alive and healthy with at least part of the stem falling within the plot boundary and two or fewer stems originating from the tree base for coniferous species following the guidelines for acceptable trees from the Alberta Regeneration Standards for the Mineable Oil Sands (Alberta Environment and Sustainable Resource Development, 2013). However, trees 1.3 m or taller were measured rather than trees 0.3 m or taller. All tree species present within the main plot boundary were recorded and dominant species was estimated visually by which species dominated the total canopy area within the plot boundary. Diameter at breast height (DBH) and height were measured using diameter measuring tape and a Haglöf Vertex IV Hypsometer (Haglöf Inc., Madison, Mississippi, USA) respectively, on all acceptable trees. Whole tree, aboveground biomass for each plot was estimated using Formula 7 from Miao and Li (2007) for oven dry biomass of total stemwood, total stem bark and total crown biomass, which were summed to give a total aboveground tree biomass estimate (kg * 100m⁻²) for all eligible jack pine and aspen trees within the plot boundary. In one site (M177), that white spruce was present, the equations for white spruce were also used. These equations are a national equation system developed by Evert (1985) for major tree species of the prairie provinces of Canada, and it should be noted that these biomass estimates were simply used in

comparing relative overstory biomass levels between plots of this study and should not be used as true estimates of stand biomass because they were not developed specifically for use in the AOSR. Cores from the three tallest trees were taken from the dominant canopy species at 1.3 m height with a Haglöf 16" increment borer (Haglöf Inc., Madison, Mississippi, USA). Age of the core was determined in the lab using a dissecting microscope (Jena Scientific Instruments, Toronto, Ontario, CA). Tree age was used in combination with tree height to calculate an average site index for the dominant species at each site using algorithm 2 presented in Huang et al., (1997) with Statistical Analysis Software (SAS) version 9.3 (copyright SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). In six sites where three satisfactory cores could not be taken, site index was calculated based on the number of satisfactory cores available. The age of each core was also averaged for each site and used to estimate stand age for each plot (Table 2.1). In addition, DBH of all eligible trees was used to calculate basal area at breast height (m² tree cross sectional area at breast height * 100 m⁻² ground area) for each site as per (West, 2009).

2.2.3. Laboratory analyses

Soil physical analyses

Soil particle size analysis was done by the hydrometer method of the Soil Survey Staff (2009). Due to the sandy nature of the samples, however, a larger 80 g sample was used. The sample was dispersed overnight using a 5 % sodium hexametaphosphate solution, agitated for five minutes using a Hamilton Beach mixer and transferred to a 1 L sedimentation cylinder. Once in the cylinder, samples were mixed using a plunger and measured after 7 hours of settling with a standard ASTM 152h hydrometer for the clay (< 2 μ m) fraction. After measurement samples were thoroughly washed through a 54 μ m sieve and the sand fraction was collected, oven dried and weighed. The silt fraction was determined after calculating the clay and sand fractions.

Pretreatments for organic matter and carbonates were done when necessary following the procedure of the Soil Survey Staff (2009). Briefly, for organic matter, 10 mL additions of 35 % H₂O₂ were made at room temperature until the reaction subsided. Samples were then heated to 90 °C and additional treatments were made until all organic matter was oxidized. Excess peroxide was destroyed through heating for an additional 45 minutes and the samples were

washed twice with deionized water. For carbonates, 100 ml of deionized water and 10 mL of 1M sodium acetate (pH 5.0) were added to the sample, mechanically shaken with a vortex mixer, centrifuged and the solution was decanted. Additional washing was done until the supernatant was clear.

For forest floor sample bulk density and field moisture measurements, samples were weighed field moist, dried in the oven at 65 °C overnight and then re-weighed. Field moisture content was calculated based on the weight lost after drying, and bulk density was calculated by dividing the oven dry soil weight by the volume of the 10 cm by 10 cm square. An oven dry fraction (ODF) was calculated for all mineral soil samples following the protocol of the Soil Survey Staff (2009), where 10 g of air dry soil was weighed, oven dried at 105 °C and then re-weighed. ODF was calculated as the ratio of oven dry to air dry soil weight. The values from analyses done using air dry soil could then be multiplied by the ODF to calculate an oven dry equivalent value. All analyses of forest floor samples were done using oven-dry samples.

Soil chemical analyses

Total carbon and nitrogen contents (% wt) were measured on forest floor and B horizon samples by dry combustion at the Natural Resources Analytical Laboratory (University of Alberta). Samples were finely ground in a Brinkmann ball grinder, oven dried overnight, flash combusted and analyzed using a Costech 4010 Elemental Analyzer System (Costech Analytical Technologies Inc., Valencia, CA, USA). Only nutrient concentration in the first B horizon (closest to the soil surface) was used in subsequent analyses. Carbon and nitrogen isotopic composition, δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (‰), were determined on a Finnigan Deltaplus Advantage Isotopic Ratio Mass Spectrometer (ThermoFinnigan, Bremen, Germany). Results are expressed against the international reference scale, Vienna Pee Dee Belemnite (vPDB) and air (vAIR) for ¹³C and ¹⁵N respectively (De Groot, 2004). This data was not used in the study but can be found in Appendix 4.

Total amounts of Al, Ca, Fe, Mg, Mn, K, Na, P, and S in forest floor samples were extracted by microwave digestion following the method of (USEPA, 2007). The sample was dissolved in concentrated nitric acid with microwave heating using an Xpress Mars Microwave Digestion

System (CEM Corp, Mathews, NC, USA). The sample and acid was placed in a microwave vessel, sealed and heated in the microwave unit for 10 minutes. After cooling, the sample was allowed to settle and then decanted for analysis by an iCap6000 ICP-OES (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA).

Extractable NO_3^- , NH_4^+ and PO_4^{3+} (ppm) were measured on the B horizons of all sites with the assumption that the B horizon was the mineral horizon of greatest nutrient accumulation. Extractable nutrients in both B horizons were measured for soils with two B horizons. For soils with one B horizon, the underlying BC horizon was also measured. In one case the parent material changed directly below the B horizon and so the overlying AB horizon was used instead. Only nutrient concentration in the first B horizon (closest to the soil surface) was used in subsequent statistical analyses. NO_3^- and NH_4^+ were extracted by the method of Maynard et al. (2006) using 2.0 M KCl and a 1:10 soil to extractant ratio, while PO_4^{3+} was extracted following the Modified Kelowna procedure of (Ashworth & Mrazek, 1995) using a Modified Kelowna (KM) solution consisting of 0.015 M ammonium fluoride, 1.0 M ammonium acetate and 0.5 M acetic acid as the extractant in a 1:10 soil to extractant ratio. The extracts were analyzed as soon as possible by colorimetry using a Microplate Spectrophotometer (Synergy HT, BioTek, Winooski, VT, USA) following the Aridlands Ecology Laboratory Protocol (Castle, 2010) for NO₃⁻ (Doane & Horwath, 2003), NH₄⁺ (Weatherburn, 1967) and PO₄³⁺ (Laitha et al., 1999). Low concentration calibration curves (0, 0.02, 0.05, 0.1, 0.5, 1 ppm) and (0, 0.1, 0.5, 1 ppm) were used for NO_3^- and NH_4^+ respectively and a high concentration curve (0, 0.5, 1, 2.5, 4, 5 ppm) was used for PO_4^{3+} . Plates were measured at a wavelength of 540, 650 and 630 nm for NO_3^{-} , NH4⁺ and PO4³⁺ respectively. A separate calibration curve was created for each microplate and two blanks were carried throughout the procedure and their values subtracted from the sample values.

Soil pH and electrical conductivity (EC) was done sequentially using an Accumet XL200 combination pH and EC meter as per the Soil Survey Staff (2009). First, active pH and EC were measured after 30 minutes in a 1:1 soil to water solution which was stirred for 1 minute at 10 minute intervals. Following this measurement, 0.02 M CaCl₂ was added to the same sample

which was stirred again for 1 minute and pH was measured a second time to give the 1:2 CaCl₂ exchangeable pH after a 30 second settling time.

2.2.4. Statistical analyses

All statistical analyses and graphing was performed using R version 3.1.1 (R Core Team, 2014). Comparison of site and soil properties between aspen and jack pine canopies was done using the Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test due to potential violations of the assumption of normality with such a small sample size. The Spearman's Rank Order Correlation was used to examine monotonic relationships between continuous variables because it is much more robust against outliers, which could have a strong influence on correlations once again due to the small sample size. Spearman's correlations were calculated using the rcorr function of the Hmisc package (Harrell Jr & Dupont, 2016) in R, which uses mid-rank values when data points are tied and calculates an approximated p value using a t distribution. Spearman's correlation returns a correlation coefficient ρ , where $-1 \le \rho \le 1$ in which positive correlations closer to 1 indicate stronger positive relationships and negative correlations closer to -1 indicate stronger negative correlations. All of the environmental variables assessed in these correlations can be found in Table 2.5. Due to the layered nature of some of the soils, the B horizon texture, upper profile average texture and lower profile average texture were used in the correlations to assess how the texture of different soil layers may influence nutrient cycling. Upper profile texture was calculated as the average texture of the soil horizons from the mineral soil surface down to the bottom of the IBC horizon, although the depth of the mineral soil surface to the bottom of the IB horizon was used when no IBC horizon was present. Lower profile texture was calculated as the average texture of all horizons below the bottom of the IBC horizon, although all horizons below the bottom of the IB horizon were used when no IBC horizon was present. Environmental parameters that were co-linear based on linear regression analysis were removed from subsequent correlation analyses to reduce the number of variables assessed and can be found in Table 2.2.

Nonmetric Multidimensional Scaling (NMDS) ordination was used to explore how the environmental parameters assessed relate to nutrient profiles of all sites. NMDS is a nonparametric technique in which the species composition of sites are organized in ordination
space based on the rank of the dissimilarity of the data points, so that sites farther apart are more dissimilar in their species composition (Jongman et al., 1995). Ordinations were done separately using the data sets of forest floor nutrient stocks, forest floor carbon to nutrient ratios and PRS probe available nutrients as the ordination species. When the ordination finds a solution after numerous iterations it outputs a stress value (%) indicating how well the distances between points in the ordination actually correspond to their dissimilarities, with lower stress values indicating a better representation. In all cases, the NMDS was performed using a Sorenson (Bray-Curtis) distance measure and a Wisconsin double standardization in which species values are divided by their maximum values, as well as a square root transformation to minimize the spread in values. The envfit function of the vegan package in R (Oksanen et al., 2015) was used to assess how well environmental parameters correlate with site nutrient distributions in ordination space for the continuous variables found in Table 2.5. This function outputs an R² and a p value for each environmental parameter assessed, which corresponds to the strength of the correlation between continuous environmental parameters with the ordination, or the goodness of fit of categorical variables with the ordination, while the p values are based on how likely it is that random permutations of the data, in this case 999 permutations, give a better R^2 value (J. Oksanen, 2015). A non-parametric, multi-response permutation procedure (MRPP) was used to test for differences in nutrient species composition between aspen and jack pine sites using the mrpp function of the vegan package in R (Oksanen et al., 2015). This function outputs an A value, which corresponds to the similarity within groups, and a p value, which indicates how likely the difference between groups is due to chance (McCune & Grace, 2002), while groups were weighted by the number of samples within each group. The soil physical properties and vegetation properties that had the strongest relationship with the ordination were then plotted in the ordination diagram. A specific p value cutoff was not used due to the high variation in p values between ordinations, therefore the environmental parameters shown in the ordination diagrams are those with the lowest p values relative to that specific ordination, although the canopy grouping was shown regardless of the strength of the MRPP. Continuous environmental parameters are represented by an arrow, which points in the direction of most rapid change of that variable while the length of the arrow corresponds to the strength of the correlation between that variable and the ordination, with longer arrows having stronger correlations, and ellipses represent the 95 % confidence interval for the canopy type groupings (Oksanen, 2015).

Due to the small sample size of the groups examined in this study, I used the framework proposed by Hurlbert and Lombardi (2009), in which a critical p value is not used to assess whether a significant effect has been detected. Instead, different p value levels were used as indicators of the likelihood of a difference between groups in the case of Wilcox tests or as an estimate of the strength of the correlation between the explanatory variable and the dependent variable in the Spearman's correlations.

2.3. Results

2.3.1. General site properties

Physical and chemical soil properties of aspen and jack pine sites are shown in Table 2.3. Average texture of the upper soil profile (above the IBC or IC horizon) of both pine and aspen dominated sites was sand, although aspen sites were slightly finer textured on average (88% sand) than pine sites (94% sand) and varied more greatly in texture between sites when compared to pine. Lower profile texture (below the IB or IBC horizon) of pine sites was sand on average also. The aspen sites averaged a sandy loam texture in the lower soil profile and showed high variation between sites due to the prevalence of depositional layers of varying but generally finer textures (Table 2.1) in the lower soil profile of most aspen sites. The Wilcoxon tests showed good evidence of a difference in upper profile and lower profile texture (sand, silt and clay) between canopy groups ($p \le 0.06$). Soil chemical properties were similar between pine and aspen sites. pH (water and CaCl₂) were both slightly higher in aspen sites than pine, although the difference was very small in both cases. EC was also higher in aspen sites than pine although variation was very high within both groups. All chemical properties showed little evidence for a significant difference between canopy types (p > 0.3).

On average, all of the site vegetation properties measured were roughly 1.5 to 2 times greater in aspen sites compared to pine, although variation was high within groups (Table 2.4). Basal area showed weak evidence of a difference between canopy groups (p = 0.15) but shrub biomass showed good evidence of a difference between groups (p = 0.05). Site index and overstory biomass were not compared.

Correlation results between site environmental parameters can be found in Table 2.5. In jack pine sites, lower % clay showed a moderately good (p = 0.07), negative relationship with EC while B horizon % clay showed a moderately good (p = 0.07), positive relationship with pH. Shrub biomass also showed a good (p = 0.02), positive relationship with EC in jack pine sites and very good (p = 0.01), negative relationship with lower % clay. Overstory biomass only showed a very weak (p = 0.3) relationship with lower % sand while site index showed a very strong (p < 0.001), negative relationship with lower % sand while site index showed a very strong (p < 0.001), negative relationship with upper % sand in the pine sites. The aspen sites showed relatively weak correlations between environmental variables when compared with pine. EC in aspen sites showed a weak (p = 0.11), positive relationship with upper % clay and pH was weakly (p = 0.18) related to B horizon % clay. Shrub biomass was weakly (p = 0.18) related to B horizon % clay in aspen sites but showed a good (0.01) relationships with lower soil profile texture parameters, site index showed a good (<math>p = 0.04), negative relationship with B horizon % clay and overstory biomass showed a moderately good (p = 0.09), negative relationship with upper % sand.

2.3.2. Forest floor total nutrient stocks

The NMDS ordination of all nutrient stocks in the forest floor found a two dimensional solution with a stress of 8.5 % after one try and good correlations were found with both soil and vegetation properties relating to forest floor nutrient stock profiles. The strongest relationships were found with upper profile texture parameters: upper % clay ($R^2 = 0.42$, p = 0.037) and upper % sand ($R^2 = 0.52$, p = 0.010). Of the vegetation properties, overstory biomass showed the strongest correlation ($R^2 = 0.53$, p = 0.021) followed by site index ($R^2 = 0.45$, p = 0.026) and only a weak correlation was found with shrub biomass ($R^2 = 0.26$, p = 0.145). The MRPP indicated a moderately good chance of a significant difference between canopy types (A = 0.09, p = 0.055). Looking at graphical trends in the NMDS ordination of forest floor nutrient stocks (Figure 2.3), the canopy groups showed relatively good separation between ellipses, indicating different forest floor total nutrient profiles between canopy groups. Jack pine sites were associated with coarser textures, indicated by the upper profile % sand vector pointing in roughly the same direction, while aspen sites were associated with decreased upper profile % sand and greater overstory biomass and site index (Figure 2.3).

Comparisons of total nutrient stocks in the forest floor between canopy groups can be found in Table 2.6. All of the nutrient stocks measured in the forest floor samples were greater on average in aspen sites than pine, and the Wilcoxon tests showed moderately good to good evidence that differences between the two groups likely exist for C, N, P, S, Ca, Mg, and K (0.01), which is consistent with the ordination results that indicated a difference in forest floor nutrient stock profiles between pine and aspen sites. Na, Mn, Fe, and Al showed little evidence for a difference between groups (<math>p > 0.35), however.

Correlations between environmental parameters and forest floor total nutrient stocks in pine sites (Tables 2.7 and 2.8) were generally consistent with the findings from the ordination stated previously. Upper soil profile % sand showed good to very good ($p \le 0.05$) relationships with all of the nutrient species in the pine sites and in almost all cases the strongest correlations, which were always negative. Site index showed moderately good to good (p < 0.1), positive correlations with all nutrient species in jack pine sites with the exception of S, Fe and Al. EC showed good (0.01), positive relationships with S, Fe, Al, Mg, K and Na, despite being poorly related to the ordination.

Correlations in aspen sites (Tables 2.7 and 2.8) were much less consistent compared to pine. Of the soil texture parameters assessed, B horizon % sand generally showed the strongest relationships in aspen sites with individual nutrient stocks (C, N, P, S, Fe, Al, Ca, Mg, K, Mn), and was always negatively correlated. However, this relationship was weak or very weak in many cases (C, P, Fe, Al, K, Mn; 0.15). The vegetation parameters were in almost all cases very weakly or weakly related to nutrient stocks of aspen sites although shrub biomass typically showed the strongest correlations (C, N, P, Mg, K) compared to other vegetation properties. No consistent trends were found with soil chemical properties in aspen sites, which were for the most part weakly or very weakly related.

2.3.3. Forest floor nutrient ratios

The NMDS ordination with forest floor nutrient ratios found a two dimensional solution after 2 tries with a stress of 9.5 %. Upper % sand showed the strongest correlation with the data ($R^2 = 0.63$, p = 0.005) while weaker but still good relationships were found with B horizon % sand and

EC. Overstory biomass was the most correlated of the vegetation properties ($R^2 = 0.49$, p = 0.020) followed by shrub biomass ($R^2 = 0.44$, p = 0.029) and only a weak relationship was found with site index ($R^2 = 0.27$, p = 0.133). The MRPP indicated little evidence for a significant difference between canopy types (A = 0.0004, p = 0.384). Graphically, the NMDS ordination of forest floor nutrient ratios (Figure 2.4) showed generally similar trends to forest floor nutrient stocks. Jack pine grouped towards greater % sand in the upper soil profile, while aspen sites grouped towards decreased upper profile % sand and greater overstory biomass or shrub biomass. Overlap was much greater between the canopy groups in this case when compared to the forest floor nutrient stocks ordination, which is reflected in the low R^2 value of the canopy grouping.

Carbon to nutrient ratios of the selected total nutrients in the forest floor were lower in aspen sites on average in all cases except for C:K, which was lower in the pine group (Table 2.9). However, only the C:N (p < 0.001) ratio showed evidence of a significant difference between groups.

Correlations between nutrient ratios in the forest floor are found in Table 2.10. In pine sites, EC showed good ($0.01 \le p \le 0.05$) relationships with many of the ratios (C:S, C:Ca, C:Mg, C:K) and in all cases this was a negative correlation. Texture parameters also generally showed relatively good correlations which is consistent with the ordination results. Upper profile % sand showed a moderately good (0.05), positive relationship with C:N and C:Ca, while C:S and C:K were best related to lower profile % clay (positive correlation; <math>p < 0.1). Overstory biomass showed a good (0.01), positive relationship with C:Mg and C:K, while site index showed a good (<math>p = 0.05), negative relationship with C:Ca. C:P was most strongly related to overstory biomass although this relationship was very weak (p = 0.21).

Aspen correlations (Table 2.10) were once again quite mixed. Of the texture parameters, lower profile texture (% clay or % sand) showed the strongest relationships with C:N and C:Ca ($0.05 \le p < 0.1$). C:P was most strongly correlated with upper profile % clay (positive correlation; p = 0.09), while C:K was most strongly related to upper profile % sand (negative correlation; p = 0.03). Vegetation parameters were generally very weakly related to ratios in the aspen sites with

the exception of shrub biomass, which showed a good (p = 0.04), positive relationship with C:N ratio and overstory biomass which showed a moderately good (p = 0.07) relationship with C:K.

2.3.4. PRS probe available nutrients

The NMDS ordination of PRS probe available nutrients found a solution after 1 try with a stress of 10%. EC showed the strongest correlation with the data ($R^2 = 0.84$, p = 0.001) as well as upper % sand ($R^2 = 0.53$, p = 0.006), while B horizon % sand showed a weaker but still good relationship. The remaining soil variables were only weakly or very weakly related. The continuous vegetation parameters were more weakly related to PRS probe nutrients than the soil parameters, with overstory biomass being most strongly correlated ($R^2 = 0.35$, p = 0.055) followed by site index ($R^2 = 0.35$, p = 0.084) and shrub biomass showed only a weak relationship ($R^2 = 0.31$, p = 0.117). The MRPP indicated moderately good evidence for a difference between canopy types (A = 0.05, p = 0.10). Graphically, the PRS probe NMDS ordination shows similar trends to forest floor nutrient stocks, with jack pine sites plotting with increasing upper profile % sand while aspen sites plotted in roughly the opposite direction and were associated with increasing levels of site index and overstory biomass (Figure 2.5).

PRS probe available nutrient comparisons between canopy groups are shown in Table 2.11. Differences in PRS probe N_{total} and NO₃ were minimal between the canopy groups but NH₄ showed good ($0.01 \le p \le 0.05$) evidence of being significantly different between the groups along with P, K and Fe, with aspen sites containing greater amounts of all these nutrients except for Fe. Al was also lower in aspen sites and showed moderately good evidence (p = 0.06) of a difference between groups. Ca and Mg were both higher on average in aspen sites although evidence of a significant difference was very weak (p = 0.25), with very high variation in Ca and Mg amounts within the groups. S and Mn levels were very similar in aspen and pine sites.

Correlations for PRS probe nutrients are shown in Tables 2.12 and 2.13. In pine sites, all of the environmental parameters were generally weakly or very weakly related with PRS probe nutrients. NO₃, S, Mg, Mn and Al were all very weakly (p > 0.2) related to all texture parameters. NH₄, P and K showed weak to moderately good (0.05 < P < 0.2), positive relationships with upper % sand in pine sites. Soil chemical properties and site vegetation

parameters in the pine sites were generally weakly or very weakly (p > 0.1) related to PRS probe nutrients.

In Aspen sites, PRS probe nutrients were generally related relatively well to either soil texture or vegetation properties. Overstory biomass showed a good (p = 0.02), negative relationship with NO₃ while shrub biomass showed good (0.01), positive relationships with NH₄ and Mn; moderately good (<math>0.05), negative relationships with S and Ca; and a weak, negative relationship with Mg (<math>p = 0.18). Lower % clay showed a very strong (p < 0.0001), negative relationship with NH₄; a good (p = 0.05), positive correlation with S; and a good (p = 0.05), negative relationship with Mn. Upper % clay and B horizon % clay both showed good to moderately good ($0.05 \le p \le 0.1$) correlations with Ca and Mg. The remaining nutrients showed weak (p > 0.1) correlations with environmental variables.

2.3.5. B horizon nutrients

B horizon nutrient results are found in Table 2.14. Total C was higher on average in pine sites than aspen, although there was no evidence for a significant difference (p = 0.92) due to high variation within groups. Total N was higher in aspen sites with moderate evidence (p = 0.1) of a difference between the two groups. Extractable PO₄ and NH₄ concentrations were both greater in pine sites and showed weak (0.1) evidence of a difference between the groups.Extractable NO₃ was below detection limits at most sites and was therefore not included insubsequent statistical analyses. B horizon nutrients were in almost all cases poorly correlatedwith the environmental variables assessed in both jack pine and aspen sites (Table 2.15).

2.4. Discussion

2.4.1. Forest floor nutrient stocks

The forest floor nutrient stock ordination (Figure 2.3) indicates that forest floor total nutrient profiles of these soils are different between aspen and jack pine sites with changes in soil texture (% silt and clay) and overstory productivity levels also explaining differences in nutrient profiles well. Aspen is associated generally with either finer textures in the upper soil profile or lower profile whereas jack pine is, in almost all cases, associated with consistent, sandy upper and lower soil profile textures (Table 2.3), likely due to the importance of soil moisture to aspen

development (Fralish, 1972; Peterson & Peterson, 1992). Finer textured sites have been shown to be associated with greater litter nutrient inputs for the same tree species in Minnesota (Perala & Alban, 1982) likely resulting from the greater water and nutrient availability associated with more optimal moisture and nutrient conditions in soils higher in silt and clay contents. Therefore, nutrient stock profiles in sandy soils of the AOSR are likely related indirectly to soil texture, which probably affects litter inputs of nutrients by influencing canopy type and productivity levels. Soil texture is considered to be a relatively stable site factor, largely unaffected by vegetation (van Breemen et al., 1997) and is therefore hypothesized to be the predominant factor controlling these nutrient stocks, albeit indirectly through its effect on vegetation.

The strong relationships between forest floor thickness and individual nutrient stocks in both aspen and jack pine sites (Appendix 1) suggest that litter input volume is largely controlling nutrient stocks in the forest floors of both canopy types. However, the correlations within canopy types suggest that mechanisms influencing these litter nutrient inputs are likely different for jack pine and aspen, although both are proposed to relate to textural influence. The strong relationships of upper soil profile texture and site index with the majority of individual forest floor nutrient stocks in jack pine sites (Tables 2.7 and 2.8) indicate that litter nutrient inputs in these sites largely relate to the productivity of the trees, as suggested by the nutrient stock ordination, although interestingly tree biomass showed very little evidence of a relationship with forest floor nutrient stocks individually. Greater litter nutrient inputs likely result from more productive trees on finer textured soils, resulting in either greater amounts of litter and therefore nutrients, or more nutrient rich litter inputs. Understory biomass levels likely contribute relatively little amounts of litter nutrient inputs due to their unproductive nature in these jack pine stands, which is often dominated by lichens. Site index also showed a relatively strong relationship with forest floor thickness at the jack pine sites ($\rho = 0.58$, p = 0.10), which was the strongest of all the vegetation variables measured (Appendix 1), further indicating a direct relationship between tree productivity and the amount of nutrients in the forest floor. Silt and clay content has shown strong correlations with jack pine site index in other studies through its association with soil water and nutrient storage (Pawluk & Arneman, 1961), which is consistent with my findings (Table 2.5). This relationship between site index and texture therefore appears to further result in increased nutrient capital contained in the forest floor.

However, factors controlling nutrient stocks in the aspen stands are more complex. Aspen are typically associated with more diverse understory species and greater understory biomass levels compared to coniferous species of the same region (Gordon, 1981; Peterson & Peterson, 1992) which can result in complex interactions influencing litter nutrient inputs, decomposition rates and nutrient cycling (Taylor et al., 1989). Despite being less well defined when compared to the pine sites, the generally stronger relationship of individual forest floor nutrient stocks with shrub biomass when compared to other environmental variables (Tables 2.7 and 2.8), in addition to the relatively strong relationship between shrub biomass and forest floor thickness in aspen sites ($\rho =$ 0.64, p = 0.12) compared to other vegetation properties (Appendix 1), indicate that nutrient inputs to the forest floor of these aspen sites are largely via shrub litter. Ground cover species have been shown to contribute greatly to forest floor nutrient contents in Minnesota on soils of similar textures to this study in jack pine and aspen stands (Perala & Alban, 1982) possibly due to their more nutrient rich nature when compared to tree litter (Bernier & Frison, 1984) which supports my findings. Greater silt and clay contents in the more shallow soil profile (B horizon) show stronger relationships with nutrient stocks likely through its influence on understory biomass levels, which have more shallow rooting depths compared to aspen (Sucoff, 1982). However, the relatively weak correlations between these variables indicate overstory and nonshrub understory litter inputs are likely also important to nutrient inputs in these sites, so a more comprehensive characterization of litter inputs may help to improve these relationships.

2.4.2. Forest floor nutrient ratios

The carbon to nutrient ratio ordination (Figure 2.4) showed little evidence for a difference between aspen and jack pine sites and suggests that differences occur more due to interactions between soil texture, overstory biomass and shrub biomass levels, indicating that litter quality is more greatly influenced by texture differences and its influence on biomass levels than by the type of tree species.

The C:N ratio follows roughly the same pattern as forest floor nutrient stocks in both aspen and jack pine sites. In the jack pine sites, C:N relates most strongly to upper profile % sand and site index of the soil and vegetation properties examined (Table 2.10), which is similar to forest floor

nutrient stocks although the relationship was negative in this case. C:N also directly related to all forest floor nutrient stocks in the jack pine sites ($\rho \le -0.73$, $p \le 0.02$). These relationships indicate that finer textured jack pine sites with greater litter nutrient inputs also show greater forest floor quality, at least in terms of C:N. C:N ratio also shows a strong relationship with field moisture content in the forest floor ($\rho = -0.86$, p = 0.003), which illustrates a potential positive feedback loop leading to improved moisture conditions, decomposition, nutrient cycling and likely further increasing site index in the finer textured jack pine sites, even though the difference in average texture was generally very small ($\le 8\%$ silt + clay).

The C:N ratio in aspen sites related positively with shrub biomass (Table 2.10), which may indicate litter quality is lower on sites with high shrub biomass. Furthermore the C:N ratio also related positively with C:S and C:Mg in aspen sites, indicating lower concentrations of other nutrients may relate to lower C:N ratios as well. The positive relationship with lower profile % sand with C:N and C:Ca (Table 2.10) potentially indicates that aspen sites with more silt and clay in the lower soil profile may lead to improved litter quality, possibly by improving water residence time in the soil profile, reducing leaching and making nutrients more plant available, which has been observed in at least one other study (White & Wood, 1958), although site index and overstory biomass showed little evidence of a relationship with these nutrient ratios. Conversely, sites of high shrub biomass, which are associated with greater % sand in the lower soil profile (Table 2.5), are more indicative of poor forest floor quality despite greater total amounts of forest floor nutrients, possibly resulting from less optimal soil moisture and nutrient conditions. These relationships could indicate that slow decomposition rates associated with poor organic matter quality (McClaugherty et al., 1985) of aspen sites with high shrub biomass could also be a factor in the relatively high amounts of nutrient stocks in these sites.

Carbon to nutrient ratios of the other nutrients are more difficult to interpret. In other studies, carbon to nutrient ratios in the forest floor have been shown to decrease with increasing concentrations of those nutrients in the mineral soil (0-50 cm) through increased litter inputs of those nutrients on the more fertile sites (Vesterdal & Raulund-Rasmussen, 1998). Possible evidence for this relationship can be seen with the negative relationships between soil EC and C:S, C:Ca, C:Mg and C:K (Table 2.10). EC is an indicator of the amount of soluble salts in the

soil solution, and therefore higher EC could indicate higher amounts of soluble forms of the above nutrients in the mineral soil. EC was also found to relate positively with forest floor nutrient stocks of S, Mg, K, Na and weakly with Ca in jack pine sites (Tables 2.7 and 2.8) which further supports this hypothesis. However, no such relationships were found in the aspen sites. EC also showed a negative relationship with upper soil profile % sand (Table 2.5), indicating greater leaching or lower chemical weathering may result in lower availability of these nutrients to plants in the coarser jack pine sites as well as lower forest floor quality. Spiers et al. (1989) found that concentrations of many elements in different major parent material types in the AOSR relate to the texture of the parent material, with greater clay content being associated with greater elemental concentrations for all major elements except Ca, which related more strongly to the presence of carbonates. Therefore it is possible that the availability of many of these elements is also related to the texture of the soil profile, although this cannot be concluded for certain because the actual concentrations of these nutrients were not measured in the mineral soils of this study. Interestingly, no relationship was found between extractable PO₄ concentration in the soil B horizon and forest floor C:P ratios in either the pine or aspen sites of this study, although P solubility in soils is influenced by a multitude of factors (Black, 1984) and will be discussed in further detail later in the paper.

2.4.3. PRS probe available nutrients

The PRS probe nutrient ordination (Figure 2.5) indicates that available nutrient profiles are likely different between aspen and jack pine sites. Similar to forest floor nutrient stocks, differences also correlate well with upper soil profile % sand and overstory productivity metrics. Similar processes to those governing site nutrient stocks are likely at work, with upper profile soil texture possibly changing the availability of nutrients indirectly through its influence on vegetation species and productivity levels and the balance between nutrient release and uptake.

In jack pine sites, individual PRS probe nutrients correlate poorly with most of the environmental variables considered, including the vegetation productivity measures (Table 2.12 and 2.13). Interestingly, PRS probe NH₄, P, Ca, Mg and K all correlate negatively with jack pine site index and positively with upper profile percent sand, which is opposite to forest floor nutrient stocks, although the correlations with NH₄, Ca and Mg are very weak. This relationship

potentially indicates that the drier sites are more limited by moisture than nutrient availability, with coarser textured, low productivity sites unable to utilize these available nutrients, or that PRS nutrients in sandy sites are leached from the rooting zone too quickly to be utilized by plants, possibly due to the very thin forest floor layers associated with sites of lower site index, which were always less than 2 cm thick. However, atmospheric deposition of nutrients resulting from the high industrial activity in the AOSR could be influencing PRS probe nutrient concentrations as well. Amounts of atmospherically deposited NH₄-N, S, Ca, Mg and Na were found to decrease greatly a distance of 20 km from the major industrial center in the AOSR (Fenn et al., 2015). The most southerly jack pine sites in this study (M57-1 and M57-2) are roughly 4 km away from the industrial center and could therefore be affecting these relationships. Fenn et al. also found that NO₃-N, NH₄-N and SO₄ deposition also increased during a large forest fire in 2011. During the time of PRS probe incubation for this study in the late summer of 2014, a large forest fire was occurring to the north of the study area and similarly could have influenced PRS probe nutrient concentrations, especially in the more northerly sites. Therefore complex environmental factors are likely contributing to the poor relationships between site environmental factors and PRS probe nutrients at Jack pine sites, some of which are relatively far apart (Figure 2.1b) and therefore may be subject to different amounts of atmospherically deposited nutrients.

Industrially driven atmospheric inputs of nutrients are likely of less significance with the aspen sites, which are located in relatively close proximity to one another compared to the pine sites (Figure 2.1b), although it is possible that the more southerly aspen sites are affected. PRS probe P, Ca and Mg under aspen show relatively strong relationships with B horizon texture (clay; silt + clay) (Tables 2.12 and 2.13), with the amounts of these nutrients decreasing in sites with finer B horizons. Greater nutrient quantities in the forest floor, possibly resulting from increased shrub biomass associated with fine B horizon textures, therefore, do not result in greater available Ca, Mg and P. However, some PRS nutrients also relate to decomposition of the forest floor. C:N relates negatively to PRS probe S, Ca and Mg ($\rho \le -0.75$, $p \le 0.05$), indicating greater litter quality and decomposition could lead to increased availability of S, Ca and Mg possibly from lower competition and uptake from understory species (Ovington, 1965) or increased nutrient release from the forest floor. As stated earlier, this positive feedback loop likely relates back to the texture of the lower soil profile in these aspen sites, with finer lower soil profile textures associated with increased litter quality and availability of some nutrients at the soil surface.

2.4.4. B horizon nutrients

The B horizon soil nutrients measured proved to be difficult to interpret. The presence of naturally occurring oil sand inclusions in some sites (M152-1, M152-2, M175 and M182) no doubt contribute to the high C levels of those sites and cannot be distinguished from soil C in the B horizon with the available data. Additionally, the positive relationship between total N and total C in jack pine ($\rho = 0.72$, p = 0.02) and aspen sites ($\rho = 0.72$, p = 0.06) could indicate that the presence of oil sand inclusions may influence soil N levels as well, although it should be noted that mineral soil total N levels were very low in all cases (<0.02%). Nagy and Gagnon (1961) found that the petroleum deposits commonly found in sedimentary bedrock deposits of the AOSR do contain N compounds in some cases. With the small amounts of N found in sandy soils of this region, it is possible that the presence of oil sand inclusions is very small. Therefore we did not attempt to interpret these nutrients in terms of environmental variables due to the possibility of making false conclusions that are skewed by the presence of oil sand deposits.

Extractable P and N in the B horizons of both jack pine and aspen sites were generally very weakly related with all of the environmental variables assessed. In jack pine sites, extractable B horizon NH₄ showed the same trend as forest floor nutrient stocks, with upper soil profile sand relating negatively and site index relating positively (Table 2.15). Therefore greater litter nutrient inputs on finer textured jack pine sites may also lead to greater extractable NH₄ in the mineral soil, potentially through the greater litter decomposition associated with these sites and increased cation exchange capacity. In the aspen sites, however, extractable B horizon NH₄ showed poor relationships with all environmental variables except EC (Table 2.15), although the relationship between these two variables is unknown.

Extractable B horizon P related poorly to all of the environmental variables assessed for both canopy species. However, relationships between B horizon P and PRS probe nutrients may shed

some light onto the factors influencing mineral soil P in these sandy soils. In both canopy types, B horizon extractable P was found to relate negatively with PRS probe Ca and positively with Fe, as well as positively with Al in the aspen sites (Table 2.16), all of which are known to influence P solubility in soils (Brady & Weil, 2010). Therefore, the relative amounts of mobile forms of Ca, Fe and Al may influence the availability of P to vegetation in these soils, with greater Fe or Al leading to greater accumulation of extractable mineral soil P, while greater Ca may lead to more optimal conditions for the solubility of P. Liming of acidic soils has been shown to increase P uptake by plants in some cases, either directly by increasing the availability of Al or Fe bound P in the soil or indirectly by reducing Al toxicity in plants, which results in greater plant uptake of P (Haynes, 1982). Although the soils of this study are not extremely acidic (Table 2.3), they are in the range where low P solubility would be expected due to Fe and Al complexing (Brady & Weil, 2010) and therefore it is logical that increased Ca in the soil solution may increase the solubility of P and availability to vegetation leading to lower extractable P levels in the B horizon. The accumulation of P in the sandy soils of the AOSR may also relate to the degree of podzolic development, which is known to lead to the accumulation of different forms of P in the B horizons of podzolic soils (Väänänen et al., 2008). While different forms of P have not been studied in great detail in the AOSR, one study found that a soil in northern Alberta derived from eolian material had an accumulation of Fe and Al bound P and occluded P in the B horizon (Alexander & Robertson, 1968). Alexander and Robertson also found that plant available P correlated well with Fe and Al bound P in the soils of their study whereas there was no correlation with Ca bound P and plant available P. This finding may account for the high amounts of extractable P in some of the B horizons of this study. They also found that the distribution of inorganic forms of P in Alberta was related to the degree of soil development but more strongly with soil parent material type. The degree of accumulation of extractable P in sandy soils of the AOSR may, therefore, reflect the degree of accumulation of Fe and Al in the soil profile relative to Ca, with soils higher in Ca potentially having lower extractable P levels than soils higher in Fe and Al. In my study sites, this relationship may reflect the degree of chemical weathering and development of these sandy soils because the mineralogy of the sand fraction in soil parent materials of this region is relatively uniform within and between different soil parent materials (Spiers et al., 1989).

2.5. Conclusions

The primary goals of this study were to determine (i) how soil physical properties influence the accumulation of different forms of nutrients in the soil profile, (ii) the processes at work that govern the amounts and availability of these nutrients in sandy soils of the AOSR, (iii) how nutrient cycling processes differ between aspen and jack pine dominated sites, and (iv) how differences in their associated productivity levels relate to soil physical properties and nutrient levels. Upper soil profile texture (silt + clay) was found to show the strongest relationships with differences in forest floor total stocks of nutrients, forest floor quality and nutrient availability at the soil surface, likely through interactions between soil texture and site vegetation properties. Forest floor nutrient stocks and nutrient availability were most strongly influenced by interactions between upper soil texture, canopy type and tree productivity (site index and overstory biomass), while differences in forest floor quality result more due to interactions between upper soil profile texture and shrub and overstory biomass levels.

However, the processes influencing nutrient forms within aspen and jack pine stands are likely different. Under jack pine stands, greater forest floor nutrient stocks (all nutrients) were associated with increased silt + clay content in the upper soil profile, likely due to increased litter nutrient inputs associated with more productive trees (greater site index) on finer textured sites. Increased forest floor quality (lower C:N and C:Ca ratio) was also related to higher silt and clay content in the upper profile, indicating that greater amounts of nutrients in the forest floor may also relate to higher forest floor quality, possibly resulting from greater nutrient availability in the mineral soil. However, nutrient availability (PRS) showed little relationship with soil texture under jack pine, and some PRS nutrients (NH4, S, K), interestingly, decreased with greater silt and clay content under jack pine, possibly resulting from higher nutrient uptake associated with greater tree productivity or more rapid leaching of these nutrients from less productive sites with thin forest floor layers.

Correlations between nutrients and environmental variables in aspen stands were generally poor, which likely results from much higher variation in soil textural properties and understory and tree productivity levels when compared to jack pine stands. Forest floor nutrient stocks (C, N, P, S, Ca, Mg, K) under aspen related most strongly to B horizon texture (silt + clay), with finer B

horizon textures having greater nutrient stocks, although availability of P, Ca and Mg were lower in sites with finer B horizons (clay; silt + clay), possibly due to higher shrub biomass and therefore greater competition associated with finer B horizon textures. However, only soils with fine lower soil profile textures (clay; silt + clay) were associated with higher forest floor quality (lower C:N and C:Ca ratios), potentially due to low shrub biomass levels associated with fine lower soil profile textures. Higher availability of PRS S, Ca and Mg associated with lower C:N ratios under aspen stands could also indicate that availability of some nutrients may also increase indirectly due to finer lower soil profile textures and lower shrub biomass levels. Therefore, while B horizon texture may influence nutrient quantity and availability, lower soil texture may more strongly influence the quality of litter nutrient inputs to the forest floor under aspen, potentially due interactions between B horizon and lower soil profile texture on shrub biomass levels. Therefore, soil nutrients under jack pine are most likely controlled by relatively simple interactions between upper profile soil texture and tree productivity, while more complex interactions between the relative textures of the B horizon and lower soil profile and understory and tree productivity levels are most likely the cause of the relatively variable nutrient profiles of sandy soils under aspen.





Figure 2.1. Study area maps of the province of Alberta, Canada with the location of the AOSR and the project study area within the AOSR highlighted (a); and a map of the study area showing site locations (b).

	Lo	cation		Soil		Overstory ve	getation	
			PG	M	Classification		Site in	dex *
Site ID	Lat	Long	Type (1, 2)	Texture (1, 2)	(CSSC)	Species (1, 2)	SI50	Age
M57-1	57.0733889	-111.5936667	GLFL	S	EDB	Рј	12	60
M57-2	57.0730833	-111.5935833	GLFL	S	EDB	Pj	14	56
M118-1	57.5110278	-111.4299722	EOLI	S	EDB	Pj	12	80
M118-2	57.5105278	-111.4301111	EOLI	S	EDB	Pj	15	46
M152-1	57.4289167	-111.5961111	GLFL-IC	S	EDB	Pj, Aw	16	59
M152-2	57.4285278	-111.5969444	GLFL-IC	S	EEB	Pj, Aw	17	58
M172	57.1476944	-111.5438333	GLFL, TILL	S, LS	OEB	Aw	22	71
M175	57.42919	-111.59782	GLFL-IC	S	EDB	Aw	11	78
M176	57.40796	-111.62553	GLFL, GLLC	S, LS	EEB	Aw	15	66
M177	57.40708	-111.62531	GLFL, GLLC	S, SCL	EDB	Aw, Sw	17	72
M178	57.4064	-111.62176	GLFL	S	EDB	Рј	18	59
M179	57.4064	-111.62176	GLFL, GLLC	LS, LS	EDB	Aw	20	75
M180	57.53645	-111.38319	EOLI	S	EDB	Рј	10	118
M181	57.53689	-111.38303	EOLI	S	EDB	Рј	11	109
M182	57.42589	-111.59673	GLFL-IC	S	EDB	Aw	NA	NA
M183	57.25635	-111.62487	GLFL, TILL	LS, L	ODB	Aw	19	68

Table 2.1. Site locations with soil and overstory vegetation information. PGM is the soil parent geologic material while Classification (CSSC) is the Canadian soil classification to the subgroup level.

(1, 2) = (Primary, secondary)

* Analyses done on primary overstory species only, NA indicates analyses not obtained

SI50 Site index at 50 years

PGM: GLFL = glaciofluvial outwash sands; GLFL-IC = glaciofluvial ice contact deposits; EOLI = eolian; GLLC = glaciolacustrine; TILL = morainal

CSSC: ODB = Orthic Dystric Brunisol; EDB = Eluviated Dystric Brunisol; OEB = Orthic Eutric Brunisol; EEB = Eluviated Eutric Brunisol;

Species: Pj = jack pine (*Pinus banksiana*); Aw = trembling aspen (*Populus tremuloides*); Sw = white spruce (*Picea glauca*)



(a). The soil pit was located at the center of the sample plot and PRS probes were placed at four locations 4 m to the N, E, S, and W of the soil pit. Understory biomass was sampled in 2 m by 2 m plots corresponding with the N and S PRS probe locations. The PRS probe placement configuration at each subplot location is Figure 2.2. Diagram of the sample plot layout within which soil and vegetation properties were measured shown in (b). Two cation and two amon PRS probes were placed at each PRS probe center point location for a total of 8 cation and 8 anion probes per site.

Soil property	Soil property *	r	R ²	р							
	Jack pine	(n = 9)									
B horizon % sand	B horizon % silt	-0.87	0.76	0.002							
Upper sand %	Upper % silt	-0.94	0.88	< 0.0001							
Lower sand %	Lower % silt	-0.93	0.87	0.0002							
pH_{CaCl2}	B horizon pH _{water}	0.83	0.69	0.005							
pHCac12 D HOH20H pHwater 0.85 0.09 0.005 pHwater 0.96 0.92 <0.0001											
	Aspen (1	n = 7)									
B horizon % sand	B horizon % silt	-0.94	0.88	0.001							
Upper sand %	Upper silt %	-1.00	1.00	< 0.0001							
Lower sand %	Lower silt %	-0.92	0.84	0.004							
pH_{CaCl2}	B horizon pH _{water}	0.95	0.90	< 0.001							
	pHwater	0.99	0.98	< 0.0001							

Table 2.2. Relevant linear regressions illustrating co-linearity of soil chemical properties with other soil chemical properties and soil physical properties with other soil physical properties.

* Soil property removed from subsequent statistical analyses

Table 2.3. Soil texture, pH and EC of all sites grouped by dominant canopy type. Upper texture values are averages calculated from the mineral soil surface to the BC or C horizon of the primary parent material and lower texture values are averages of the horizons below the B or BC horizons of the primary parent material.

						General	soil properties					
	Upper	profile	texture	Lower	profile	texture	Upper profile					
	Sand	Silt	Clay	Sand	Silt	Clay	pHwater	pH _{CaCl2}	EC			
Site		%			%				dS m ⁻¹			
						Jack pi	ne*					
M57-1	95	4	1	99	0	1	5.72	5.10	0.57			
M57-2	94	5	1	98	1	1	5.50	4.70	0.67			
M118-1	96	3	1	96	1	2	5.71	4.74	0.44			
M118-2	95	2	3	96	1	3	6.08	5.13	0.46			
M152-1	94	4	2	95	4	1	6.47	5.52	0.55			
M152-2	93	4	3	93	5	2	6.75	5.90	0.60			
M178	88	9	3	89	6	5	5.72	4.76	0.33			
M180	97	1	2	98	0	2	5.79	4.87	0.17			
M181	96	1	2	95	2	3	6.16	5.15	0.21			
\overline{X}	94	4	2	95	2	2	5.99	5.09	0.44			
Se	0.9	0.8	0.3	1.0	0.7	0.4	0.1	0.1	0.1			
						Aspen	*					
M172	86	11	3	76	19	5	6.06	5.32	0.78			
M175	89	7	4	90	7	2	7.10	6.26	0.88			
M176	94	3	3	82	8	10	6.56	5.63	0.46			
M177	93	4	3	48	21	31	6.23	5.31	0.42			
M179	83	13	4	81	10	9	5.36	4.42	0.56			
M182	94	4	2	95	3	2	5.98	5.00	0.22			
M183	76	21	3	42	41	17	5.75	4.91	0.71			
\overline{X}	88	9	3	73	16	11	6.15	5.26	0.57			
Se	2.5	2.5	0.3	7.8	4.9	3.8	0.2	0.2	0.1			
р	0.02	0.06	0.02	0.004	0.001	0.02	0.53	0.47	0.30			

* Site dominant canopy

 $[\]overline{X}$ = mean of the sample, s_e = standard error of the sample group

p = p value from Wilcoxon test comparing soil property values of that column between the two canopy types

		Site vegetation	on properties	
				~
	Basal area	Overstory biomass	Shrub biomass	Site index
Site	$m^2 * 100 m^{-2}$	kg * 100 m ⁻²	kg * 100 m ⁻²	
	1	Jack pine*	1	1
M57-1	13	193	49	12
M57-2	20	807	40	14
M118-1	29	862	4	12
M118-2	13	93	3	15
M152-1	40	1416	10	16
M152-2	33	703	6	17
M178	30	1232	1	18
M180	28	921	1	10
M181	23	843	4	11
X	26	786	13	14
Se	3	142	6	1
		Aspen*		
M172	52	1847	20	22
M175	29	758	43	11
M176	47	884	25	15
M177	27	689	18	17
M179	71	3967	33	20
M182	19	758	29	NA
M183	31	1397	19	19
Ā	39	1472	27	17
Se	7	446	3	3
р	0.15	-	0.05	-

Table 2.4. All measured vegetation properties of each site grouped by dominant canopy type.

* Site dominant canopy

 \overline{X} = mean of the sample, s_e = standard error of the sample group p = p value from Wilcoxon test comparing vegetation measurements of that column between the two canopy types

									Envi	ronment	tal para	ameter								
Environmental		EC	рН	CaCl2	В %	6 clay	B %	6 sand	Upp c	er % lay	Upr s	er % and	Lov	ver % lay	Low sa	ver % and	S I bio	nrub mass	Ove bio	rstory mass
parameter	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value
			-				-	Jac	k pine	(n = 9)					-					
pH _{CaCl2}	0.07	0.86																	I	
B % clay	-0.12	0.76	0.63	0.07															I	
B % sand	0.13	0.75	0.01	0.98	-0.46	0.21													I	
Upper % clay	-0.21	0.59	0.53	0.14	0.83	0.01	-0.53	0.14											l	
Upper % sand	-0.57	0.11	-0.14	0.71	-0.62	0.08	0.44	0.24	-0.43	0.25									l	
Lower % clay	-0.63	0.07	0.04	0.91	0.46	0.21	-0.61	0.08	0.68	0.04	-0.02	0.96							I	
Lower % sand	0.16	0.68	-0.42	0.26	-0.82	0.01	0.77	0.02	-0.72	0.03	0.57	0.11	-0.59	0.10					I	
S hrub biomass	0.77	0.02	0.17	0.67	-0.31	0.42	0.56	0.12	-0.58	0.10	-0.14	0.73	-0.83	0.01	0.41	0.27			I	
Overstory biomass	-0.45	0.22	-0.12	0.77	0.28	0.47	-0.23	0.54	0.00	1.00	-0.06	0.88	0.03	0.93	-0.39	0.30	-0.33	0.38	I	
Site index	0.42	0.26	0.20	0.61	0.68	0.04	-0.70	0.03	0.58	0.10	-0.92	< 0.001	0.19	0.62	-0.70	0.04	-0.10	0.80	0.12	0.77
								A	spen (n	i = 7)										
pH _{CaCl2}	0.36	0.43																		
B % clay	-0.09	0.84	0.57	0.18															I	
B % sand	-0.18	0.70	0.54	0.22	0.09	0.84													I	
Upper % clay	0.66	0.11	0.10	0.83	0.32	0.49	-0.46	0.30											I	
Upper % sand	-0.61	0.14	0.49	0.27	0.62	0.14	0.63	0.13	-0.49	0.26									I	
Lower % clay	-0.25	0.59	-0.29	0.53	-0.24	0.61	-0.25	0.59	-0.05	0.91	-0.21	0.65							I	
Lower % sand	-0.18	0.70	0.36	0.43	0.66	0.11	0.32	0.48	-0.06	0.90	0.65	0.12	-0.81	0.03					I	
S hrub biomass	0.29	0.53	0.18	0.70	0.57	0.18	-0.11	0.82	0.50	0.26	0.09	0.85	-0.79	0.03	0.79	0.04			l	
Overstory biomass	0.50	0.25	-0.36	0.43	-0.38	0.40	-0.14	0.76	0.44	0.33	-0.68	0.09	-0.05	0.91	-0.25	0.59	0.21	0.64		
Site index $(n = 6)^*$	0.03	0.96	-0.66	0.16	-0.84	0.04	0.09	0.87	-0.21	0.69	-0.60	0.21	0.03	0.96	-0.54	0.27	-0.31	0.54	0.77	0.07

Table 2.5. Spearman's correlation table of all assessed environmental parameters. ρ is the Spearman's correlation coefficient and correlations with a p value of ≤ 0.1 are highlighted in light grey.



Figure 2.3. NMDS ordination (stress = 8.5 %) of forest floor nutrient stocks (C, N, P, S, Ca, Mg, K, Na, Mn, Fe, Al). Vectors show the direction of greatest positive change of the most strongly correlated continuous environmental variables. Ellipses show the 95% confidence interval for the canopy groups and large symbols show the group centroid location.

	Forest floor total nutrient stocks													
	С	Ν	Р	S	Ca	Mg	К	Na	Mn	Fe	Al	density		
Site	Mg ha ⁻¹					kg	ha ⁻¹					kg m ⁻³		
						Jack pine*								
M57-1	3.6	132.5	5.1	21.0	68.3	12.2	16.8	2.3	8.1	341.4	54.1	266		
M57-2	10.1	402.9	18.0	55.0	198.2	42.3	48.4	9.6	37.6	1189.0	194.8	275		
M118-1	3.5	131.7	5.8	6.7	57.5	9.4	12.9	3.0	13.1	290.6	47.6	280		
M118-2	1.5	53.1	2.9	3.0	36.0	6.3	6.1	1.5	4.0	145.5	26.7	280		
M152-1	9.6	408.8	15.1	20.7	247.2	25.4	27.2	5.6	55.4	474.6	77.3	179		
M152-2	13.1	563.6	24.5	27.9	288.4	44.5	49.1	11.8	80.6	1227.4	176.8	218		
M178	14.0	533.9	20.0	25.0	257.0	29.7	29.3	3.7	80.0	292.2	75.1	217		
M180	3.3	122.4	4.9	6.6	41.1	5.9	7.8	1.8	8.5	182.9	31.6	280		
M181	4.9	191.2	7.8	7.2	65.6	7.9	10.1	1.9	11.8	180.1	39.5	280		
Ā	7.1	282.2	11.6	19.2	139.9	20.4	23.1	4.6	33.2	480.4	80.4	253		
Se	1.6	65.0	2.6	5.4	35.1	5.2	5.5	1.2	10.5	141.5	20.8	12.6		
						Aspen*								
M172	8.7	476.7	14.1	33.1	185.2	23.5	23.7	1.5	8.5	157.8	32.6	115		
M175	16.5	796.6	27.2	43.1	353.6	53.8	57.6	8.3	49.4	1007.5	160.3	146		
M176	5.0	243.4	10.9	12.5	120.1	14.4	22.6	3.2	31.7	328.8	40.9	172		
M177	9.6	484.3	16.7	22.2	211.8	22.6	38.4	6.0	54.0	465.7	77.1	183		
M179	21.9	950.9	33.4	45.1	428.9	38.5	45.6	5.1	50.5	327.8	103.0	153		
M182	18.3	848.2	35.3	38.0	325.8	43.1	51.7	10.8	127.6	846.3	156.0	229		
M183	14.9	853.7	26.2	48.5	496.3	59.9	39.2	5.1	71.4	851.7	97.4	163		
Ā	13.6	664.8	23.4	34.6	303.1	36.5	39.8	5.7	56.2	569.3	95.3	166		
Se	2.3	99.3	3.6	4.9	51.6	6.4	5.0	1.2	14.1	123.9	19.0	13.3		
р	0.04	0.01	0.03	0.05	0.03	0.09	0.07	0.41	0.35	0.54	0.47	0.004		

Table 2.6. Average forest floor total nutrient stocks and bulk densities for each site grouped by dominant canopy species.

* Dominant canopy species; p = p value from Wilcoxon test comparing soil property values of that column between the two canopy types \overline{X} = mean of the sample, s_e = standard error of the mean of the sample

	Forest floor total nutrient stock													
Environmental		С		N		Р		S		Fe		Al		
parameter	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value		
					Jack J	oine (n = 9)								
EC	0.37	0.33	0.40	0.29	0.40	0.29	0.67	0.05	0.77	0.02	0.73	0.02		
pH _{CaCl2}	0.07	0.86	0.28	0.46	0.12	0.77	-0.08	0.83	0.08	0.83	-0.03	0.93		
B % clay	0.51	0.16	0.58	0.10	0.45	0.23	0.15	0.70	0.10	0.79	0.13	0.74		
B % sand	-0.29	0.44	-0.28	0.46	-0.37	0.33	0.03	0.95	0.07	0.86	-0.04	0.91		
Upper % clay	0.21	0.59	0.26	0.49	0.21	0.59	-0.11	0.79	-0.16	0.68	-0.16	0.68		
Upper % sand	-0.83	0.01	-0.81	0.01	-0.78	0.01	-0.74	0.02	-0.66	0.05	-0.73	0.02		
Lower % clay	0.00	1.00	-0.07	0.86	-0.02	0.96	-0.34	0.37	-0.62	0.08	-0.50	0.17		
Lower % sand	-0.61	0.08	-0.66	0.05	-0.65	0.06	-0.20	0.60	-0.11	0.78	-0.22	0.57		
S hrub biomass	0.17	0.67	0.23	0.55	0.17	0.67	0.50	0.17	0.60	0.09	0.55	0.13		
Overstory biomass	0.32	0.41	0.32	0.41	0.30	0.43	0.02	0.97	0.08	0.83	0.17	0.67		
Site index	0.65	0.06	0.67	0.05	0.65	0.06	0.47	0.21	0.47	0.21	0.53	0.14		
					Asp	en (n = 7)								
EC	-0.07	0.88	0.00	1.00	-0.18	0.70	0.39	0.38	0.11	0.82	0.04	0.94		
pH _{CaCl2}	-0.57	0.18	-0.79	0.04	-0.50	0.25	-0.57	0.18	0.18	0.70	-0.11	0.82		
B % clay	0.00	1.00	-0.28	0.54	0.00	1.00	-0.38	0.40	0.28	0.54	0.38	0.40		
B % sand	-0.61	0.15	-0.82	0.02	-0.50	0.25	-0.82	0.02	-0.54	0.22	-0.57	0.18		
Upper % clay	0.28	0.54	0.26	0.58	0.06	0.90	0.36	0.43	0.02	0.97	0.28	0.54		
Upper % sand	-0.27	0.56	-0.58	0.18	-0.11	0.82	-0.77	0.04	0.04	0.94	0.00	1.00		
Lower % clay	-0.41	0.36	-0.09	0.85	-0.50	0.25	-0.16	0.73	-0.14	0.76	-0.52	0.23		
Lower % sand	0.32	0.48	-0.07	0.88	0.43	0.34	-0.18	0.70	0.18	0.70	0.54	0.22		
S hrub biomass	0.57	0.18	0.29	0.53	0.54	0.22	0.29	0.53	0.18	0.70	0.68	0.09		
Overstory biomass	0.11	0.82	0.29	0.53	-0.07	0.88	0.43	0.34	-0.54	0.22	-0.25	0.59		
Site index $(n = 6)^*$	0.03	0.96	0.20	0.70	0.03	0.96	0.31	0.54	-0.77	0.07	-0.43	0.40		

Table 2.7. Spearman's correlation coefficient (ρ) between forest floor total nutrient stocks and environmental parameters. Correlations with a p value of ≤ 0.1 are highlighted in light grey.

Environmental parameter				Fore	est floor tot	al nutrient s	tock			
Environmental		Ca	Ν	Иg		K]	Na]	Mn
parameter	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value
				Jack p	ine (n = 9)					
EC	0.48	0.19	0.73	0.02	0.67	0.05	0.67	0.05	0.28	0.46
pH _{CaCl2}	0.25	0.52	0.05	0.90	0.02	0.97	0.05	0.90	0.13	0.73
B % clay	0.55	0.12	0.29	0.45	0.25	0.51	0.19	0.62	0.48	0.19
B % sand	-0.23	0.54	-0.24	0.53	-0.17	0.67	-0.22	0.57	-0.49	0.19
Upper % clay	0.21	0.59	0.05	0.89	0.00	1.00	-0.05	0.89	0.26	0.49
Upper % sand	-0.84	0.004	-0.86	0.003	-0.80	0.01	-0.73	0.03	-0.72	0.03
Lower % clay	-0.16	0.67	-0.29	0.46	-0.33	0.39	-0.40	0.29	-0.01	0.98
Lower % sand	-0.57	0.11	-0.39	0.30	-0.35	0.35	-0.37	0.33	-0.71	0.03
S hrub biomass	0.30	0.43	0.43	0.24	0.42	0.26	0.43	0.24	0.02	0.97
Overstory biomass	0.27	0.49	0.03	0.93	0.13	0.73	0.22	0.58	0.48	0.19
Site index	0.68	0.04	0.70	0.04	0.62	0.08	0.60	0.09	0.68	0.04
				Aspe	n (n = 7)					
EC	0.25	0.59	0.39	0.38	0.14	0.76	-0.36	0.43	-0.57	0.18
pH _{CaCl2}	-0.61	0.15	-0.29	0.53	-0.14	0.76	-0.07	0.88	-0.61	0.15
B % clay	-0.28	0.54	-0.28	0.54	0.19	0.68	0.38	0.40	-0.19	0.68
B % sand	-0.93	0.003	-0.68	0.09	-0.54	0.22	-0.32	0.48	-0.54	0.22
Upper % clay	0.36	0.43	0.14	0.77	0.28	0.54	-0.06	0.90	-0.42	0.35
Upper % sand	-0.70	0.08	-0.54	0.21	-0.13	0.79	0.34	0.45	0.02	0.97
Lower % clay	-0.02	0.97	-0.34	0.45	-0.59	0.16	-0.38	0.40	0.11	0.82
Lower % sand	-0.21	0.64	0.00	1.00	0.46	0.29	0.54	0.22	0.00	1.00
S hrub biomass	0.21	0.64	0.29	0.53	0.64	0.12	0.39	0.38	-0.14	0.76
Overstory biomass	0.25	0.59	0.11	0.82	-0.18	0.70	-0.64	0.12	-0.43	0.34
Site index $(n = 6)^*$	0.14	0.79	0.09	0.87	-0.20	0.70	-0.60	0.21	-0.09	0.87

Table 2.8. Spearman's correlation coefficient (ρ) between forest floor total nutrient stocks and environmental parameters. Correlations with a p value of ≤ 0.1 are highlighted in light grey.



Figure 2.4. NMDS ordination (stress = 9.5 %) of forest floor nutrient ratios (C:N, C:P, C:S, C:Ca, C:Mg, C:K). Vectors represent the direction of greatest positive change of the most strongly correlated continuous environmental variables. Ellipses show the 95% confidence interval for the canopy groups and large symbols show the group centroid location.

Forest floor carbon to nutrient ratios Site C·N C·P C·S C·Ca C·Ma C·K												
Site	C:N	C:P	C:S	C:Ca	C:Mg	C:K						
		• 	Jack pine	*								
M57-1	26.9	706.2	169.8	52.2	292.2	212.0						
M57-2	25.0	559.3	182.9	50.7	237.6	207.8						
M118-1	26.7	611.7	525.3	61.1	374.6	273.1						
M118-2	28.1	520.4	498.3	41.5	238.3	243.2						
M152-1	23.6	636.3	465.2	39.0	379.6	353.6						
M152-2	23.2	531.7	468.1	45.2	293.1	265.9						
M178	26.3	699.7	559.9	54.5	472.4	478.5						
M180	27.3	680.9	505.8	81.3	570.0	426.5						
M181	25.6	623.8	679.9	74.6	619.7	482.4						
\overline{X}	25.8	618.9	450.6	55.6	386.4	327.0						
Se	0.6	23.3	56.1	4.8	46.8	37.0						
	T	-	Aspen*		1							
M172	18.4	618.9	264.2	47.2	373.0	369.7						
M175	20.7	607.5	383.4	46.7	306.9	286.8						
M176	20.6	460.0	400.4	41.8	347.2	221.9						
M177	19.8	574.1	432.1	45.4	424.8	250.5						
M179	23.1	656.8	486.2	51.1	569.9	480.4						
M182	21.5	516.8	480.5	56.0	424.0	353.1						
M183	17.4	566.2	306.6	29.9	248.0	378.7						
\overline{X}	20.2	571.5	393.3	45.5	384.8	334.4						
Se	0.7	25.0	31.6	3.1	39.0	33.4						
р	< 0.001	0.21	0.17	0.30	0.92	0.76						

Table 2.9. Average nutrient ratios (g carbon / g nutrient) in the forest floors at all study sites grouped by dominant canopy.

* Site dominant canopy

 \overline{X} = mean of the sample, s_e = standard error of the sample group p = p value from Wilcoxon test comparing soil property values of that column between the two canopy types

					Fores	t floor Carbo	n to nutrie	nt ratio				
Environmental	C	C:N	(C:P	(C:S	С	:Ca	С	:Mg	(С:К
parameter	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value
					Jack j	pine (n = 9)						
EC	-0.48	0.19	-0.35	0.36	-0.82	0.01	-0.72	0.03	-0.83	0.01	-0.83	0.01
pH _{CaCl2}	-0.35	0.36	-0.17	0.67	-0.05	0.90	-0.42	0.26	0.22	0.58	0.22	0.58
B % clay	-0.34	0.37	0.11	0.78	0.25	0.52	-0.35	0.36	0.36	0.35	0.48	0.19
B % sand	0.15	0.70	0.33	0.39	-0.53	0.14	0.18	0.65	-0.08	0.83	-0.29	0.44
Upper % clay	-0.05	0.89	-0.26	0.49	0.37	0.33	-0.26	0.49	0.21	0.59	0.37	0.33
Upper % sand	0.58	0.10	0.07	0.86	0.26	0.50	0.62	0.08	0.32	0.40	0.19	0.63
Lower % clay	0.29	0.46	-0.12	0.76	0.85	0.004	0.33	0.39	0.44	0.23	0.61	0.08
Lower % sand	0.52	0.15	0.15	0.70	-0.54	0.13	0.18	0.65	-0.41	0.27	-0.58	0.10
S hrub biomass	-0.43	0.24	0.00	1.00	-0.78	0.01	-0.42	0.26	-0.50	0.17	-0.62	0.08
Overstory biomass	-0.28	0.46	0.47	0.21	0.37	0.33	0.23	0.55	0.67	0.05	0.67	0.05
Site index	-0.47	0.21	-0.23	0.55	-0.08	0.83	-0.67	0.05	-0.27	0.49	-0.08	0.83
					Asp	en (n = 7)						
EC	-0.29	0.53	0.54	0.22	-0.68	0.09	-0.21	0.64	-0.54	0.22	0.29	0.53
pH _{CaCl2}	-0.14	0.76	-0.21	0.64	-0.46	0.29	-0.21	0.64	-0.43	0.34	-0.75	0.05
B % clay	0.57	0.18	-0.28	0.54	0.38	0.40	0.00	1.00	0.00	1.00	-0.66	0.11
B % sand	-0.07	0.88	-0.21	0.64	-0.21	0.64	0.25	0.59	0.14	0.76	-0.50	0.25
Upper % clay	0.28	0.54	0.68	0.09	0.04	0.93	-0.06	0.90	0.02	0.97	0.24	0.61
Upper % sand	0.32	0.48	-0.63	0.13	0.32	0.48	0.20	0.67	0.18	0.70	-0.81	0.03
Lower % clay	-0.52	0.23	-0.16	0.73	-0.02	0.97	-0.70	0.08	0.05	0.91	-0.13	0.79
Lower % sand	0.75	0.05	-0.21	0.64	0.39	0.38	0.61	0.15	0.11	0.82	-0.29	0.53
S hrub biomass	0.79	0.04	0.25	0.59	0.32	0.48	0.54	0.22	0.04	0.94	0.14	0.76
Overstory biomass	0.00	1.00	0.54	0.22	-0.18	0.70	0.07	0.88	0.00	1.00	0.71	0.07
Site index $(n = 6)^*$	-0.31	0.54	0.54	0.27	-0.20	0.70	0.43	0.40	0.43	0.40	0.66	0.16

Table 2.10. Spearman's correlation coefficient (ρ) between forest floor carbon to nutrient ratios and environmental parameters. Correlations with a p value of ≤ 0.1 are highlighted in light grey.



Figure 2.5. NMDS ordination (stress = 10 %) of PRS probe available nutrients (N_{total}, NO₃, NH₄, P, S, Ca, Mg, K, Mn, Fe, Al). Vectors show the direction of greatest positive change of the most strongly correlated continuous environmental variables. Ellipses show the 95% confidence interval for the canopy groups and large symbols show the group centroid location.

	PRS probe available nutrients											
Site	Ntotal [†]	NO ₃	NH4	Р	S	Ca	Mg	K	Mn	Fe	Al	
					Jack	k pine*						
M57-1	4.0	1.6	2.4	1.8	39.0	612.4	138.5	121.2	10.8	4.0	6.0	
M57-2	7.0	5.3	1.7	1.8	57.2	401.6	100.9	117.6	6.8	4.8	4.3	
M118-1	3.5	1.6	1.9	0.5	22.7	238.9	36.3	92.7	4.0	4.0	4.0	
M118-2	3.7	1.6	2.1	1.0	19.0	190.5	27.4	59.0	3.5	6.3	12.5	
M152-1	4.7	1.5	3.2	5.0	31.3	847.5	133.2	193.6	14.3	4.3	4.8	
M152-2	4.4	1.9	2.4	3.8	33.8	904.8	182.7	303.7	10.0	2.3	5.0	
M178	4.0	1.8	2.3	7.0	31.4	219.5	47.6	166.4	13.3	2.8	3.3	
M180	6.7	1.8	4.9	1.0	24.8	112.9	19.6	73.7	6.0	5.5	8.8	
M181	9.3	7.1	2.2	6.0	34.7	363.2	57.7	154.5	17.0	5.3	7.3	
X	5.2	2.7	2.6	3.1	32.7	432.4	82.7	142.5	9.5	4.3	6.2	
Se	0.7	0.7	0.3	0.8	3.7	97.0	19.4	24.9	1.6	0.4	1.0	
					As	pen*						
M172	4.3	1.8	2.6	2.0	37.9	461.2	120.5	171.4	5.3	2.0	3.5	
M175	5.1	1.3	3.8	2.0	26.0	776.4	148.5	199.6	9.8	2.3	2.5	
M176	4.6	2.3	2.3	7.3	26.3	489.7	84.0	315.5	6.5	3.3	4.8	
M177	4.6	1.4	3.3	4.8	25.1	250.6	47.6	251.1	18.5	3.0	4.0	
M179	11.9	4.0	7.9	8.0	21.5	726.8	145.2	255.8	14.3	2.0	3.8	
M182	6.5	2.0	4.5	6.5	25.3	382.6	79.5	171.6	19.0	3.3	6.5	
M183	4.6	2.2	2.4	8.8	41.9	873.2	178.1	222.6	2.0	1.3	3.0	
X	6.0	2.1	3.8	5.6	29.1	565.8	114.8	226.8	10.8	2.4	4.0	
Se	1.0	0.3	0.7	1.0	2.9	86.5	17.5	19.6	2.5	0.3	0.5	
р	0.41	1.00	0.03	0.04	0.76	0.25	0.25	0.01	0.79	0.01	0.06	

Table 2.11. Average PRS probe nutrients (µg 10cm⁻² burial length⁻¹) for each site grouped by dominant canopy species.

* Dominant canopy species, p = p value from Wilcoxon test comparing soil property values of that column between the two canopy types \overline{X} = Mean of the sample, s_e = standard error of the mean of the sample

† Sum of NO₃-N and NH₄-N

				PR	S probe av	ailable nutri	ent			
Environmental	N	total	Ň	03	Ν	NH4		Р		S
parameter	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value
				Jack p	ine (n = 9)				-	
EC	-0.05	0.90	0.18	0.64	-0.43	0.24	-0.28	0.47	0.17	0.67
pH _{CaCl2}	0.47	0.21	0.28	0.46	0.33	0.38	0.18	0.65	0.68	0.04
B % clay	-0.03	0.93	0.02	0.97	-0.01	0.98	-0.31	0.42	0.16	0.68
B % sand	0.47	0.20	0.18	0.64	-0.08	0.85	0.14	0.71	0.28	0.47
Upper % clay	-0.16	0.68	-0.32	0.41	0.42	0.26	-0.43	0.25	-0.11	0.79
Upper % sand	0.41	0.27	0.06	0.88	0.51	0.16	0.61	0.08	0.09	0.81
Lower % clay	-0.40	0.29	-0.32	0.40	0.42	0.27	-0.35	0.36	-0.36	0.35
Lower % sand	0.40	0.29	0.14	0.73	-0.07	0.86	0.15	0.69	0.02	0.97
S hrub biomass	0.32	0.41	0.53	0.14	-0.47	0.21	0.12	0.76	0.50	0.17
Overstory biomass	-0.08	0.83	-0.07	0.86	-0.18	0.64	0.39	0.30	-0.15	0.70
Site index	-0.35	0.36	-0.07	0.86	-0.28	0.46	-0.47	0.20	-0.13	0.73
				Aspe	n (n = 7)					
EC	0.07	0.88	-0.61	0.15	0.14	0.76	-0.27	0.56	0.18	0.70
pH _{CaCl2}	0.07	0.88	-0.14	0.76	0.21	0.64	-0.45	0.31	0.14	0.76
B % clay	0.00	1.00	0.09	0.84	0.19	0.68	-0.29	0.53	-0.19	0.68
B % sand	0.14	0.76	-0.25	0.59	0.29	0.53	-0.63	0.13	-0.11	0.82
Upper % clay	-0.06	0.90	-0.54	0.21	-0.06	0.90	-0.32	0.48	-0.06	0.90
Upper % sand	0.14	0.76	0.40	0.38	0.25	0.59	-0.17	0.71	-0.23	0.61
Lower % clay	-0.85	0.02	0.09	0.85	-0.99	< 0.0001	0.15	0.76	0.76	0.05
Lower % sand	0.61	0.15	0.14	0.76	0.82	0.02	-0.18	0.70	-0.71	0.07
S hrub biomass	0.54	0.22	-0.21	0.64	0.75	0.05	-0.23	0.61	-0.68	0.09
Overstory biomass	-0.18	0.70	-0.82	0.02	0.04	0.94	-0.43	0.33	0.04	0.94
Site index $(n = 6)^*$	0.09	0.87	-0.54	0.27	-0.03	0.96	-0.20	0.70	-0.14	0.79

Table 2.12. Spearman's correlation coefficient (ρ) between PRS probe available nutrients and environmental parameters. Correlations with a p value of ≤ 0.1 are highlighted in light grey.

	PRS probe available nutrient											
Environmental	Ca		Mg		K		Mn		Fe		Al	
parameter	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value
Jack pine (n = 9)												
EC	-0.40	0.29	-0.27	0.49	-0.65	0.06	-0.32	0.41	0.56	0.12	0.52	0.15
pH _{CaCl2}	0.48	0.19	0.55	0.13	0.32	0.41	0.45	0.22	-0.15	0.70	0.27	0.49
B % clay	0.21	0.58	0.15	0.70	-0.02	0.97	0.06	0.88	-0.17	0.65	0.03	0.95
B % sand	0.40	0.28	0.34	0.37	0.13	0.75	0.08	0.85	0.35	0.36	0.25	0.51
Upper % clay	0.05	0.89	0.00	1.00	-0.11	0.79	-0.05	0.89	-0.11	0.79	0.16	0.68
Upper % sand	0.30	0.43	0.30	0.44	0.63	0.07	0.41	0.27	-0.24	0.54	-0.23	0.56
Lower % clay	0.03	0.93	-0.03	0.93	0.11	0.77	-0.24	0.53	-0.51	0.16	-0.29	0.46
Lower % sand	-0.12	0.76	-0.14	0.73	-0.11	0.78	-0.06	0.88	0.47	0.21	0.08	0.83
S hrub biomass	0.03	0.93	0.15	0.70	-0.18	0.64	-0.03	0.93	0.36	0.34	0.37	0.33
Overstory biomass	0.22	0.58	0.12	0.77	0.42	0.26	0.47	0.21	-0.26	0.50	-0.32	0.41
Site index	-0.43	0.24	-0.40	0.29	-0.55	0.13	-0.25	0.52	0.16	0.68	0.17	0.67
					Asp	en (n = 7)						
EC	-0.04	0.94	0.00	1.00	-0.61	0.15	0.25	0.59	0.20	0.67	-0.07	0.88
pH _{CaCl2}	-0.14	0.76	-0.07	0.88	-0.64	0.12	0.14	0.76	0.33	0.47	0.18	0.70
B % clay	-0.76	0.05	-0.66	0.11	-0.38	0.40	0.38	0.40	0.38	0.39	0.66	0.11
B % sand	0.14	0.76	0.21	0.64	-0.25	0.59	-0.04	0.94	0.00	1.00	-0.36	0.43
Upper % clay	-0.70	0.08	-0.70	0.08	-0.32	0.49	0.50	0.26	0.58	0.17	0.48	0.28
Upper % sand	-0.18	0.70	-0.13	0.79	-0.02	0.97	0.05	0.91	0.07	0.88	0.23	0.61
Lower % clay	0.20	0.67	0.13	0.79	0.25	0.59	-0.76	0.05	-0.09	0.84	-0.13	0.79
Lower % sand	-0.46	0.29	-0.36	0.43	-0.21	0.64	0.64	0.12	0.11	0.82	0.36	0.43
S hrub biomass	-0.68	0.09	-0.57	0.18	-0.36	0.43	0.82	0.02	0.24	0.61	0.43	0.34
Overstory biomass	-0.07	0.88	0.04	0.94	-0.36	0.43	0.04	0.94	-0.25	0.58	-0.50	0.25
Site index $(n = 6)^*$	0.31	0.54	0.26	0.62	0.43	0.40	-0.09	0.87	-0.32	0.54	-0.71	0.11

Table 2.13. Spearman's correlation coefficient (ρ) between PRS probe available nutrients and environmental parameters. Correlations with a p value of ≤ 0.1 are highlighted in light grey.

	B horizon nutrients								
Site Ctotal		N _{total}	PO ₄ -P _{extractable}	NH4-Nextractable	NO3-Nextractable				
Jack pine*									
M57-1	690.0	30.0	29.1	3.6	0.0				
M57-2	920.0	50.0	30.9	2.2	0.0				
M118-1	4135.0	130.0	99.5	2.5	0.0				
M118-2	640.0	50.0	129.8	2.5	0.0				
M152-1	1880.0	30.0	5.7	1.5	0.0				
M152-2	9940.0	180.0	2.7	1.6	0.0				
M178	2850.0	190.0	176.0	2.1	0.0				
M180	775.0	95.0	109.6	1.8	0.0				
M181	2380.0	150.0	214.2	0.8	0.5				
\overline{X}	2690.0	100.6	88.6	2.1	0.1				
Se	989.0	21.3	25.5	0.3	0.1				
Aspen*									
M172	1320.0	130.0	3.5	1.5	0.0				
M175	2245.0	160.0	2.0	1.6	0.0				
M176	1760.0	160.0	146.6	2.2	0.3				
M177	1420.0	140.0	63.9	1.8	0.0				
M179	2655.0	190.0	8.0	2.2	1.0				
M182	2400.0	150.0	63.9	0.4	0.0				
M183	1850.0	170.0	3.5	0.7	23.5				
Ā	1950.0	157.1	41.6	1.5	3.5				
Se	189.6	7.5	20.5	0.3	3.3				
р	0.92	0.10	0.20	0.18	-				

Table 2.14. Average concentrations (mg kg⁻¹) of different forms of C, N and P in the B horizon for each site grouped by dominant canopy.

* Dominant canopy species

 \overline{X} = Mean of the sample, s_e = standard error of the mean of the sample p = p value from Wilcoxon test comparing soil property values of that column between the two canopy types

	B horizon nutrient								
Environmental	С	total	Ν	total	PO ₄ -P	extractable	NH4-Nextractable		
parameter	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value	
Jack pine (n = 9)									
EC	-0.77	0.02	-0.31	0.42	0.42	0.26	0.55	0.12	
pH _{CaCl2}	0.02	0.97	-0.11	0.78	-0.28	0.46	-0.22	0.57	
B % clay	0.28	0.47	0.01	0.98	-0.14	0.73	0.05	0.90	
B % sand	-0.31	0.42	-0.46	0.21	-0.34	0.37	-0.28	0.47	
Upper % clay	0.05	0.89	-0.19	0.63	-0.26	0.49	0.11	0.79	
Upper % sand	0.25	0.51	0.14	0.71	-0.30	0.44	-0.62	0.07	
Lower % clay	0.50	0.17	0.25	0.51	-0.39	0.30	0.07	0.86	
Lower % sand	-0.41	0.27	-0.30	0.44	0.03	0.95	-0.18	0.64	
S hrub biomass	-0.45	0.22	-0.13	0.75	0.20	0.61	0.14	0.72	
Overstory biomass	0.60	0.09	0.35	0.35	0.23	0.55	-0.40	0.28	
Site index	-0.15	0.70	0.03	0.95	0.43	0.24	0.49	0.19	
			Aspe	en (n = 7)					
EC	0.14	0.76	-0.25	0.59	-0.27	0.55	-0.81	0.03	
pH _{CaCl2}	0.14	0.76	-0.34	0.45	-0.11	0.82	-0.45	0.31	
B % clay	-0.19	0.68	-0.62	0.14	0.43	0.33	-0.19	0.68	
B % sand	0.07	0.88	-0.09	0.85	-0.44	0.33	0.27	0.56	
Upper % clay	-0.30	0.52	-0.66	0.10	0.37	0.42	-0.49	0.26	
Upper % sand	0.07	0.88	-0.07	0.88	0.14	0.77	0.37	0.41	
Lower % clay	-0.70	0.08	-0.11	0.82	0.14	0.77	0.14	0.77	
Lower % sand	0.39	0.38	-0.13	0.79	0.11	0.82	0.05	0.91	
S hrub biomass	0.25	0.59	-0.36	0.43	0.16	0.73	-0.29	0.53	
Overstory biomass	-0.32	0.48	-0.34	0.45	-0.49	0.26	-0.31	0.50	
Site index $(n = 6)^*$	-0.03	0.96	0.35	0.50	-0.44	0.38	0.49	0.33	

Table 2.15. Spearman's correlation coefficient (ρ) between B horizon nutrients and environmental parameters. Correlations with a p value of ≤ 0.1 are highlighted in light grey.
		B horizon-P _{extractable}						
PRS probe	Jack pi	ne (n = 9)	Aspen	(n = 7)				
nutrient	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value				
Са	-0.77	0.02	-0.60	0.15				
Mg	-0.70	0.04	-0.76	0.05				
Fe	0.47	0.20	0.72	0.07				
Al	0.17	0.67	0.93	0.003				

Table 2.16. Spearman's correlation coefficient (ρ) between B horizon extractable P and select PRS probe available nutrients.

Chapter 2 plates



Plate 2.1. Site M57-1 soil profile – Eluviated Dystric Brunisol derived from glaciofluvial outwash sands under a jack pine dominated canopy.



Plate 2.2. Site M57-2 soil profile – Eluviated Dystric Brunisol derived from glaciofluvial outwash sands under a jack pine dominated canopy.



Plate 2.3. Site M118-1 soil profile – Eluviated Dystric Brunisol derived from eolian sands under a jack pine dominated canopy.



Plate 2.4. Site M118-2 soil profile – Eluviated Dystric Brunisol derived from eolian sands under a jack pine dominated canopy.



Plate 2.5. Site M152-1 soil profile – Eluviated Dystric Brunisol derived from glaciofluvial ice contact deposits under a jack pine dominated canopy. Black colored lenses are naturally occurring oil sand deposits.



Plate 2.6. Site M152-2 soil profile – Eluviated Dystric Brunisol derived from glaciofluvial ice contact deposits under a jack pine dominated canopy. Black colored lenses are naturally occurring oil sand deposits.



Plate 2.7. Site M177 soil profile – Eluviated Dystric Brunisol derived from glaciofluvial outwash sands overlying glaciolacustrine deposits under an aspen dominated canopy.



Plate 2.8. Eluviated Dystric Brunisol derived from eolian sands under a jack pine dominated canopy. Note that the location of this profile is in close proximity to sites M180 and M181, although it is not the actual profile used in the characterization of those sites.

Chapter 3. Synthesis 3.1. Summary

The goals of this study were to determine (i) how the physical properties of these sandy soils influence the accumulation of different forms of nutrients in the soil profile, (ii) the processes at work that govern the amounts and availability of soil nutrients, (iii) how nutrient cycling processes differ between aspen and jack pine dominated stands, and (iv) how differences in their associated productivity levels relate to soil physical properties and nutrient levels. When all sites were considered together, differences in forest floor nutrient amounts, quality, and availability were found to largely be influenced by average upper soil profile texture (% silt + clay), most likely through its influence on canopy type and vegetation productivity levels and therefore the quantity and quality of litter nutrient inputs to the forest floor.

Upper profile soil texture is proposed to be the primary factor influencing forest floor nutrient stocks and forest floor quality in jack pine sites of the AOSR, despite differences in texture being only slight ($\leq 8\%$ silt + clay). Greater silt and clay content of the upper soil profile was found to be associated with increased forest floor nutrient stocks for all nutrients measured, as well as higher forest floor quality (lower C:N and C:Ca ratio), greater field moisture content in the forest floor, and greater extractable ammonium concentrations in the B horizon, possibly resulting from greater litter nutrient inputs associated with higher tree productivity while the understory likely contributes less to forest floor nutrients under jack pine due to the very low understory biomass levels associated with the jack pine sites of this study. Therefore increased moisture and potentially nutrient availability associated with finer textured jack pine sites may also lead to improved forest floor quality and moisture conditions, which may further increase site productivity. However, many PRS probe available nutrient concentrations showed little relationship with soil texture and some (NH₄, S, K), interestingly, decreased with greater silt and clay content, possibly resulting from higher nutrient uptake from more productive trees leading to lower available nutrients on finer textured soils, or due to the thin forest floors associated with coarser textured sites which may be leached of nutrients more rapidly.

In aspen sites, correlations were generally weaker than in pine sites, likely due to complex interactions between soil texture, tree and understory productivity litter inputs. Soil textures in

aspen sites were highly variable compared to pine, which likely relates to the high variation in tree and understory productivity levels of these aspen stands. Forest floor nutrient stocks (C, N, P, S, Ca, Mg, K) under aspen related most strongly to B horizon texture (silt + clay), with finer B horizon textures having greater nutrient stocks. However, availability of Ca and Mg was lower in sites with finer B horizons (clay; silt + clay), possibly due to higher shrub biomass and therefore higher plant uptake of nutrients with finer B horizon textures. Only soils with fine lower soil profile textures (clay; silt + clay) were associated with higher forest floor quality (lower C:N and C:Ca ratios), potentially due to low shrub biomass levels associated with fine lower soil profile textures. Therefore, while B horizon texture may influence nutrient quantity and availability, lower soil texture may more strongly influence the quality of litter nutrient inputs to the forest floor under aspen, potentially due interactions between B horizon and lower soil profile texture on shrub biomass levels. Therefore sites with fine B horizons but coarse lower soil profile textures may provide more optimal conditions for understory productivity due to decreased tree productivity, resulting in greater forest floor nutrient stocks but lower forest floor quality and nutrient availability, whereas sites with fine lower soil profiles and coarse B horizons may provide more optimal conditions for improved tree productivity due to greater forest floor quality and nutrient availability, although total amounts of nutrients may be lower.

3.2. Study limitations

3.2.1. Quantifying the effect of textural layering on nutrient dynamics

The specific contribution of textural layering to site nutrient dynamics is difficult to quantify with the data available. There is little doubt that textural layering does influence site productivity and vegetation species composition in the AOSR (Zettl et al., 2011) and other areas (Host & Pregitzer, 1992; McFadden et al., 1994), which are factors that play an important role in nutrient cycling processes in sandy soils of the AOSR, as discussed in Chapter 2. However, the high variability in textural properties associated with layered soil profiles in this region in combination with the difficulty in finding replicate profiles of similar textural characteristics make clear statistical relationships difficult to obtain.

The often co-varying nature of these texture layers with other soil textural properties also make quantification of their effects on nutrient cycles difficult. For example, the presence of fine texture layers within the soil profile in all cases will, to some extent, alter the average texture of the soil profile, although the degree to which soil profile texture is affected will depend on the cumulative thickness and specific textures of these layers, as well as the precision with which samples from the soil profile are measured. McFadden et al. (1994) found that average silt + clay in sandy soils derived from glacial sediments related strongly to a qualitative "banding code", which was based on the intensity of fine texture banding observed in the field. The effect of the banding and the effect of the average soil texture are, therefore, difficult to separate.

In my study sites, textural factors co-varied with textural layering types in indirect ways as well. For example, when considered in their broad groupings, fine bands were associated with coarser upper profile textures on average (94 % sand) whereas parent material changes were associated with finer upper soil profile textures on average (87 % sand), even when these fine layers were not included in the average texture calculation. However, these textural differences could likely be minimized with careful site selection. For example, in this study we did have aspen sites (M176 and M177) with a fine texture layer at depth that had very similar upper soil profile textures to many jack pine sites with no fine texture layers (Table 2.3). Zettl et al. (2011) also found that textural heterogeneity in sandy soils of the AOSR can vary between sites despite average soil profile textures being equal, although replication was low in their study. It may be possible, therefore, to select sites with similar average textures but different morphology of physical layers, although in reality this may be difficult to accomplish.

One likely role that fine texture layers play in site nutrient dynamics in the AOSR is by influencing dominant canopy type which, as discussed in Chapter 1, can influence site nutrient dynamics in a variety of ways. For example, sites with a fine textured parent material change at depth always had an aspen canopy whereas soils with consistent sandy textures or fine banding were always associated with jack pine canopies. Sites with oil sand deposits, which supported both jack pine and aspen stands, may occupy a transition zone between jack pine and aspen dominated sites (Appendix 1), likely through the respective influence on water movement of each of these physical layering types. Therefore, sites with finer textured lower soil profiles

likely, by acting as a barrier to water movement, allow for an aspen canopy to outcompete jack pine, even in very sandy soils in some cases (M176 and M177; Table 2.3), despite aspen development being highly sensitive to site moisture conditions (Fralish, 1972). This prevalence of aspen over jack pine potentially leads to litter profiles that are associated with greater forest floor quality and nutrient availability (Section 2.3.3 and 2.3.4), compared to similarly textured jack pine sites, further contributing to a positive feedback leading to higher site productivity. Sandy soils underlain by finer textured materials have been shown to increase site index of quaking aspen (Populus tremuloides Michx.) in other studies (Stoeckeler, 1960). The relationship between lower soil profile texture and site index in aspen sites of my study was weak (Table 2.5), likely resulting from the very heterogeneous nature of these fine texture layers, which varied from 42 to 82 % sand content (Appendix 3), and the variation in depth of sandy materials which overly these deposits (20 to 132 cm; Appendix 3), which no doubt has an influence on the magnitude of the effect these layers have on productivity and nutrient cycling. Additionally, with lateral water flow likely occurring in sites with subsurface fine textured layers, complex site hydrologic factors may also add a source of error in quantifying the effects of these layers in site nutrient cycling. Therefore, to determine the effects of textural layering on nutrient pools in this region, sites that controlled differences in the specific textures and depths of soil layers and hydrologic environment would need to be selected to minimize the number of confounding factors being interpreted.

3.3. Future research

3.3.1. Textural layering and nutrient cycling

An improved system to quantify textural layering features in sandy soils of the AOSR is necessary if their effect on forest nutrient and productivity dynamics is to be truly quantified. Although textural heterogeneity was shown to be a good predictor of vegetation productivity on sandy soils of the AOSR (Zettl et al., 2011), the sampling required for this measurement is very time consuming and inconvenient. Perhaps a less time consuming scheme, such as that of Host and Pregitzer (1992), who created a soil moisture index based on the presence or absence of fine texture layers within a certain depth of soil combined with the mean weighted particle diameter, would be more effective. Host and Pregitzer found this moisture index to correlate well with species distributions in NW Michigan, although an index would need to be developed

specifically for the AOSR study area. The unclear but no doubt important role that these depositional features play in the mosaic of ecosystems found on sandy soils throughout the AOSR, through their effect on moisture and nutrient dynamics, requires further investigation. Particularly the effect of these layers on mineral soil nutrient availability and potentially soil chemical weathering rates, would be interesting, and to the best of my knowledge the latter has not been previously studied even in other study areas.

3.3.2. Extractable soil P

The relatively high levels of extractable P in some sandy soils of the AOSR is an interesting feature that has not been focused on to a great extent beyond the current study. Lanoue (2003) hypothesized that extractable P in sandy soils of the AOSR likely relates the accumulation of secondary Fe and Al minerals, which she based on the morphology of these soils, in particular the redder hues associated with the B horizons compared to adjacent horizons. At least one study has shown enrichment of Fe and Al in B horizons of sandy soils in the AOSR (Pawluk, 1960), although whether or not this enrichment is associated with the accumulation of P has not been explicitly studied. My study found relatively good relationships between PRS probe Fe, Al and Ca with extractable B horizon P levels, all of which are elements that are known to affect P solubility in soils and may relate to the degree of podzolization that has occurred. Greater podzolization in some of these sandy soils may therefore be associated with an increase in Fe and Al bound P, which has been shown to relate to greater available P levels in soils of Alberta (Alexander & Robertson, 1968). A study that characterizes the amounts of different forms of P, including Ca, Fe, Al and organically bound P in relation to plant available P is necessary to determine if high extractable P levels in sandy soils of the AOSR is in fact related to the accumulation of Fe and Al. Additionally, the relatively consistent mineralogical makeup of sandy parent materials (Spiers et al., 1989), climate and time of deposition of soil forming materials in the AOSR (Turchenek & Lindsay, 1982), provides a unique opportunity improve our understanding of the processes controlling chemical weathering and development rates of sandy soils in this region, which may subsequently relate to the accumulation and availability of P in these soils.

3.4. Recommendations for the reclamation of sandy soils in the AOSR

Upper soil profile texture (% sand) related most strongly to differences in quantities of total and available nutrients at the soil surface and quality of the forest floor, most likely through interactions between texture and vegetation productivity. Because soil texture is a relatively permanent site property and has likely changed little in these sandy soils since they were deposited, soil texture should be a primary focus in the reclamation of sandy soils in the AOSR due to its influence on forest productivity levels and nutrient accumulation and availability at the soil surface. If one textural property was to be used to determine the productive capacity of a reclaimed site, it should be upper soil profile texture.

However, if jack pine and aspen stands and their associated range in productivity levels are to be restored, then specific textural characteristics should be considered to ensure the greatest probability of reclamation success. The range in jack pine productivity levels, and therefore forest floor nutrient quantities and quality, should be targeted with soils that vary little in their textures down to a depth of at least 2m, as was the case for all but one jack pine site in this study, which were typically associated with textures that ranged from 94 to 99 % sand in the upper and lower soil profile, but may range down to 88 and 89 % sand in the upper and lower soil profile, which was the case for one site (M178).

The range in aspen productivity and its associated understory may be best targeted with generally finer textured soil materials and a range of upper and lower soil profile textures. Aspen sites associated with high understory biomass and low tree productivity, and therefore high forest floor nutrient stocks but low forest floor quality, may best be captured with relatively fine B horizon textures and coarse lower soil profile textures. Coarse upper soil profile textures and fine lower soil profile textures may best capture sites with relatively high tree productivity but low understory productivity, and therefore high forest floor quality and nutrient availability but low nutrient quantity. Finally, sites with fine upper soil profile textures and fine lower soil profile textures will likely best capture high tree and understory productivity, potentially leading to high nutrient quantity and quality in the forest floor. However, the generally poor correlations between texture parameters and nutrients in aspen sites make these relationships difficult to conclude for certain, and a separate study focused specifically on aspen stands developed on sandy soils in this region may be necessary. Additionally, the use of multiple regression to assess

the effect of the interaction between B horizon texture and lower soil profile texture on soil nutrient pools under aspen may be of interest in future research, although at the time of writing I have not tested this. If the range in vegetation productivity levels of aspen and jack pine stands developed on coarse textured soils in the AOSR is to be restored, then textural characteristics that relate to the range in forest floor nutrient capital, quality and availability should be reestablished accordingly, giving reclaimed sandy soils of the AOSR a greater probability of self-sustainability and resilience to future disturbance.

Literature cited

- Alban, D. H. (1982). Effects of Nutrient Accumulation by Aspen, Spruce, and Pine on Soil Properties. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 46(4), 853–861.
- Alberta Environment. (2010). Guidelines for Reclamation to Forest Vegetation in the Athabasca Oil Sands Region, 2nd Edition. Prepared by the Terrestrial Subgroup of the Reclamation Working Group of the Cumulative Environmental Management Association. Fort McMurray, Alberta.
- Alberta Environment and Sustainable Resource Development. (2013). Alberta regeneration standards for the mineable oil sands. Government of Alberta, Department of Environment and Sustainable Resource Development. Edmonton, Alberta.
- Alberta Government. (2016). Alberta Energy: Facts and Statistics. Retrieved May 2, 2016, from http://www.energy.gov.ab.ca/OilSands/791.asp
- Alexander, T. G., & Robertson, J. A. (1968). INORGANIC PHOSPHORUS FORMS IN SOME ALBERTA SOILS AS RELATED TO SOIL DEVELOPMENT, PARENT MATERIAL AND AVAILABLE PHOSPHORUS. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 48, 289–295.
- Amundson, R. G., & Davidson, E. A. (1990). Carbon dioxide and nitrogenous gases in the soil atmosphere. *Journal of Geochemical Exploration*, 38(1), 13–41.
- Anderson, D. W. (1988). The effect of parent material and soil development on nutrient cycling in temperate ecosystems. *Biogeochemistry*, 5(1), 71–97.
- Ashworth, J., & Mrazek, K. (1995). "Modified Kelowna" test for available phosphorus and potassium in soil. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis*, 26(5-6), 731–739.
- Attiwill, P. M., & Adams, M. A. (1993). Tansley Nutrient Review No. 50. Nutrient Cycling in Forests. New Phytologist, 124(4), 561–582.
- Beckingham, J. D., & Archibald, J. H. (1996). Field guide to ecosites of Northern Alberta.Edmonton, Alberta: Nothern Forestry Centre.
- Bernier, B., & Frison, G. (1984). Nutrient cycling in Populus: A literature review with implications in intensively-managed plantations. (D. Morgan & L. Zsuffa, Eds.). IEA/FE

Programme B, Biomass Growth and Production and Environment Canada, Canadian Forestry Service.

- Binkley, D., Suarez, F., Rhoades, C., Stottlemyer, R., & Valentine, D. W. (1995). Parent material depth controls ecosystem composition and function on a riverside terrace in northwestern Alaska. *Ecoscience*, 2(4), 377–381.
- Birkeland, P. W. (1999). Soils and geomorphology (3rd ed.). New York, New York: Oxford University Press.
- Black, C. A. (1984). Soil-Plant Relationships (2nd ed.). Malabar, Florida: Robert E. Krieger Publishing Company.
- Bonan, G. B., & Shugart, H. H. (1989). Environmental Factors and Ecological Processes in Boreal Forests. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst., 20(1989), 1–28.
- Bonham, C. D. (2013). Measurements for trrestrial vegetation (2nd ed.). Chichester, West Sussex: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- Brady, N. C., & Weil, R. R. (2010). *Elements of the nature and properties of soils* (3rd ed.). Upper Saddle River, New Jersey: Prentice Hall.
- Castle, S. (2010). Microplate Nutrient Analysis: NH4+, NO3-, PO43+. Retrieved April 1, 2015, from http://www.colorado.edu/eeb/facultysites/barger/Linked PDFS/Methods/Microplate Nutrient Analysis.pdf
- Côté, L., Brown, S., Paré, D., Fyles, J., & Bauhus, J. (2000). Dynamics of carbon and nitrogen mineralization in relation to stand type, stand age and soil texture in the boreal mixedwood. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 32, 1079–1090.
- Davies, R. I., Coulson, C. B., & Lewis, D. A. (1964). Polyphenols in plant, humus, and soil. *Journal of Soil Science*, 15(2), 310–318.
- De Groot, P. A. (Ed.). (2004). Handbook of stable isotope analytical techniques (Vol. 1). Elsevier.
- Doane, T. A., & Horwath, W. R. (2003). Spectrophotometric determination of nitrate with a single reagent. *Analytical Letters*, *36*(12), 2713–2722.

- Doran, J. W. (2002). Soil health and global sustainability: translating science into practice. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 88(2), 119–127.
- Drever, J. I. (1994). The effect of land plants on weathering rates of silicate minerals. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 58(10), 2325–2332.
- Ehrenfeld, J. G. (2000). Defining the limits of restoration: The need for realistic goals. *Restoration Ecology*, 8(1), 2–9.
- Everett, K. R., & Brown, J. (1982). Some recent trends in the physical and chemical characterization and mapping of tundra soils, Arctic Slope of Alaska. *Soil Science*, 133(5), 264–280.
- Evert, F. (1985). Systems of equations for estimating ovendry mass of 18 Canadian tree species. Petawawa National Forestry Institute, Canadian Forestry Service. Ontario.
- Farrish, K. W., Doolittle, J. A., & Gamble, E. E. (1990). Loamy substrata and forest productivity of sandy glacial drift soils in Michigan. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 70, 181–187.
- Fenn, M. E., Bytnerowicz, A., Schilling, S. L., & Ross, C. S. (2015). Atmospheric deposition of nitrogen, sulfur and base cations in jack pine stands in the Athabasca Oil Sands Region, Alberta, Canada. *Environmental Pollution*, 196, 497–510.
- Finér, L., Messier, C., & De Grandpré, L. (1997). Fine-root dynamics in mixed boreal conifer broad-leafed forest stands at different successional stages after fire. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 27(3), 304–314.
- Finzi, A. C., Canham, C. D., & van Breemen, N. (1998a). Canopy tree-soil interactions within temperate forests: species effects on pH and cations. *Ecological Applications*, 8(2), 447– 454.
- Finzi, A. C., Canham, C. D., & van Breemen, N. (1998b). Canopy tree-soil interactions within temperate forests: species effects on soil carbon and nitrogen. *Ecological Applications*, 8(2), 440-446.
- Flanagan, P. W., & Van Cleve, K. (1983). Nutrient cycling in relation to decomposition and organic-matter quality in taiga ecosystems. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 13, 795–

817.

- Florence, R. G., & Lamb, D. (1974). Influence of stand and site on radiata pine litter in South Australia. *New Zealand Journal of Forestry Science*, 4(3), 502–510.
- Fortescue, J. A. C. (1980). *Environmental geochemistry: A holistic approach*. New York, New York: Springer-Verlag.
- Fralish, J. S. (1972). Youth, maturity, and old age. In Aspen: Symposium Proceedings. North Central Forest Experiment Station, Forest Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture (pp. 52– 58). St Paul, Minnesota.
- Gordon, A. G. (1981). Impacts of harvesting on nutrient cycling in the boreal mixedwood forest.
 In R. D. Whitney & K. M. McClain (Eds.), *Boreal Mixedwood Symposium Proceedings*.
 Sep 16-18, 1980. Environ. Can., Can. For. Serv., Great Lakes For. Res. Cent., Sault Ste.
 Marie, Ont. COJFRC Symp. Proc. O-P-9 (pp. 121–140). Thunder Bay, Ontario.
- Gosz, J. R., Likens, G. E., & Bormann, F. H. (1976). Organic matter and nutrient dynamics of the forest and forest floor in the Hubbard Brook Forest. *Oecologia*, 22(67), 305–320.
- Hannah, P. R., & Zahner, R. (1970). Nonpedogenetic texture bands in outwash sands of Michigan: their origin and influence on tree growth. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 34, 134–136.
- Hannam, K. D. (2006). The Organic Matter and Microbial Community Composition of Forest Floors from Boreal Mixedwood Stands in Northern Alberta (Doctoral dissertation).
 University of Alberta. Edmonton, Alberta.
- Harmon, M. E., Baker, G. A., Spycher, G., & Greene, S. E. (1990). Leaf-Litter Decomposition in the Picea / Tsuga Forests of Olympic National Park, Washington, U.S.A. Forest Ecology and Management, 31, 55–66.
- Harrell Jr, F. E., & Dupont, C. (2016). Hmisc: Harrell Miscellaneous. R package version 3.17-2. Retrieved from http://cran.r-project.org/package=Hmisc
- Haynes, R. J. (1982). Effects of liming on phosphate availability in acid soils A critical review. *Plant and Soil*, 68(3), 289–308.

- Host, G. E., Pregitzer, K. S., Ramm, C. W., Lusch, D. P., & Cleland, D. T. (1988). Variation in overstory biomass among glacial landforms and ecological land units in northwestern Lower Michigan. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 18(6), 659–668.
- Host, G. E., & Pregitzer, K. S. (1992). Geomorphic influences on ground-flora and overstory composition in upland forests of northwestern lower Michigan. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 22(10), 1547–1555.
- Huang, S., Titus, S., & Klappstein, G. (1997). Subregion-based compatible height and site index models for young and mature stands in Alberta: Revisions and summaries (part II). For.Manage.Res.Note, (9).
- Hurlbert, S. H., & Lombardi, C. M. (2009). Final Collapse of the Neyman-Pearson Decision Theoretic Framework and Rise of the neoFisherian. *Annales Zoologici Fennici*, 46(5), 311– 349.
- Jenny, H. (1994). *Factors of soil formation: a system of quantitative pedology*. Mineola, NY: Dover Publications.
- Jongman, R. H., Ter Braak, C. J., & Van Tongeren, O. F. (Eds.). (1995). Data analysis in community and landscape ecology (Vol. 2). Cambridge university press, Cambridge.
- Jongmans, A. G., Lundström, U. S., van Breemen, N., van Hees, P. A. W., Finlay, R. D., Srinivasan, M., ... Olsson, M. (1997). Rock-eating fungi. *Nature*, 389(6652), 682–683.
- Kelly, E. F., Chadwick, O. A., & Hilinski, T. E. (1998). The effect of plants on mineral weathering. *Biogeochemistry*, 42, 21–53.
- Kung, K. J. S. (1990a). Preferential flow in a sandy vadose zone: 1. Field observation. *Geoderma*, 46(1-3), 51–58.
- Kung, K. J. S. (1990b). Preferential flow in a sandy vadose zone: 2. Mechanism and implications. *Geoderma*, 46(1-3), 59–71.
- Lajtha, K., Driscoll, C. T., Jarrell, W. M., & Elliott, E. T. (1999). Soil phosphorus: characterization and total element analysis. In *Standard soil methods for long-term ecological research* (pp. 115–142). Oxford University Press, New York.

- Lamarche, J., Bradley, R. L., Pare, D., Legare, S., & Bergeron, Y. (2004). Soil parent material may control forest floor properties more than stand type or stand age in mixedwood boreal forests. *Ecoscience*, 11(2), 228–237.
- Lamb, D. (1975). Patterns of Nitrogen Mineralization in the Forest Floor of Stands of Pinus Radiata on Different Soils. *Journal of Ecology*, 63(2), 615–625.
- Lanoue, A. (2003). Phosphorus Content and Accumulation of Carbon and Nitrogen in Boreal Forest Soils (MSc Thesis). University of Alberta. Edmonton, Alberta.
- Maynard, D. G., Kalra, Y. P., & Crumbaugh, J. A. (2006). Nitrate and Exchangeable Ammonium Nitrogen. In M. R. Carter & E. G. Gregorich (Eds.), *Soil Sampling and Methods of Analysis* (2nd ed., Vol. 44). Boca Raton, Florida: CRC Press.
- McClaugherty, C. A., Pastor, J., Aber, J. D., & Melillo, J. M. (1985). Forest Litter Decomposition in Relation to Soil Nitrogen Dynamics and Litter Quality. *Ecology*, 66(1), 266–275.
- McCune, B., & Grace, J. B. (2002). MRPP (Multi-response Permutation Procedures) and Related Techniques. In *Analysis of ecological communities*. MjM Software Design, Oregon.
- McFadden, J. P., MacDonald, N. W., Witter, J. A., & Zak, D. R. (1994). Fine-textured soil bands and oak forest productivity in northwestern lower Michigan, USA. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 34(1), 928–933.
- Melillo, J. M., Aber, J. D., & Muratore, J. F. (1982). Nitrogen and Lignin Control of Hardwood Leaf Litter Decomposition. *Ecology*, 63(3), 621–626.
- Miao, Z., & Li, C. (2007). Biomass Estimates for Major Boreal Forest Species in West-Central Canada. Nat. Resour. Can., Can. For. Serv., Can. Wood Fibre Cent., North For. Cent. Edmonton, Alberta. Inf. Rep. FI-X-002.
- Nagy, B., & Gagnon, G. C. (1961). The geochemistry of the Athabascs petroleum deposit. I. Elution and spectroscopic analysis of the petroleum from the vicinity of McMurray, Alberta. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Act*, 23, 155–185.
- Nambiar, E. K. S. (1996). Sustained Productivity of Forests Is a Continuing Challenge to Soil

Science. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 60(6), 1629–1642.

- Natural Regions Committee. (2006). Natural Regions and Subregions of Alberta. (D. J. Downing & W. W. Pettapiece, Eds.), Government of Alberta. Pub. No. T/852.
- Nikiforoff, C. C. (1959). Reappraisal of the Soil. Pedogenesis consists of transactions in matter and energy between the soil and its surroundings. *Science*, *129*, 186–196.
- Oksanen, J. (2015). Multivariate Analysis of Ecological Communities in R. University Oulu, Finland.
- Oksanen, J. F., Blanchet, G., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., Minchin, P. R., O'Hara, R. B., ... Wagner, H. (2015). vegan: Community Ecology Package. R package version 2.2-1. Retrieved from http://cran.r-project.org/package=vegan
- Ollier, C. D. (1975). *Weathering*. (K. M. Clayton, Ed.). Tweedale Court, Edinburgh: Longman Group Limited.
- Ovington, J. D. (1954). Studies of the Development of Woodland Conditions Under Different Trees : The Forest Floor. *Journal of Ecology*, 42(1), 71–80.
- Ovington, J. D. (1965). Woodlands. The English Universities Press, London.
- Pastor, J., Aber, J., McClaugherty, C. A., & Melillo, J. M. (1984). Aboveground Production and N and P Cycling Along a Nitrogen Mineralization Gradient on Blackhawk Island, Wisconsin. *Ecology*, 65(1), 256–268.
- Pawluk, S. (1960). Some podzol soils of alberta. Canadian Journal of Soil Science, 40(1), 1-14.
- Pawluk, S., & Arneman, H. F. (1961). Some Forest Soil Characteristics and Their Relationship to Jack Pine Growth. *Forest Science*, 7(2), 160–173.
- Perala, D. A., & Alban, D. H. (1982). Biomass, nutrient distribution and litterfall in Populus, Pinus and Picea stands on two different soils in Minnesota. *Plant and Soil*, 64, 177–192.
- Peterson, E. B., & Peterson, N. M. (1992). Ecology, management, and use of aspen and balsam poplar in the prairie provinces, Canada. Forestry Canada, Northwest Region, Forestry Centre. Edmonton, Alberta. Spec. Rep 1.

- Prescott, C. E. (2002). The influence of the forest canopy on nutrient cycling. *Tree Physiology*, 22, 1193–1200.
- Prescott, C. E., Chappell, H. N., & Vesterdal, L. (2000). Nitrogen turnover in forest floors of coastal Douglas-fir at sites differing in soil nitrogen capital. *Ecology*, 81(7), 1878–1886.
- Prescott, C. E., Maynard, D. G., & Laiho, R. (2000). Humus in northern forests: Friend or foe? Forest Ecology and Management, 133, 23–36.
- Prescott, C. E., Vesterdal, L., Pratt, J., Venner, K. H., de Montigny, L. M., & Trofymow, J. A. (2000). Nutrient concentrations and nitrogen mineralization in forest floors of single species conifer plantations in coastal British Columbia. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 30(9), 1341–1352.
- R Core Team. (2014). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Retrieved from http://www.r-project.org/
- Raulund-Rasmussen, K., & Vejre, H. (1995). Effect of tree species and soil properties on nutrient immobilization in the forest floor. *Plant and Soil*, *168*, 345–352.
- Reich, P. B., Grigal, D. F., Aber, J. D., & Gower, S. T. (1997). Nitrogen Mineralization and Productivity in 50 Hardwood and Conifer Stands on Diverse Soils. *Ecology*, 78(2), 335– 347.
- Schlesinger, W. H., & Bernhardt, E. S. (2013). *Biogeochemistry, An Analysis of Global Change* (3rd ed.). Waltham, MA: Academic Press.
- Schoenholtz, S. H., Van Miegroet, H., & Burger, J. A. (2000). A review of chemical and physical properties as indicators of forest soil quality: challenges and opportunities. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 138(1-3), 335–356.
- Scott, N. A., & Binkley, D. (1997). Foliage litter quality and annual net N mineralization: Comparison across North American forest sites. *Oecologia*, *111*(2), 151–159.
- Smith, C. A. S., Webb, K. T., Kenney, E., Anderson, A., & Kroetsch, D. (2011). Brunisolic soils of Canada: Genesis, distribution, and classification. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 91, 695–717.

- Soil Classification Working Group. (1998). The canadian system of soil classification (3rd ed.). Agric. and Agri-Food Can.
- Soil Survey Staff. (2009). Soil Survey Field and Laboratory Methods Manual. Soil Survey Investigations Report No. 51, Version 1.0. (R. Burt, Ed.). National Soil Survey Center, Natural Resources Conservation Service, US Department of Agriculture.
- Spiers, G. A., Dudas, M. J., & Turchenek, L. W. (1989). The chemical and mineralogical composition of soil parent materials in northeast Alberta. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 69(4), 721–737.
- Staaf, H. (1987). Foliage litter turnover and earthworm populations in three beech forests of contrasting soil and vegetation types. *Oecologia*, 72(1), 58–64.
- Stone, E. L., & Gibson, E. J. (1975). Effects of Species on Nutrient Cycles and Soil Change [and Discussion]. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 271(911), 149–162.
- Stump, L., & Binkley, D. (1993). Relationships between litter quality and nitrogen availability in Rocky Mountain Forests. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 23, 492–502.
- Sucoff, E. (1982). *Water Relations of the Aspens. Technical Bulletin 338*. Agricultural Experiment Station, University of Minnesota.
- Swift, M. J., Heal, O. W., & Anderson, J. M. (1979). *Decomposition in terrestrial ecosystems* (5th ed.). University of California Press.
- Taylor, B. R., Parsons, W. F., & Parkinson, D. (1989). Decomposition of Populus tremuloides leaf litter accelerated by addition of Alnus crispa litter. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 19, 674–679.
- Thomas, K. D., & Prescott, C. E. (2000). Nitrogen availability in forest floors of three tree species on the same site: the role of litter quality. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 30, 1698–1706.
- Turchenek, L. W., & Lindsay, J. D. (1982). Soils Inventory of the Alberta Oil Sands Environmental Research Program Study Area. Alberta Research Council Soils Department.

Edmonton, Alberta.

- USEPA, E. (2007). Method 3051: Microwave assisted acid digestion of sediments, sludges, soils, and oils. *Test Methods for Evaluating Solid Waste*, (February), 1–30.
- Väänänen, R., Hristov, J., Tanskanen, N., Hartikainen, H., Nieminen, M., & Ilvesniemi, H. (2008). Phosphorus sorption properties in podzolic forest soils and soil solution phosphorus concentration in undisturbed and disturbed soil profiles. *Boreal Environment Research*, 13(6), 553–567.
- van Breemen, N., Finzi, A. C., & Canham, C. D. (1997). Canopy tree-soil interactions within temperate forests: effects of soil elemental composition and texture on species distributions. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, *27*(7), 1110–1116.
- Van Cleve, K. (1974). Organic matter quality in relation to decomposition. In A. J. Holding, O. W. Heal, S. F. Maclean, & P. W. Flanagan (Eds.), *Soil organisms and decomposition in tundra* (pp. 311–324). Stockholm, Sweden: Tundra Biome Steering Committee.
- Van Cleve, K., Barney, R., & Schlentner, R. (1981). Evidence of temperature control of production and nutrient cycling in two interior Alaska black spruce ecosystems. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 11, 258–273.
- Van Cleve, K., Oliver, L., Schlentner, R., Viereck, L. A., & Dyrness, C. T. (1983). Productivity and nutrient cycling in taiga forest ecosystems. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 13, 747–766.
- Vesterdal, L., & Raulund-Rasmussen, K. (1998). Forest floor chemistry under seven tree species along a soil fertility gradient. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 28, 1636–1647.
- Vitousek, P. M., & Sanford, R. L. (1986). Nutrient cycling in moist tropical forests. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst., 17, 137–167.
- Vitousek, P. M., Turner, D. R., & Kitayama, K. (1995). Foliar Nutrients During Long-Term Soil Development in Hawaiian Montane Rain Forest. *Ecology*, *76*(3), 712–720.
- Watson, K. (2014). Soils Illustrated Field Descriptions (1st ed.). Kamloops, British Columbia: International Remote Sensing Surveys Ltd.

- Weatherburn, M. W. (1967). Phenol-Hypochlorite Reaction for Determination of Ammonia. *Analytical Chemistry*, 39(8), 971–974.
- West, P. W. (2009). Tree and forest measurement. Springer Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Western Ag. (2014). PRS technology. Retrieved May 1, 2014, from http://www.westernag.ca/innovations/technology/burial
- White, D. P., & Wood, R. S. (1958). Growth variations in a red pine plantation influenced by a deep-lying fine soil layer. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 22(2), 174–177.
- Whitney, G. G. (1991). Relation of plant species to substrate, landscape position, and aspect in north central Massachusetts. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 21(8), 1245–1252.
- Zettl, J., Lee Barbour, S., Huang, M., Si, B., & Leskiw, L. A. (2011). Influence of textural layering on field capacity of coarse soils. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, *91*, 133–147.

Appendix 1. Supplementary tables

Site ID	Canopy type	Textural layering type	Parent material type
M57-1	Jack pine	None	Glaciofluvial sand
M57-2	Jack pine	Fine bands	Glaciofluvial sand
M118-1	Jack pine	None	Eolian
M118-2	Jack pine	Fine bands	Eolian
M152-1	Jack pine	Oil sand deposits	Glaciofluvial ice contact
M152-2	Jack pine	Oil sand deposits	Glaciofluvial ice contact
M172	Aspen	Parent material change	Glaciofluvial sand
M175	Aspen	Oil sand deposits	Glaciofluvial ice contact
M176	Aspen	Parent material change	Glaciofluvial sand
M177	Aspen	Parent material change	Glaciofluvial sand
M178	Jack pine	Fine bands	Glaciofluvial sand
M179	Aspen	Parent material change	Glaciofluvial sand
M180	Jack pine	Fine bands	Eolian
M181	Jack pine	Fine bands	Eolian
M182	Aspen	Oil sand deposits	Glaciofluvial ice contact
M183	Aspen	Parent material change	Glaciofluvial sand

	Forest floor depth									
Salaat	Jack pi	n (n = 7)								
variable	ρ	p-value	ρ	p-value						
С	0.81	0.008	0.86	0.01						
Ν	0.85	0.004	0.68	0.09						
Р	0.90	0.001	0.89	0.01						
S	0.81	0.01	0.64	0.12						
Ca	0.85	0.004	0.68	0.09						
Mg	0.90	0.001	0.75	0.05						
К	0.93	< 0.001	1.00	< 0.001						
Na	0.98	< 0.001	0.82	0.02						
Mn	0.92	0.001	0.50	0.25						
Fe	0.90	0.001	0.64	0.12						
Al	0.93	< 0.001	0.96	0.001						
Site index	0.58	0.10	-0.20	0.70						
Overstory biomass	0.31	0.42	-0.18	0.70						
S hrub biomass	0.32	0.40	0.64	0.11						

Appendix 2. Site and soil description sheets

Site description codes:

Parent geologic material (PGM)							
Glaciofluvial outwash sands	GLFL						
Glaciofluvial ice contact deposits	GLFL-IC						
Eolian	EOLI						
Glaciolacustrine	GLLC						
Morainal	TILL						
Soil classification (CSSC)							
Orthic Dystric Brunisol	ODB						
Eluviated Dystric Brunisol	EDB						
Orthic Eutric Brunisol	OEB						
Eluviated Eutric Brunisol	EEB						

Soil description codes (Watson, 2014):

Moisture			
Class	Code		
Dry	D		
Moist	М		
Wet	W		
Texture			
Class	Code		
Sand	S		
Loamy sand	LS		
Sandy loam	SL		
Loam	LS		
Sandy clay loam	SCL		
Ho	rizon Be	oundary	
Distinctness		Form	l
Class	Code	Class	Code
Abrupt	А	Smooth	S
Clear	С	Wavy	W
Gradual	G	Irregular	Ι
Diffuse	D	Broken	В

				Structure			
Grade	•	Size		Туре		Consistence	e
Class	Code	Class	Code	Class Code		Class	Code
Weak	W	Very fine	VF	Massive MA		Loose	1
Moderate	М	Fine	F	Single grain SGR		Very friable	2
Strong	S	Medium	М	Subangular blocky SE		Friable	3
		Coarse	С	Angular blocky	ABK		
	Coarse	fragments					
Size		Shape					
Class	Code	Class	Code				
Gravels	G	Rounded	R				
Cobbles	С	Subrounded	SR				
Stones	S	Subangular	SA				
Boulders	В	Angular	Α				
	Ro	ooting					
Abunda	nce	Orientatio	n				
Class	Code	Class	Code				
Very few	VF	Vertical	VF				
Few	F	Horizontal	Н				
Plentiful	Р	Oblique	0				
Abundant	Α	Random	R				
	Μ	ottles					
Abunda	nce	Size					
Class	Code	Class	Code				
Few	F	Fine	F				
Common	С	Medium	М				
Many	М	Coarse	С				

		Con	cretions		
Kind		Abundanc	e	Location	
Class	Code	Class	Code	Class	Code
Oxides	6	Few	F	Around root channels	1
		Common	С	Local concentrations	2
		Many	М	Throughout matrix	3
Co	ncretion	s continued			
Size		Shape			
Class	Code	Class	Code		
Fine	F	Spherical	S		
Medium	М	Oblong	0		
Coarse	С	Irregular	Ι		
		Plate-like	Р		
		Oil sar	ıd deposi	its*	
Size		Shape		Consistence	
Class	Code	Class	Code	Class	Code
Very fine	VF	Rounded	R	Loose	1
Fine	F	Subrounded	SR	Soft	2
Medium	М	Subangular	SA	Slightly hard	3
Coarse	С	Angular	Α	Hard	4
Very coarse	VCO				
Effervescen	ce				
Class	Code				
Very weak	VW				
Weak	W				
Moderate	М				
Strong	S				

*Size classes are taken from structure size classes, shape classes are taken from coarse fragment classes and consistence classes are taken from dry consistence classes

				Site D	escriptio	n						
Site			M57-1 Slope Position							Middle		
Location		57.07338	733889 -111.5936667 Slope Percent						1			
Soil Type			EDB Slope Aspect						NW			
PGM(1,2)			GLFL		High wa	ter table				-		
Landform			Level		Max Ro	oting Dept	th(cm)			46		
LandUse		τ	Jndisturbe	d	Depth t	o Carbonat	es (cm)			-		
		I	S	Soil Profi	le Descri	ption	. ,					
Horizon			LF	Ae	AB	Bm1	Bm2	BC1	BC2	C1	C2	
Depth (cm)			2-0	0-7	7-20	20-49	49-75	75-83	83-95	95-135	135-200	
Dry color			-	10YR4/2	10YR5/6	10YR5/8	10YR5/8	10YR6/6	10YR5/8	10YR7/4	10YR7/4	
Moist color			-	10YR2/1	10YR4/6	10YR4/6	10YR4/6	10YR5/6	10YR4/6	10YR6/6	10YR5/6	
Moisture			D	М	М	М	М	М	М	М	-	
Texture			-	LS	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	
Horizon	Distinctness		А	С	D	С	А	А	А	-	-	
Boundary	Form		W	W	-	S	S	В	В	-	-	
		Grade	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	р ·	Size	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	Primary	Туре	-	SGR	SGR	SGR	SGR	SGR	SGR	SGR	-	
G		Consistence	-	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	-	
Structure	Secondary T	Grade	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
		Size	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
		Туре	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
		Consistence	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Coarse		%	-	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	-	
Fragments	Primary	Size	-	G,C	G,C	G,C	G,C	G,C	G,C	G,C	-	
(>2mm)	-	Shape	-	SR,R	SR,R	SR,R	SR,R	SR,R	SR,R	SR,R	-	
		Very fine	-	P/R	P/V-H	VF/R	-	-	-	-	-	
D (Abundance /	Fine	-	VF/R	P/V-H	VF/R	-	-	-	-	-	
Rooting	Orientation	Medium	-	F/R	P/H	-	-	-	-	-	-	
		Coarse	-	F/H	F/H	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	Abundance		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
M - ++1	Size		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Mottles	Contrast		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	Color in field		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	7.5YR6/8	-	
	Kind		-	-	-	-	-	-	6	-	-	
	Abundance		-	-	-	-	-	-	С	-	-	
Commentions	Size		-	-	-	-	-	-	F	-	-	
Concretions	Location	Location		-	-	-	-	-	2	-	-	
	Shape	Shape		-	-	-	-	-	S	-	-	
	Color in field		-	-	-	-	-	-	5YR4/6	-	-	
	Percent		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Oil Sands	Size		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Deposits	Shape		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	Consistence		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Effervescence(10%)		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	

				Site Descri	ption				
Site M57-2					Slope Position Middle				
Location		57.07308	33 -111.5	935833 Slop	Slope Percent 0				
Soil Type			EDB	Slop	be Aspect			-	
PGM(1,2)			GLFL	Hig	h water table			-	
Landform			Level	Max	x Rooting De	pth(cm)		61	
Land Use		τ	Jndisturbed	Dep	oth to Carbon	ates (cm)		-	
			Soi	l Profile De	scription				
Horizon			LFH	Ae	Bm1	BC	C1	C2	C3
Depth (cm)			3-0	0-10.5	10.5-49	49-75	75-95	95-114	114-200
Dry color			-	10YR4/2	10YR5/8	10YR6/6	10YR6/6	10YR6/6	10YR6/4
Moist Color			-	10YR2/1	10YR4/6	10YR5/6	10YR5/6	10YR5/4	10YR5/4
Moisture			D	D	М	М	М	М	-
Texture			-	LS	S	S	S	S	S
Horizon	Distinctness		А	С	G	D	-	-	-
Boundary	Form		W	W	W	W	-	-	-
		Grade	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	D	Size	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Primary	Туре	-	SGR	SGR	SGR	SGR	SGR	-
Stanotina		Consistence	-	1	1	1	1	1	-
Structure	Secondary	Grade	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
		Size	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
		Туре	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
		Consistence	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Coarse		%	-	-	5	-	-	-	-
Fragments	Primary	Size	-	-	G,C	-	-	-	-
(>2mm)		Shape	-	-	R,SR	-	-	-	-
		Very fine	-	A/R	VF/V	-	-	-	-
Desting	Abundance /	Fine	-	A/R	VF/V	VF/V	-	-	-
Rooting	Orientation	Medium	-	P/H	P/H	-	-	-	-
		Coarse	-	F/H	F/H	-	-	-	-
	Abundance		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Mottles	Size		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Worres	Contrast		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Color in field		-	-	-	-	-	-	7.5YR5/8
	Kind		-	-	-	6	-	-	-
	Abundance		-	-	-	F	-	-	-
Concretions	Size		-	-	-	С	-	-	-
concretions	Location		-	-	-	2	-	-	-
	Shape	Shape		-	-	Р	-	-	-
	Color in field		-	-	-	5YR4/6	-	-	-
	Percent		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Oil Sands	Size		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Deposits	Shape		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Consistence		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Effervescence(10%)		-	-	-	-	-	-	-

				Site D	escriptio	n					
Site			M118-1		Slope P	Slope Position Middle					
Location		57.51102	78 -11	1.4299722	² Slope P	ercent			<5		
Soil Type			EDB		Slope A	spect			SW		
PGM(1,2)			EOLI		High wa	ter table				-	
Landform			Level		Max Ro	oting Dept	th(cm)			25	
Land Use		τ	Jndisturbe	d	Depth t	o Carbonat	es (cm)			-	
		•	S	Soil Profi	le Descri	ption					
Horizon			LFH	Ae	Bm1	Bm2	BCfj1	BCfj2	BCfj3	BCfJ4	BCfj5
Depth (cm)			2-0	0-3	3-25	25-70	70-108	108-143	143-171	171-185	185-200
Dry color			-	10YR5/2	10YR6/4	10YR6/6	10YR7/3	10YR7/4	10YR6/4	10YR6/4	10YR6/4
Moist color			-	10YR3/2	10YR5/4	10YR4/6	10YR5/3	10YR5/3	10YR4/3	10YR4/3	10YR4/3
Moisture			М	М	М	М	М	М	М	MW	MW
Texture			-	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S
Horizon	Distinctness		А	С	G	-	-	-	-	-	-
Boundary	Form		W	W	W	-	-	-	-	-	-
		Grade	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	р ·	Size	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Primary	Туре	-	SGR	SGR	SGR	SGR	-	-	-	-
G (Consistence	-	1	1	1	1	-	-	-	-
Structure		Grade	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	G 1	Size	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Secondary	Туре	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
		Consistence	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Coarse		%	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Fragments	Primary	Size	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
(>2mm)		Shape	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
		Very fine	-	-	-	VF	-	-	-	-	-
D (Abundance /	Fine	-	Р	Р	-	-	-	-	-	-
Rooting	Orientation	Medium	-	Р	Р	-	-	-	-	-	-
		Coarse	-	-	F	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Abundance		-	-	-	F	F	F	F	F	F
Mattle	Size		-	-	-	М	М	М	F	С	F
Mottles	Contrast		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Color in field		-	-	-	-	5YR6/8	5YR5/8	-	5YR5/8	-
	Kind		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Abundance		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Congrations	Size		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Concretions	Location		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Shape		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Color in field		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Percent		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Oil Sands	Size		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Deposits	Shape		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Consistence		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Effervescence	(10%)			-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

				Site Descri	ption						
Site			M118-2	M118-2 Slope Position					Upper		
Location		57.51052	78 -111.4301111 Slope Percent					3			
Soil Type EDB Slope Aspect								S			
PGM(1,2)			EOLI	Hig	h water table			-			
Landform			Level	Max	x Rooting De	pth(cm)		30			
LandUse		τ	Jndisturbed	Dep	oth to Carbon	ates (cm)		-			
		1	Soi	l Profile De	scription						
Horizon			LF	AE	Bm1	Bm2	BC	C1	C2		
Depth (cm)			3.5-0	0-6	6-40	40-60	60-80	80-128	128-215		
Dry color			-	10YR5/2	10YR6/6	10YR7/6	10YR7/4	10YR6/4	10YR6/4		
Moist color			-	10YR3/2	10YR4/6	10YR5/6	10YR4/3	10YR4/4	10YR4/4		
Moisture			D	D	D-M	М	М	М	М		
Texture			-	S	S	S	S	S	S		
Horizon	Distinctness		С	С	G	G	С	С	-		
Boundary	Form		W	W	W	W	S	S	-		
		Grade	-	W	W	М	W	М	М		
	D ·	Size	-	-	М	М	М	С	М		
	Primary	Туре	-			ABK	ABK	ABK	ABK		
C1 1		Consistence	-	1	2	2	2	3	3		
Structure		Grade	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
	G 1	Size	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
	Secondary	Туре	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
		Consistence	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Coarse	%	%	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Fragments	Primary	Size	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
(>2mm)		Shape	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
		Very fine	-	VF/R	-	-	-	-	-		
Deetine	Abundance /	Fine	-	F/V	F/R	-	-	-	-		
Rooting	Orientation	Medium	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
		Coarse	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
	Abundance		-	-	-	-	-	М	-		
Mottles	Size		-	-	-	-	-	М	-		
Wones	Contrast		-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
	Color in field		-	-	-	-	-	10YR6/6	-		
	Kind		-	-	-	-	-	6	-		
	Abundance		-	-	-	-	-	F	-		
Concretions	Size		-	-	-	-	-	F	-		
Concretions	Location		-	-	-	-	-	2	-		
	Shape		-	-	-	-	-	Р	-		
	Color in field		-	-	-	-	-	5YR5/8	-		
	Percent		-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Oil Sands	Size		-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Deposits	Shape		-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
	Consistence		-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Effervescence	(10%)		-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
				Site Des	cription						
----------------	----------------	-------------	--------------	-------------	--------------	--------------	---------	----------	---------	---------	
Site			M152-1		Slope Positi	ion			Mid		
Location	il Type		67 -111	.5961111	Slope Perce	nt			4		
Soil Type			EDB		Slope Aspec	et			W		
PGM(1,2)			GLFL-IC		High water 1	able			-		
Landform		Gen	tly undulati	ing	Max Rootin	ng Depth (cn	1)		145		
Land Use		t	Jndisturbed		Depth to Ca	rbonates (cr	n)		-		
		•	Sa	oil Profile	Descriptio	n					
Horizon			LFH	Ae	Bm1	Bm2	BC	C1	C2	C3	
Depth (cm)			9-0	0-6.5	6.5-27.5	27.5-42	42-121	121-150	150-170	170-210	
Dry color			-	10YR5/4	10YR6/4	10YR5/6	10YR5/6	10YR5/4	10YR5/6	10YR5/4	
Moist color			-	10YR3/4	7.5YR4/4	7.5YR4/4	10YR4/4	10YR4/4	10YR4/4	10YR4/4	
Moisture			-	М	М	W	W	W	-	-	
Texture			-	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	
Horizon	Distinctness		А	А	С	G	С	-	-	-	
Boundary	Form		W	W	W	W	W	-	-	-	
		Grade	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	р ·	Size	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	Primary	Туре	-	SGR	SGR	SGR	SGR	SGR	-	-	
a , ,		Consistence	-	1	1	1	1	1	-	-	
Structure		Grade	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	Secondary	Size	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
		Туре	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
		Consistence	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Coarse		%	-	-	-	<1%	<10%	<1%	-	-	
Fragments	Primary	Size	-	-	-	G	G	G-C	-	-	
(>2mm)		Shape	-	-	-	SR	SR-A	SR	-	-	
		Very fine	-	VF/V	VF/R	-	VF/V	VF	-	-	
D (Abundance /	Fine	-	VF/R	VF/H	VF/R	VF/V	-	-	-	
Rooting	Orientation	Medium	-	P/H	P/H	-	-	-	-	-	
		Coarse	-	P/-	-/R	-	-	-	-	-	
	Abundance	•	-	-	-	-	-	М	-	-	
M - ++1	Size		-	-	-	-	-	М	-	-	
Mottles	Contrast		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	Color in field		-	-	-	-	-	10YR 5/8	-	-	
	Kind		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	Abundance		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Commentions	Size		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Concretions	Location		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	Shape		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	Color in field		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	Percent		-	-	-	-	5	15	-	-	
Oil Sands	Size		-	-	-	-	F-M	С	-	-	
Deposits	Shape		-	-	-	-	SR	SR	-	-	
	Consistence		-	-	-	-	3	4	-	-	
Effervescence(10%)		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	

				Site D	escriptio	n					
Site			M152-2		Slope P	osition			De	pression	
Location		57.42852	78 -11	1.5969444	4 Slope P	ercent				5	
Soil Type			EEB		Slope A	spect				Е	
PGM(1,2)			GLFL-IC		High wa	ter table				-	
Landform		Gen	tly undula	ting	Max Ro	oting Dept	th(cm)			105	
Land Use		τ	Jndisturbe	d	Depth t	o Carbonat	es (cm)			-	
			S	Soil Profi	le Descri	ption					
Horizon			LFH	Ae	AB	Bm1	Bm2	BC	Ck1	Ck2	Ck3
Depth (cm)			15-0	0-10	10-24	24-51	51-70	70-100	100-145	145-175	175-210
Dry color			-	7.5YR5/4	10YR5/6	10YR5/6	10YR6/4	10YR5/4	10YR6/4	10YR5/2	10YR5/2
Moist color			-	5YR4/4	7.5YR4/4	7.5YR4/6	10YR4/4	10YR4/3	10YR4/4	10YR3/2	10YR3/2
Moisture			М	М	M-W	M-W	M-W	M-W	-	-	-
Texture			-	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S
Horizon	Distinctness		С	С	G	А	С	-	-	-	-
Boundary	Form		W	W	W	S	W	-	-	-	-
		Grade	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	D ·	Size	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Primary	Туре	-	SGR	SGR	SGR	SGR	SGR	-	-	-
<i>a.</i> .		Consistence	-	1	1	1	1	1	-	-	-
Structure		Grade	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	G 1	Size	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Secondary	Туре	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
		Consistence	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Coarse		%	-	-	-	5	-	-	-	-	-
Fragments	Primary	Size	-	-	-	G	-	-	-	-	-
(>2mm)		Shape	-	-	-	SR	-	-	-	-	-
		Very fine	-	P/R	P/R	VF/H	VF/V	VF/R	-	-	-
D (Abundance /	Fine	-	VF/H	VF/R	-	VF/H	VF/V	-	-	-
Rooting	Orientation	Medium	-	P/H	F/H	-	-	-	-	-	-
		Coarse	-	P/H	F/H	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Abundance	•	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Mattle	Size		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Mottles	Contrast		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Color in field		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Kind		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Abundance		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Comparations	Size		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Concretions	Location		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Shape		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Color in field		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Percent		-	-	-	-	20	10	-	-	-
Oil Sands	Size		-	-	-	-	C-VC	F-M	-	-	-
Deposits	Shape		-	-	-	-	SR	SR	-	-	-
	Consistence		-	-	-	-	4	3	-	-	-
Effervescence	(10%)		-	-	-	-	-	-	W	М	W

				Site Des	cription					
Site			M172	1	Slope Positi	ion			Crown	
Location		57.14769	44 -111	.5438333	Slope Perce	nt			3	
Soil Type			OEB	1	Slope Aspec	et			W	
PGM (1,2)		G	LFL, TILL	r	High water	table			Seasonal	
Landform		1	Undulating	-	Max Rootir	ng Depth (cn	1)		96	
Land Use		τ	Jndisturbed		Depth to Ca	rbonates (ci	n)		-	
		•	So	il Profile	Descriptio	n				
Horizon			LFH	Ahj1	Ahj2	Bm1	Bm2	BC	С	IIC
Depth (cm)			7-0	0-8	8-18	18-33	33-49	49-96	96-132	132+
Dry color			-	10YR5/2	10YR5/2	10YR6/3	10YR6/4	10YR6/4	10YR7/2	10YR4/4
Moist color			-	10YR3/2	10YR3/2	10YR5/3	10YR5/4	10YR5/4	10YR5/2	10YR3/2
Moisture			М	М	М	М	М	М	W	W
Texture			-	SL	SL	S	S	S	S	SL
Horizon	Distinctness		С	С	А	G	G	D	С	-
Boundary	Form		W	Ι	Ι	W	W	W	W	-
		Grade	-	W	М	-	-	-	-	-
	Drimary	Size	-	F	М	-	-	-	-	-
	1 Thild y	Туре	-	SBK	SBK	SGR	SGR	SGR	SGR	-
Structure		Consistence	-	2	2	-	-	-	-	-
Silucture		Grade	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Secondary	Size	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Secondary	Туре	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
		Consistence	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Coarse		%	-	-	-	<5%	<5%	30%	-	-
Fragments	Primary	Size	-	-	-	G	G	S-B	-	-
(>2mm)		Shape	-	-	-	SR	SR	SR/	-	-
		Very fine	P/R	F/O	F/O	F/O	VF/H	F/R	-	-
Rooting	Abundance /	Fine	P/H	F/O	F/O	VF/O	VF/O	VF/O	-	-
Rooting	Orientation	Medium	F/O	VF/O	F/O	-	-	VF/O	-	-
		Coarse	-	VF/H	VF/H	-	-	-	-	-
	Abundance		-	-	-	F	М	С	С	-
Mottles	Size		-	-	-	F	М	М	М	-
	Contrast		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Color in field		-	-	-	10YR 4/3	7.5YR 4/6	10YR 4/6	10YR 4/6	-
	Kind		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Abundance		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Concretions	Size		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Location		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Shape		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Color in field		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Percent		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Oil Sands	Size		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Deposits	Shape		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Consistence		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Effervescence(10%)		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

				Site Descri	ption				
Site			M175	Slop	be Position			Mid	
Location		57.4291	9 -111.	59782 Slop	be Percent			4	
Soil Type			EDB	Slop	be Aspect			SW	
PGM(1,2)			GLFL-IC	Hig	h water table			-	
Landform		Gen	tly undulatin	g Max	x Rooting De	oth (cm)		>110	
Land Use		τ	Indisturbed	Dep	oth to Carbona	ates (cm)		48	
		1	Soil	Profile De	scription				
Horizon			LFH	Ae	Bm1	BM2/Btj	BCk	Ck1	Ck2
Depth (cm)			13-0	0-10	10-25	25-48	48-90	90-110	110-200
Dry color			7.5YR5/4	10YR5/4	10YR5/4	10YR5/3	10YR5/3	10YR5/2	7.5YR5/4
Moist color			7.5YR3/4	7.5YR4/4	7.5YR4/6	10YR4/3	10YR4/3	10YR4/2	7.5YR3/4
Moisture			М	М	М	М	М	D	-
Texture			LS	LS	LS	S	S	S	LS
Horizon	Distinctness		С	G	G	С	G	-	-
Boundary	Form		W	W	W	Ι	W	-	-
		Grade	-	W	W	W	-	-	-
	D	Size	-	М	М	М	-	-	-
	Primary	Туре	-	SBK	SBK	SBK	SGR	SGR	-
St		Consistence	-	1	1	1	-	-	-
Structure		Grade	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	C	Size	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Secondary	Туре	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
		Consistence	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Coarse		%	-	-	30	10	50	60	-
Fragments	Primary	Size	-	-	G-S	G	G-C	G-C	-
(>2mm)		Shape	-	-	SA-SR	SA-SR	SA-SR	SA-SR	-
		Very fine	E/H	F/O	F/O	VF/H	F/R	F/R	-
Desting	Abundance /	Fine	P/O	F/O	VF/O	VF/H	-	-	-
Rooting	Orientation	Medium	F/H-O	VF/O	VF/O	VF/H	VF/H	-	-
		Coarse	VF/H	VF/H	-	-	-	-	-
	Abundance		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Mottles	Size		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Witties	Contrast		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Color in field		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Kind		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Abundance		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Concretions	Size		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
concretions	Location		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Shape		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Color in field		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Percent		-	-	10	5	-	-	-
Oil Sands	Size		-	-	М	VCO	-	-	-
Deposits	Shape		-	-	SR	SR	-	-	-
	Consistence		-	-	3	4	-	-	-
Effervescence	(10%)		-	-	-	-	W	W	М

				Site Des	cription					
Site	te ocation jil Type		M176	1	Slope Positi	ion		Sli	ght depressi	on
Location	tion Fype		6 -11	1.62553	Slope Perce	nt			5	
Soil Type			EEB		Slope Aspec	et			SE	
PGM(1,2)		G	LFL, GLLC	2	High water t	table			-	
Landform		1	Undulating		Max Rootir	ng Depth (cn	1)		80	
Land Use		ι	Jndisturbed		Depth to Ca	rbonates (ci	n)		60	
		•	So	il Profile	Descriptio	n				
Horizon			LFH	Ae	Bm1	Bm2	BC	IIC1	IICk2	IICk3
Depth (cm)			6-0	0-15	15-32	32-50	50-60	60-80	80-95	95-145
Dry color			10YR6/2	10YR6/4	10YR6/4	10YR6/4	10YR5/4	10YR5/3	10YR5/4	10YR6/2
Moist color			10YR4/2	10YR4/4	10YR4/4	10YR4/3	7.5YR4/4	7.5YR4/4	7.5YR4/4	10YR4/2
Moisture			М	М	М	М	М	М	М	-
Texture			S	S	S	S	SL	LS	LS	S
Horizon	Distinctness		А	С	G	G	А	С	-	-
Boundary	Form		W	W	W	W	Ι	Ι	-	-
		Grade	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	D ·	Size	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Primary	Туре	-	SGR	SGR	SGR	SGR	MA	MA	-
G		Consistence	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Structure		Grade	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
S	Secondary	Size	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
		Туре	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
		Consistence	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Coarse		%	-	-	-	-	-	50	70	-
Fragments	Primary	Size	-	-	-	-	-	G-B	G-C	-
(>2mm)		Shape	-	-	-	-	-	SR	SA	-
		Very fine	P/R	F/O	VF/O	VF/O	VF/O	VF/O	-	-
D (Abundance /	Fine	P/O	F/O	F/O	BF/H	-	F/H	-	-
Rooting	Orientation	Medium	F/O	P/O	VF/H	-	VF/H	VF/H	-	-
		Coarse	-	VF/O	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Abundance		-	-	-	-	F	-	-	-
M - ++1	Size		-	-	-	-	F	-	-	-
Mottles	Contrast		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Color in field		-	-	-	-	10YR 5/6	-	-	-
	Kind		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Abundance		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Commentions	Size		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Concretions	Location		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Shape		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Color in field		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Percent		-	-	-	-	-	5	10	-
Oil Sands	Size		-	-	-	-	-	S	М	-
Deposits	Shape		-	-	-	-	-	SR	SA	-
	Consistence		-	-	-	-	-	4	2	-
Effervescence(10%)		-	-	-	-	-	VW	W	М

				Site Descri	ption				
Site Description Site M177 Slope Position Mid Location 57.40708 -111.62531 Slope Percent 2									
Location		57.4070	8 -111.	62531 Slop	be Percent			2	
Soil Type			EDB	Slop	be Aspect			W	
PGM(1,2)		G	LFL, GLLC	Hig	h water table			-	
Landform		Gen	tly undulatin	g Max	x Rooting De	pth(cm)		>79	
Land Use		U	Jndisturbed	Dep	oth to Carbon	ates (cm)		79	
			Soil	Profile De	scription				
Horizon			LFH	Ae	Bm1	Bm2	BC	IIC	IIICk
Depth (cm)			5-0	0-15	15-30	30-52	52-68	68-79	79-150
Dry color			10YR7/2	10YR6/4	10YR6/4	10YR6/3	10YR5/4	10YR6/2	10YR7/2
Moist color			10YR5/2	10YR4/6	10YR4/4	10YR4/3	7.5YR4/6	7.5YR4/3	10YR5/2
Moisture			М	М	М	М	М	М	М
Texture			S	S	S	S	SCL	С	S
Horizon	Distinctness		А	G	G	G	А	А	-
Boundary	Form		W	W	W	W	W	W	-
		Grade	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	D	Size	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Primary	Туре	-	SGR	SGR	SGR	SGR	MA	MA
G (Consistence	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Structure		Grade	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	G 1	Size	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Secondary	Туре	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
		Consistence	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Coarse		%	-	-	-	-	-	50	-
Fragments	Primary	Size	-	-	-	-	-	G-C	-
(>2mm)		Shape	-	-	-	-	-	SR	-
		Very fine	P/R	P/O	F/O	VF/O	-	F/O	F/H
Deetine	Abundance /	Fine	P/O	F/O	F/O	F/O	VF/O	VF/O	F/H
Rooting	Orientation	Medium	VF/O	F/O	-	-	-	VF/H	VF/H
		Coarse	-	VF/O	VF/H	-	-	-	-
	Abundance	•	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Mattler	Size		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Mottles	Contrast		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Color in field		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Kind		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Abundance		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Companyions	Size		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Concretions	Location		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Shape		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Color in field		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Percent		-	-	-	<5%	-	-	-
Oil Sands	Size		-	-	-	F	-	-	-
Deposits	Shape		-	-	-	SR	-	-	-
	Consistence		-	-	-	1	-	-	-
Effervescence	(10%)		-	-	-	-	-	-	М

				Site D	escriptio	n					
Site			M178		Slope P	osition			Mid (br	oad ridge t	op)
Location		57.4064	1 -1	11.62176	Slope P	ercent				3	
Soil Type			EDB		Slope A	spect				NW	
PGM(1,2)			GLFL		High wa	ter table				-	
Landform		1	Undulating	3	Max Ro	oting Dep	th(cm)			>152	
Land Use		I	Jndisturbe	d	Depth t	o Carbonat	es (cm)			-	
			S	oil Profi	le Descri	ption					
Horizon			LF	Ae	Bm	BC	C1-1	C1-2*	C2-1	C2-2*	C3
Depth (cm)			2-0	0-7	7-36	36-71	71-110	-	110-152	-	152-204
Dry color			10YR7/2	10YR6/4	10YR6/3	10YR6/2	10YR5/4	10YR6/2	10YR5/4	10YR6/3	10YR7/2
Moist color			10YR5/2	10YR4/4	10YR5/3	10YR4/2	10YR4/4	10YR4/4	10YR4/4	10YR4/3	10YR5/2
Moisture			D	М	М	М	М	-	M-W	-	-
Texture			LS	LS	S	S	S	S	SL	S	LS
Horizon	Distinctness		А	С	G	С	G	-	-	-	-
Boundary	Form		W	W	W	W	W	-	-	-	-
		Grade	-	W	М	W	W	-	W	-	-
	Daiman	Size	-	F	М	М	М	-	М	-	-
	Primary	Туре	-	SBK	SBK	SBK	SBK	-	SBK	-	-
Ct		Consistence	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Structure		Grade	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Secondary	Size	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
		Туре	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
		Consistence	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Coarse		%	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Fragments	Primary	Size	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
(>2mm)		Shape	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
		Very fine	P/R	F/R	VF/H	VF/O	-	-	-	-	-
Desting	Abundance /	Fine	P/O	F/O	F/O	VF/O	-	-	-	-	-
Rooting	Orientation	Medium	F/H	VF/H	VF/H	VF/O	-	-	-	-	-
		Coarse	-	VF/H	VF/H	-	-	-	VF/V	-	-
	Abundance		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Mottles	Size		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Mottles	Contrast		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Color in field		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Kind		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Abundance		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Concretions	Size		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Concretions	Location		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Shape		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Color in field		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Percent		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Oil Sands	Size		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Deposits	Shape		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Consistence		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Effervescence	(10%)		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

* = fine texture bands

				Site Des	cription					
Site			M179	1	Slope Positi	ion			Toe	
Location	ion ype		4 -11	1.62176	Slope Perce	nt			0	
Soil Type			EDB		Slope Aspec	et			NW	
PGM(1,2)		G	LFL, GLLC	2	High water	table			Seasonal	
Landform		1	Undulating	-	Max Rootir	ng Depth (cn	1)		95	
Land Use		τ	Jndisturbed		Depth to Ca	rbonates (cr	n)		95	
			So	il Profile	Descriptio	n				
Horizon			LFH	Ae	Bm	BC	Cgj1	Cgj2	IIC	IIICk
Depth (cm)			10-0	0-13	13-32	32-52	52-71	71-89	89-95	95-140
Dry color			10YR7/2	10YR6/4	10YR6/3	10YR6/3	10YR6/3	10YR5/4	10YR4/4	10YR7/2
Moist color			10YR4/2	10YR4/4	10YR4/3	10YR4/3	10YR4/3	10YR3/4	10YR3/4	10YR4/2
Moisture			М	М	М	М	М	М	М	М
Texture			LS	LS	LS	LS	LS	SL	S	LS
Horizon	Distinctness		А	С	G	С	G	А	А	-
Boundary	Form		W	W	W	W	W	W	W	-
		Grade	-	М	М	М	М	-	-	-
	Drimary	Size	-	М	CO	М	М	-	-	-
	1 Tilliai y	Туре	-	ABK	SBK	ABK	ABK	MA	MA	MA
Structure		Consistence	-	2	2	2	2	-	-	-
Silucture		Grade	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Secondary	Size	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Secondary	Туре	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
		Consistence	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Coarse		%	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Fragments	Primary	Size	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
(>2mm)		Shape	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
		Very fine	P/R	F/R	F/O	VF/H	-	VF/H	-	-
Rooting	Abundance /	Fine	P/O	F/O	F/O	VF/O	-	VF/H	VF/H	-
Rooting	Orientation	Medium	F/O	VF/O	VF/O	VF/H	VF/H	VF/H	-	-
		Coarse	F/H	VF/O	-	VF/V	-	-	-	-
	Abundance		-	-	-	-	-	С	М	-
Mottles	Size		-	-	-	-	-	М	С	-
	Contrast		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Color in field		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Kind		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Abundance		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Concretions	Size		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Location		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Shape		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Color in field		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Percent		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Oil Sands	Size		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Deposits	Shape		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Consistence		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Effervescence(10%)		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	W

				Site D	escriptio	n					
Site			M180		Slope P	osition			S	houlder	
Location		57.5364	-5 -1	11.38319	Slope P	ercent				3	
Soil Type			EDB		Slope A	spect				S	
PGM(1,2)			EOLI		High wa	ter table				-	
Landform		Gen	tly undula	ting	Max Ro	oting Dept	th(cm)			55	
Land Use		ι	Jndisturbe	d	Depth t	o Carbonat	es (cm)			-	
			S	oil Profi	le Descri	ption					
Horizon			LF	Ae	Bm1	Bm2	BCfj1	BCfj2	BCfj3	BCfj4	С
Depth (cm)			4-0	0-6	6-55	55-73	73-91	91-122	122-139	139-174	174-200
Dry color			10YR6/2	10YR7/6	10YR7/4	10YR7/3	10YR7/3	10YR7/3	10YR5/4	10YR7/4	10YR6/2
Moist color			10YR4/2	10YR5/6	10YR5/4	10YR5/3	10YR5/3	10YR5/3	10YR5/3	10YR5/4	10YR4/2
Moisture			D	М	М	М	М	М	М	-	-
Texture			S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S
Horizon	Distinctness		А	С	G	G	G	G	-	-	-
Boundary	Form		W	W	W	W	W	W	-	-	-
		Grade	-	-	W	W	-	-	-	-	-
	Drimony	Size	-	-	F	F	-	-	-	-	-
	F Tillial y	Туре	-	SGR	SBK	SBK	SGR	SGR	SGR	-	-
Structure		Consistence	-	1	2	2	1	1	1	-	-
Silucture		Grade	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Secondary	Size	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
		Туре	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
		Consistence	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Coarse		%	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Fragments	Primary	Size	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
(>2mm)		Shape	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
		Very fine	-	A/V	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Rooting	Abundance /	Fine	-	F/O	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Rooting	Orientation	Medium	-	-	F/H	-	-	-	-	-	-
		Coarse	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Abundance		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Mottles	Size		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
motries	Contrast		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Color in field		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Kind		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Abundance		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Concretions	Size		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Location		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Shape		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Color in field		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Percent		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Oil Sands	Size		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Deposits	Shape		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Consistence		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Effervescence(10%)		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

				Site D	escriptio	n					
Site			M181		Slope P	osition			(Crown	
Location	57		9 -1	11.38303	Slope P	ercent				1	
Soil Type			EDB		Slope A	spect				SE	
PGM(1,2)			EOLI		High wa	ter table				-	
Landform		Gen	tly undula	ting	Max Ro	oting Dept	th(cm)			22	
Land Use		ι	Jndisturbe	d	Depth t	o Carbonat	es (cm)			-	
			S	oil Profi	le Descri	ption					
Horizon			LF	Ae	Bm1	Bm2	Bm3	BCfj1	BCfj2	BCfj3	BCfj4
Depth (cm)			2-0	0-5	5-22	22-56	56-93	93-115	115-149	149-175	175-201
Dry color			10YR5/2	10YR6/6	10YR7/6	10YR7/6	10YR7/4	10YR7/3	10YR7/4	10YR7/3	10YR5/2
Moist color			10YR3/2	10YR5/6	10YR5/6	10YR5/4	10YR5/4	10YR5/3	10YR4/4	10YR5/3	10YR3/2
Moisture			D	М	М	М	М	М	-	-	-
Texture			S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S
Horizon	Distinctness		А	С	G	G	G	-	-	-	-
Boundary	Form		W	W	W	W	W	-	-	-	-
		Grade	-	-	-	W	W	W	-	-	-
	Drimory	Size	-	-	-	F	М	F	-	-	-
	F Tillial y	Туре	-	SGR	SGR	SBK	SBK	SBK	-	-	-
Structure		Consistence	-	1	1	1	1	1	-	-	-
Silucture		Grade	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Secondary	Size	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Secondary	Туре	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
		Consistence	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Coarse		%	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Fragments	Primary	Size	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
(>2mm)		Shape	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
		Very fine	-	F/V	V/O	-	-	-	-	-	-
Rooting	Abundance /	Fine	-	V/H	F/O	-	-	-	-	-	-
Rooting	Orientation	Medium	-	-	V/H	-	-	-	-	-	-
		Coarse	-	-	V/H	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Abundance		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Mottles	Size		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Contrast		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Color in field		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Kind		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Abundance		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Concretions	Size		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
controllo	Location		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Shape		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Color in field		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Percent		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Oil Sands	Size		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Deposits	Shape		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Consistence		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Effervescence(10%)		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

				Site Des	cription					
Site			M182		Slope Posit:	ion			Mid	
Location		57.4258	9 -11	1.59673	Slope Perce	ent			5	
Soil Type			EDB		Slope Aspe	ct			NW	
PGM(1,2)			GLFL-IC	-	High water	table			-	
Landform		Gen	tly undulati	ng	Max Rootir	ng Depth (cn	n)		>101	
Land Use		U	Jndisturbed	-	Depth to Ca	arbonates (ci	n)		137	
		•	So	il Profile	Descriptio	on				
Horizon			LFH	Ae	Bm1	Bm2	BC	C1	C2	Ck
Depth (cm)			12-0	0-14	14-26	26-44	44-73	73-101	101-137	137-200
Dry color			10YR5/4	7.5YR6/4	10YR5/8	10YR5/6	10YR6/6	10YR4/2	10YR4/2	10YR5/4
Moist color			7.5YR3/4	7.5YR3/4	10YR4/6	10YR4/4	10YR4/6	10YR3/2	10YR3/2	7.5YR3/4
Moisture			М	М	М	М	М	М	-	-
Texture			S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S
Horizon	Distinctness		А	С	С	G	G	-	-	-
Boundary	Form		W	W	Ι	W	W	-	-	-
		Grade	-	-	W	-	-	-	-	-
	р ·	Size	-	-	М	-	-	-	-	-
	Primary	Туре	-	SGR	SBK	SGR	SGR	SGR	-	-
G (Consistence	-	1	1	1	1	1	-	-
Structure		Grade	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
:	Secondary	Size	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
		Туре	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
		Consistence	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Coarse		%	-	-	5	-	5	5	-	-
Fragments	Primary	Size	-	-	G-C	-	G-C	G-C	-	-
(>2mm)		Shape	-	-	SA	-	SR	SR	-	-
		Very fine	P/R	F/O	F/R	F/O	F/H	VF/H	-	-
D (Abundance /	Fine	P/H	F/O	VF/H	VF/H	VF/H	VF/H	-	-
Rooting	Orientation	Medium	F/O	VF/H	-	VF/H	VF/H	-	-	-
		Coarse	F/H	VF/H	-	-	-	VF/H	-	-
	Abundance	•	-	-	-	С	F	F	-	-
M (1	Size		-	-	-	М	М	F	-	-
Mottles	Contrast		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Color in field		-	-	-	7.5YR 5/8	7.5YR 5/8	5YR 5/6	-	-
	Kind		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Abundance		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Size		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Concretions	Location		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Shape		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Color in field		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Percent		-	-	-	5	2.5	-	-	-
Oil Sands	Size		-	-	-	М	F	-	-	-
Deposits	Shape		-	-	-	SR	SR	-	-	-
	Consistence		-	-	-	3	2	-	-	-
Effervescence(10%)		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	W

			Site	Description			
Site			M183	Slope Position	1	Rid	getop
Location	il Type		5 -111.6248	7 Slope Percent			1
Soil Type			ODB	Slope Aspect			W
PGM(1,2)		G	LFL, TILL	High water tal	ole		-
Landform		τ	Undulating	Max Rooting	Depth (cm)	>	-56
Land Use		τ	Indisturbed	Depth to Carb	onates (cm)		-
			Soil Pro	file Description			
Horizon			LFH	Aej	Bm	IIC1	IIC2
Depth (cm)			5-0	0-10	10-20	20-56	56+
Dry color			7.5YR6/3	7.5YR6/4	10YR4/6	10YR5/6	7.5YR6/3
Moist color			7.5YR4/3	7.5YR4/4	7.5YR3/4	10YR3/6	7.5YR4/3
Moisture			М	М	М	М	М
Texture			LS	LS	L	L	LS
Horizon	Distinctness		С	G	С	С	-
Boundary	Form		W	W	Ι	Ι	-
		Grade	-	W	W	-	-
	Duimon	Size	-	F	М	-	-
	Primary	Туре	-	SBK	SBK	MA	MA
Stanotina		Consistence	-	1	2	-	-
Structure		Grade	-	-	-	-	-
	C	Size	-	-	-	-	-
	Secondary	Туре	-	-	-	-	-
		Consistence	-	-	-	-	-
Coarse		%	-	-	-	75	-
Fragments	Primary	Size	-	-	-	C-B	-
(>2mm)		Shape	-	-	-	SA/SR	-
		Very fine	P/R	P/O	F/R	P/O	F/H
Posting	Abundance /	Fine	P/O	F/O	F/O	F/H	F/H
Rooting	Orientation	Medium	F/O	F/O	VF/H	VF/H	-
		Coarse	-	VF/O	-	-	-
	Abundance		-	-	-	-	-
Mottles	Size		-	-	-	-	-
Wietres	Contrast		-	-	-	-	-
	Color in field		-	-	-	-	-
	Kind		-	-	-	-	-
	Abundance		-	-	-	-	-
Concretions	Size		-	-	-	-	-
concretions	Location		-	-	-	-	-
	Shape		-	-	-	-	-
	Color in field		-	-	-	-	-
	Percent		-	-	-	-	-
Oil Sands	Size		-	-	-	-	-
Deposits	Shape		-	-	-	-	-
	Consistence		-	-	-	-	-
Effervescence	(10%)		-	-	-	-	-

Appendix 3. Supplementary soil data

		Depth		Particle size description				Soil chemical info		
		Upper	Lower	Sand	C:1+	Class	Texture	aII		EC
<i>a</i> :	** .	bound	bound	Sand	Siit	Clay	class	pHwater	pH _{CaCl2}	EU
Site	Horizon	c	m		%		-	-	-	dS m ⁻¹
M5/-1	LF	2	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
M57-1	Ae	0	7	82	17	l	LS	6.1	5.6	2.11
M57-1	AB	7	20	92	7	l	S	5.4	4.8	0.40
M57-1	Bml	20	49	9/	1	1	S	5.9	5.1	0.24
M57-1	Bm2	49	/5	98	1	l	S	5.5	4.8	0.23
M57-1	BCI	/5	83	98	2	0	S	5.6	5.0	0.19
M57-1	BC2	83	95 125	9/	2	1	S	5.5	4.8	0.21
M5/-1	CI	95	135	99	0	1	S	5.9	5.6	0.61
M57-1	C2	135	200	98	1	I	S	6.5	5.6	0.16
M57-2	LFH	5	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
M57-2	Ae	0	10.5	83	14	2	LS	5.4	4.8	2.13
M57-2	Bm	10.5	49	96	4	0	S	5.7	4.9	0.27
M57-2	BC	49	75	98	2	0	S	5.4	4.5	0.14
M57-2	C1	75	95	98	0	1	S	5.5	4.6	0.11
M57-2	C2	95	114	98	1	1	S	6.3	5.4	0.15
M57-2	C3	114	200	98	1	1	S	6.6	5.7	0.13
M118-1	LFH	2	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
M118-1	Ae	0	3	93	6	1	S	5.3	4.7	0.73
M118-1	Bml	3	25	94	6	0	S	5.2	4.5	0.42
M118-1	Bm2	25	70	97	2	1	S	5.5	4.7	0.74
M118-1	BCtj1	/0	108	97	1	I	S	6.0	4.7	0.18
M118-1	BCfj2	108	143	97	1	2	S	6.5	5.1	0.10
M118-1	BCfj3	143	171	96	2	2	S	6.6	5.3	0.08
M118-1	BCtj4	171	185	96	1	2	S	6.4	4.9	0.12
M118-1	BCfj5	185	200	97	1	2	S	6.3	4.8	0.12
M118-2	LF	3.5	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
M118-2	Ae	0	6	91	7	1	S	5.7	5.0	1.19
M118-2	Bml	6	40	95	3	2	S	5.9	5.0	0.27
M118-2	Bm2	40	60	97	1	2	S	6.3	5.2	0.18
M118-2	BC	60	80	97	0	4	S	6.5	5.5	0.18
M118-2	C1	80	128	96	0	4	S	6.1	4.9	0.48
M118-2	C2	128	215	96	2	2	S	6.7	5.2	0.10
M152-1	LFH	9	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
M152-1	Ae	0	6.5	93	6	1	S	5.8	5.1	0.85
M152-1	Bm1	6.5	27.5	92	4	4	S	5.5	4.5	0.30
M152-1	Bm2	27.5	42	95	1	4	S	6.1	5.1	0.25
M152-1	BC	42	121	95	3	1	S	6.6	5.5	0.17
M152-1	C1	121	150	94	5	1	S	8.3	7.5	1.19
M152-1	C2	150	170	96	2	1	S	7.8	6.7	0.48
M152-1	C3	170	210	95	4	1	S	8.1	7.2	0.79

		Depth		Particle size description				Soil chemical info		
		Upper	Lower	G 1	0.1	CI	Texture			FG
		bound	bound	Sand	Silt	Clay	Class	pHwater	pH _{CaCl2}	EC
Site	Horizon	c	m		%		-	-	-	dS m ⁻¹
M152-2	LFH	15	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
M152-2	Ae	0	10	90	6	4	S	5.8	5.1	0.53
M152-2	AB	10	24	92	5	4	S	5.6	4.7	0.31
M152-2	Bm1	24	51	95	1	4	S	6.4	5.5	0.26
M152-2	Bm2	51	70	93	4	2	S	6.5	5.5	0.23
M152-2	BC	70	100	94	5	1	S	7.5	6.9	1.24
M152-2	Ck1	100	145	95	4	1	S	8.6	7.8	1.01
M152-2	Ck2	145	175	93	6	1	S	8.7	7.9	1.01
M152-2	Ck3	175	210	92	6	2	S	8.5	7.8	1.22
M172	LFH	7	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
M172	Ahj1	0	8	72	22	6	SL	4.7	4.0	1.11
M172	Ahj2	8	18	67	28	5	SL	5.0	4.4	1.07
M172	Bm1	18	33	95	2	2	S	6.3	5.7	1.27
M172	Bm2	33	49	93	5	2	S	6.7	5.8	0.33
M172	BC	49	96	95	2	2	S	6.8	5.9	0.37
M172	С	96	132	91	8	1	S	6.9	6.1	0.50
M172	IIC	132	+	61	30	9	SL	6.8	6.2	1.34
M175	LFH	13	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
M175	Ae	0	10	86	10	4	LS	5.8	4.9	0.36
M175	Bm1	10	25	87	7	6	LS	6.3	5.3	0.40
M175	Bm2/Btj	25	48	86	7	7	LS	6.7	5.7	0.46
M175	BCk	48	90	93	6	1	S	8.3	7.5	1.36
M175	Ck1	90	110	90	8	2	S	8.4	7.8	1.80
M175	Ck2	110	200	90	7	2	S	8.6	7.9	1.72
M176	LFH	6	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
M176	Ae	0	15	92	7	1	S	5.9	4.8	0.50
M176	Bm1	15	32	93	0	7	S	6.6	5.7	0.49
M176	Bm2	32	50	96	2	1	S	6.9	6.1	0.40
M176	BC	50	60	95	4	1	S	6.9	6.0	0.44
M176	IIC1	60	80	77	8	15	SL	7.8	7.4	2.51
M176	IICk2	80	95	87	5	7	LS	8.5	7.8	1.87
M176	IICk3	95	145	82	12	6	LS	8.5	7.8	1.89
M177	LFH	5	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
M177	Ae	0	15	91	6	2	S	5.2	4.4	0.55
M177	Bm1	15	30	91	6	4	S	6.2	5.2	0.39
M177	Bm2	30	52	95	2	2	S	6.6	5.6	0.38
M177	BC	52	68	96	2	2	S	6.9	6.0	0.37
M177	IIC	68	79	66	12	21	SCL	7.6	6.9	1.82
M177	IIICk	79	99	30	30	40	С	8.1	7.6	2.46

		De	Depth		Particle size description				Soil chemical info	
		Upper bound	Lower bound	Sand	Silt	Clay	Texture class	pH _{water}	pH _{CaCl2}	EC
Site	Horizon	с	m		%		-	_	-	dS m ⁻¹
M178	LFH	2	0	-	-	-	-	-		-
M178	Ae	0	7	86	12	2	LS	5.6	4.7	0.41
M178	Bm	7	36	85	10	5	LS	5.4	4.3	0.37
M178	BC	36	71	88	9	2	S	5.6	4.7	0.34
M178	C1-1	71	110	93	5	2	S	6.4	5.3	0.17
M178	C1-2*	-	-	89	6	5	S	-	-	-
M178	C2-1	110	152	92	6	2	S	6.4	5.5	0.17
M178	C2-2*	-	-	82	7	11	SL	-	-	-
M178	C3	152	204	92	6	2	S	6.4	5.3	0.44
M179	LFH	10	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
M179	Ae	0	13	76	20	4	LS	4.9	4.1	1.22
M179	Bm	13	32	85	12	4	LS	5.4	4.5	0.27
M179	BC	32	52	86	11	4	LS	6.0	4.9	0.30
M179	Cgj1	52	71	86	11	4	LS	5.2	4.2	0.43
M179	Cgj2	71	89	85	8	6	LS	4.7	4.1	1.06
M179	IIC	89	95	74	10	16	SL	6.1	5.3	0.50
M179	IIICk	95	140	88	10	3	S	8.2	7.6	1.63
M180	LF	4	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
M180	Ae	0	6	95	4	1	S	5.2	4.4	0.39
M180	Bm1	6	55	97	2	1	S	6.0	4.9	0.17
M180	Bm2	55	73	98	1	1	S	6.3	5.1	0.10
M180	BCfj1	73	91	98	0	3	S	6.2	4.9	0.09
M180	BCfj2	91	122	98	1	1	S	5.4	5.0	0.09
M180	BCfj3	122	139	98	1	1	S	6.0	5.1	0.08
M180	BCfj4	139	174	98	0	3	S	6.2	5.2	0.13
M180	С	174	200	97	0	4	S	6.2	5.2	0.15
M181	LF	2	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
M181	Ae	0	5	93	5	1	S	5.4	4.4	0.51
M181	Bm1	5	22	95	2	2	S	5.9	5.0	0.23
M181	Bm2	22	56	98	0	3	S	6.3	5.2	0.12
M181	Bm3	56	93	98	0	3	S	6.7	5.6	0.08
M181	BCfj1	93	115	97	0	2	S	6.5	5.6	0.09
M181	BCfj2	115	149	98	0	2	S	6.5	5.7	0.15
M181	BCfj3	149	175	96	1	3	S	6.3	5.4	0.17
M181	BCfj4	175	201	95	3	2	S	6.8	5.7	0.28

* Fine texture bands sample

		Depth			Particle size description				Soil chemical info		
		Upper	Lower	Sand	C:1+	Class	Texture	all		EC	
		bound	bound	Sand	Siit	Clay	class	pnwater	pn _{CaCl2}	EC	
Site	Horizon	C	m		%		-	-	-	dS m ⁻¹	
M182	LFH	12	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
M182	Ae	0	14	90	8	1	S	5.6	4.6	0.33	
M182	Bm1	14	26	90	7	3	S	5.8	4.7	0.27	
M182	Bm2	26	44	96	1	2	S	6.3	5.2	0.16	
M182	BC	44	73	95	2	2	S	5.9	4.9	0.20	
M182	C1	73	101	97	1	3	S	6.4	5.6	0.14	
M182	C2	101	137	94	4	3	S	8.1	7.5	1.16	
M182	Ck	137	200	94	5	1	S	8.4	7.7	1.27	
M183	LFH	5	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
M183	Aej	0	10	74	23	2	LS	5.6	4.7	0.76	
M183	Bm	10	20	78	20	2	LS	5.9	5.2	0.66	
M183	IIC1	20	56	48	35	17	L	-	-	-	
M183	IIC2	56	+	35	47	17	L	-	-	-	

Appendix 4. Carbon and nitrogen isotopic data

		De	pth				
		Upper	Lower		N	\$12 C	2153 J A DD
		bound	bound	C _{total}	N _{total}	δ ¹³ C vPDB	δ^{13} N VAIR
Site	Horizon	с	m	%	%	‰	‰
M57-1	LFH	2	0	10.73	0.40	-27.98	-0.95
M57-1	Bm1	20	49	0.06	0.00	-24.07	3.99
M57-1	Bm2	49	75	0.07	0.00	-24.51	3.36
M57-2	LFH	5	0	7.70	0.31	-28.16	0.50
M57-2	Bm	10.5	49	0.09	0.01	-24.90	4.16
M57-2	BC	49	75	0.04	0.00	-24.29	0.93
M118-1	LFH	2	0	7.94	0.30	-27.81	-0.34
M118-1	Bm1	3	25	0.41	0.01	-26.36	4.65
M118-1	Bm2	25	70	0.03	0.00	-25.05	2.17
M118-2	LFH	3.5	0	6.73	0.24	-27.66	0.41
M118-2	Bm1	6	40	0.06	0.01	-24.70	3.24
M118-2	Bm2	40	60	0.03	0.00	-22.79	0.41
M152-1	LFH	9	0	12.29	0.52	-27.09	1.50
M152-1	Bm1	6.5	27.5	0.07	0.00	-25.48	1.48
M152-1	Bm2	27.5	42	0.21	0.00	-28.37	1.71
M152-2	LFH	15	0	9.14	0.39	-27.82	3.49
M152-2	Bm1	24	51	0.10	0.01	-25.43	3.38
M152-2	Bm2	51	70	0.99	0.02	-29.62	3.20
M172	LFH	7	0	24.38	1.33	-27.49	1.50
M172	Bm1	18	33	0.11	0.01	-26.11	4.38
M172	Bm2	33	49	0.13	0.01	-26.67	5.92
M175	LFH	13	0	15.83	0.76	-27.36	2.44
M175	Bm1	10	25	0.31	0.02	-27.02	4.59
M175	Bm2/Btj	25	48	0.22	0.02	-25.42	5.18

		De	pth				
		Upper	Lower				
		bound	bound	Ctotal	N _{total}	$\delta^{13}C vPDB$	$\delta^{15}N vAIR$
Site	Horizon	с	m	%	%	%0	‰
M176	LFH	6	0	9.94	0.48	-28.26	2.27
M176	Bm1	15	32	0.18	0.02	-26.43	4.59
M176	Bm2	32	50	0.13	0.01	-26.68	5.18
M177	LFH	5	0	12.01	0.61	-27.89	3.35
M177	Bm1	15	30	0.14	0.01	-26.44	4.37
M177	Bm2	30	52	0.13	0.01	-27.24	2.93
M178	LFH	2	0	24.00	0.91	-27.90	1.52
M178	Bm	7	36	0.29	0.02	-26.63	4.33
M178	BC	36	71	0.23	0.01	-27.65	2.06
M179	LFH	10	0	26.38	1.14	-27.52	2.10
M179	Bm	13	32	0.27	0.02	-27.14	4.75
M179	BC	32	52	0.31	0.02	-27.52	4.51
M180	LF	4	0	9.56	0.35	-27.52	-0.57
M180	Bm1	6	55	0.08	0.01	-25.48	2.27
M180	Bm2	55	73	0.06	0.01	-25.76	1.63
M181	LF	2	0	13.99	0.55	-27.54	-0.17
M181	Bm1	5	22	0.24	0.02	-25.62	4.40
M181	Bm2	22	56	0.06	0.01	-25.33	1.17
M182	LFH	12	0	13.04	0.61	-27.10	3.79
M182	Bm1	14	26	0.24	0.02	-26.47	3.72
M182	Bm2	26	44	0.10	0.01	-26.18	1.49
M183	LFH	5	0	18.25	1.05	-27.92	1.15
M183	Aej	0	10	0.76	0.04	-27.45	4.47
M183	Bm	10	20	0.19	0.02	-26.39	4.35

	Sp	Biomass	
Site	Common name	Latin name	kg 100m ⁻²
M57-1	Common Bearberry	Arcostaphylos uva-ursi	42.65
M57-1	Blueberry	Vaccinium myrtilloides	0.87
M57-1	Bog cranberry	Vaccinium vitis-idaea	0.31
M57-1	Canadian Buffaloberry	Shepherdia canadensis	3.85
M57-1	Saskatoon	Amelanchier alnifolia	0.99
M57-2	Common Bearberry	Arcostaphylos uva-ursi	35.31
M57-2	Blueberry	Vaccinium myrtilloides	1.76
M57-2	Bog cranberry	Vaccinium vitis-idaea	2.01
M57-2	Green alder	Alnus crispa	0.71
M57-2	Saskatoon	Amelanchier alnifolia	0.47
M118-1	Common Bearberry	Arcostaphylos uva-ursi	2.81
M118-2	Common Bearberry	Arcostaphylos uva-ursi	1.24
M152-1	Common Bearberry	Arcostaphylos uva-ursi	7.26
M152-1	Blueberry	Vaccinium myrtilloides	0.88
M152-1	Prickly rose	Rosa acicularis	0.47
M152-1	Saskatoon	Amelanchier alnifolia	1.47
M152-2	Blueberry	Vaccinium myrtilloides	1.47
M152-2	Bog cranberry	Vaccinium vitis-idaea	1.13
M152-2	Canadian Buffaloberry	Shepherdia canadensis	0.71
M152-2	Pin Cherry	Prunus pensylvanica	0.35
M152-2	Prickly rose	Rosa acicularis	0.39
M152-2	Saskatoon	Amelanchier alnifolia	2.41
M172	Blueberry	Vaccinium myrtilloides	0.82
M172	Canadian Buffaloberry	Shepherdia canadensis	1.85
M172	Low bush cranberry	Viburnum edule	0.97
M172	Prickly rose	Rosa acicularis	0.96
M172	Saskatoon	Amelanchier alnifolia	14.99
M175	Common Bearberry	Arcostaphylos uva-ursi	0.28
M175	Blueberry	Vaccinium myrtilloides	3.53
M175	Bog cranberry	Vaccinium vitis-idaea	0.20
M175	Canadian Buffaloberry	Shepherdia canadensis	14.03
M175	Pin Cherry	Prunus pensylvanica	2.08
M175	Prickly rose	Rosa acicularis	5.51
M175	Saskatoon	Amelanchier alnifolia	17 11

Appendix 5 Shrub biomass by species

	Sp	Biomass	
Site	Common name	Latin name	kg 100m ⁻²
M176	Blueberry	Vaccinium myrtilloides	4.13
M176	Canadian Buffaloberry	Shepherdia canadensis	11.12
M176	Prickly rose	Rosa acicularis	1.55
M176	Saskatoon	Amelanchier alnifolia	8.15
M177	Blueberry	Vaccinium myrtilloides	12.40
M177	Canadian Buffaloberry	Shepherdia canadensis	2.57
M177	Prickly rose	Rosa acicularis	0.53
M177	Saskatoon	Amelanchier alnifolia	2.65
M178	Blueberry	Vaccinium myrtilloides	0.30
M178	Pin Cherry	Prunus pensylvanica	0.01
M178	Prickly rose	Rosa acicularis	0.33
M178	Saskatoon	Amelanchier alnifolia	0.09
M179	Blueberry	Vaccinium myrtilloides	3.30
M179	Green alder	Alnus crispa	28.92
M179	Common Labrador Tea	Ledum groenlandicum	0.10
M179	Prickly rose	Rosa acicularis	0.23
M179	Saskatoon	Amelanchier alnifolia	0.14
M180	Common Bearberry	Arcostaphylos uva-ursi	0.85
M181	Common Bearberry	Arcostaphylos uva-ursi	4.09
M182	Beaked Willow	Salix bebbiana	0.02
M182	Blueberry	Vaccinium myrtilloides	6.21
M182	Canadian Buffaloberry	Shepherdia canadensis	0.52
M182	Pin Cherry	Prunus pensylvanica	6.69
M182	Prickly rose	Rosa acicularis	2.65
M182	Saskatoon	Amelanchier alnifolia	12.31
M183	Canadian Buffaloberry	Shepherdia canadensis	2.88
M183	Low bush cranberry	Viburnum edule	0.63
M183	Prickly rose	Rosa acicularis	11.01
M183	Saskatoon	Amelanchier alnifolia	4.55